
Governance and  
Management Items Description Assessment

11 Business Continuity Plan
Plan setting out the actions that will be undertaken 
to ensure that key services continue to operate in the 
event of a disaster.

Existing document is currently being reviewed.
Date of operation: 4 December 2014

12 Disaster Recovery Plan
Plan setting out the actions that will be undertaken to 
recover and restore business capability in the event of 
a disaster.

Existing document is currently being reviewed.
Date of operation: 4 December 2014

13 Risk Management 
Framework

Framework outlining council’s approach to managing 
risks to the council’s operations

Risk Management Policy included in Council Policy Manual.
Date of operation of current strategy: 20 February 2018

14 Audit & Risk Committee

Advisory committee of council under section 139 
of the Local Government Act,1989 whose role is to 
oversee the integrity of a council’s financial reporting, 
processes to manage risks to the council’s operations 
and for compliance with applicable legal, ethical, and 
regulatory requirements.

Established in accordance with Section 139 of the Local Government Act, 1989.    
The Audit & Risk Committee has been in operation since February 1996 (based 
on available evidence)
Date of establishment: February 1996

15 Internal Audit

Independent accounting professionals engaged by 
the council to provide analyses and recommendations 
aimed at improving council’s governance, risk and 
management controls.

Date of engagement of current provider: 29 June 2017

16 Performance Reporting 
Framework

A set of indicators measuring financial and non-
financial performance, including the performance 
indicators referred to in section 131 of Local 
Government Act,1989.

Date of operation of current framework: 1 July 2017
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Governance and  
Management Items Description Assessment

17 Council Plan Reporting

Report reviewing the performance of the council 
against the council plan, including the results in 
relation to the strategic indicators, for the first six 
months of the financial year.

Quarterly reporting of Council Plan Highlights.
Date reports presented: 1 August 2017, 17 October 2017, 6 February 2018, 17 April 
2018

18 Financial Reporting

Quarterly statements to council under section 138 
Local Government Act,1989 comparing budgeted 
revenue and expenditure with actual revenue and 
expenditure.

Statements presented to the Council in accordance with Section 138(1) of the 
Local Government Act, 1989.
Date statements presented: 1 August 2017, 17 October 2017, 6 February 2018,  
17 April 2018

19 Risk Reporting
Six-monthly reports of strategic risks to council’s 
operations, their likelihood and consequences of 
occurring and risk minimisation strategies.

Date reports presented: 1 August 2017, 17 October 2017, 6 February 2018.
Operational and strategic risks, and controls are currently being reviewed.

20 Performance Reporting

Six-monthly reports of indicators measuring the results 
against financial and non-financial performance, 
including performance indicators referred to in section 
131 of the Local Government Act,1989

Quarterly reports.
Date of reports: 1 August 2017, 17 October 2017, 6 February 2018, 17 April 2018

21 Annual Report

Annual report under sections 131, 132 and 133 of 
the Local Government Act,1989 to the community 
containing a report of operations and audited financial 
and performance statements.

Considered at a meeting of Council in accordance with Section 134 of the Local 
Government Act, 1989.     
Date statements presented: 17 October 2017.
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Governance and  
Management Items Description Assessment

22 Councillor Code of 
Conduct

Code under section 76C of the Local Government 
Act,1989 setting out the conduct principles and 
the dispute resolution processes to be followed by 
councillors.

Reviewed in accordance with Section 76C of the Local Government Act, 1989.
Date reviewed: 21 November 2017

23 Delegations
A document setting out the powers, duties and 
functions of council and the Chief Executive Officer 
that have been delegated to members of staff.

Reviewed in accordance with Section 98(6) of the Local Government Act, 1989.
Date reviewed: 4 May 2018

24 Meeting Procedures A local law governing the conduct of meetings of 
council and special committees.

Local law No 1, Meeting procedures made in accordance with Section 91(1) of 
the Local Government Act, 1989.
Date local law made: 6 November 2014

I certify that this information presents fairly the status of Council’s governance and management arrangements.

David Morcom
Chief Executive Officer

14 September 2018

Cr Carolyn Crossley 
Mayor

14 September 2018
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6.4
Statutory Information
The following information is provided in accordance with legislative and other requirements of Council.

In accordance with regulation 12 of the Local Government (General) Regulations 2015 the following are 
prescribed documents that are available for inspection or which can be obtained for the purposes of 
Section 222 of the Local Government Act, 1989 (the Act) at 18 Desailly Street, Sale.

6.4.1  Documents Available for Public Inspection

•  A document containing details of overseas or interstate travel (other than interstate 
travel by land for less than three days) undertaken in an official capacity by councillor 
or any member of council staff in the previous 12 months, including: the name of the 
Councillor or member of Council staff; and the dates on which the travel began and 
ended; and the destination of the travel; and the purpose of the travel; and the total cost 
to the Council of the travel, including accommodation costs.

• The agendas for, and minutes of ordinary and special meetings held in the previous 
12 months which are kept under section 93 of the Act, other than those agendas and 
minutes relating to a part of a meeting which was closed to members of the public under 
section 89 of the Act and are confidential information within the meaning of section 
77(2) of the Act.

• The minutes of meetings of special committees established under section 86 of the Act 
and held in the previous 12 months, other than those minutes relating to a part of a 
meeting which was closed to members of the public under section 89 of the Act and are 
confidential information within the meaning of section 77(2) of the Act.
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• A document containing details of all leases involving 
land which were entered into by the council as lessor, 
including the lessee and the terms and the value of the 
lease.

• A register maintained under section 224(1A) of the Act of 
authorised officers appointed under that section.

• A list of donations and grants made by the council in the 
previous 12 months, including the names of persons 
who, or bodies which, have received a donation or grant 
and the amount of each donation or grant.

• A register of delegations kept under sections 87(1) 
and 98(4) of the Act, including the date on which the 
last review took place under sections 86(6) and 98(6), 
respectively, of the Act.

In addition, there is other information that Council is 
obliged to have available for inspection. This includes:
• Local Law No 1 to 5
• Procurement Policy
• Record of Assembly of Councillors
• Register of Interests
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The Best Value Principles contained in the Victorian Local 
Government Act 1989 place a duty on councils to ensure that 
their services:

• Offer the best possible quality and value for money 
• Are responsive to community needs 
• Are accessible to the people they are intended for
• Show continuous improvement
• Are subjected to regular community consultation
• Council reports regularly to its community on how the 

council’s services measure up against the best value 
principles.

We also recognise it as fundamental to improving community 
outcomes and committed to pursuing continuous 
improvement as a core part of how we practice our business 
daily and in our strategic and operational planning. 

6.4.2  Best Value Principles and Continuous Improvement
The corporate planning cycle puts into practice the Best Values 
principles through:

• Identifying the community needs in terms of Council services 
and creating strategic objectives to identify the services to 
be offered and their intended outcomes, as voiced in our 
Strategic Vision Wellington 2030

• Identifying the best possible quality and value for money 
service delivery through linking the community vision- 
Wellington 2030 with the Council Plan 2017-21 and business 
planning, and measuring service performance by the means 
of Corporate Performance Indicators (CPIs)

• Ensuring services are accessible to the people for which they 
are intended by service planning and explicitly seeking users’ 
experience of the service through forums such as Community 
Reference Groups, surveys 

• Monitoring and refining the services to ensure there is 
continuous improvement on quality and value, currently 
through the customer satisfaction survey, service reviews, 
process mapping in Promapp and business plan reporting in 
Pulse-Corporate Planning and Reporting system 

• Reviewing the service following regular community 
consultation as part of ongoing strategic planning

• Council reporting regularly to its community on the results of 
consultation and how the council’s services have measured 
up against the best value principles.
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As of June 2018, the Local Government Bill 2018, stipulates that Councils must adopt and 
maintain a Community Engagement Policy (Part 3 section 54); and incorporate community 
engagement principles (part 3 section 55). 

Wellington Shire Council adopted a Community Engagement Policy on 16 August 2017 to 
support Council’s Community Engagement Strategy 2017-2020.

During 2017-18, the following has been undertaken within Wellington Shire Council to 
improve community engagement practice;

• Thirty two Council staff in supervisory roles have been trained in Leadership for 
Community Engagement, to ensure consistent practice in community engagement 
across the organisation.  Over the next twelve months similar training will be provided to 
council officers.  

• An advisory group to staff for Community Engagement was established – WENDI 
(Wellington Engagement Network – Direction and Innovation).  WENDI is made up of staff 
experienced and with an interest in improving community engagement practice who are 
willing to provide support to colleagues. 

• Nineteen Council projects have utilised Community Engagement plans to seek 
community feedback and participation.   

• The standard templates for reports to Council and Councillor workshops include 
referencing whether a community engagement plan has been developed and 
implemented.

In the 2018 Community Satisfaction Survey, Wellington Shire Council performed well 
above the large rural Councils and state-wide averages for community consultation and 
engagement.
During the year, Wellington Shire Council has been working towards meeting the 
recommendations from the Victorian Auditor General’s Report (VAGO) ‘Public Participation 
and Community Engagement Local Government Sector’ (released May 2017), which also 
align with above mentioned legislation changes.  

6.4.3  Community Engagement

Recommendation (That all Councils): 
Assess their public participation policies and 
associated resources against the International 
Association for Public Participation (IAP2) model, 
update them as necessary, and promote their use 
throughout the Council.

How we are implementing this:
Wellington CommunityEngagement Strategy and 
Action Plan 

Status: 
Completed

Recommendation (That all Councils): 
Build monitoring, reporting and evaluation activities 
into their public participation activities.

How we are implementing this: 
WENDI Group

Status: 
In Progress

Recommendation (That all Councils): 
Develop and document comprehensive public 
participation plans and their outcomes.

How we are implementing this: 
Completing Community Engagement Plans for each 
project (Part A, B, C documents)

Status: 
In Progress

1

2

3

Victorian Auditor General’s ‘Public 
Participation and Community Engagement 
Local Government Sector’ Recommendations
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6.4.4  Carers Recognition
The Carers Recognition Act 2012 (the Act) formally recognises and values the role of carers and 
the importance of care relationships in the Victorian community. The Act defines a carer as 
someone who provides care to another person, and includes carers under the age of 18. Carers 
can provide care for a person who: 

• Has a disability 
• Has a mental illness 
• Has an ongoing medical condition
• Is an older person with care needs.

Care relationships also include those situations where a person is being cared for in a foster, 
kinship or permanent care arrangement. 
Within the Carers Recognition Act 2012 Wellington Shire Council is required to report annually 
on its care measurement obligations under Section 11 of the Act. 

Wellington Shire Council has taken all practicable measures to comply with its responsibilities 
outlined in the Act. 

Some of the ways Wellington Shire Council supports carers is through: 

• Recognition of Carers through awareness raising activities such as Volunteer Week, Seniors 
Week and Social Inclusion Week. 

• Participation on networks such as Sale and District Aged Care Network, Wellington 
Community Service Network, Wellington Early Years Network and Wellington Access and 
Inclusion Advisory Group. 

• Projects listed in Council’s Access and Inclusion Plan, Wellington RuralAccess Program, and 
Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan, more specifically within the Social Connection 
and Inclusion Priority area. 

• Funding of community lead / developed projects associated Age Friendly Communities Grant 
• Wellington Shire Council’s funding agreement with Central Gippsland Health and Yarram and 

District Health Service, who are the providers of Home and Community Care (HACC) services, 
outlines compliance with all legislation. 
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6.4.5  Disability Action Plan
Wellington Shire Council has reviewed and developed the Wellington Access and Inclusion Plan 2017 – 2022 and 
accompanying action plan which incorporates a Disability Action Plan.

The focus of the strategy and action plans is:

• To increase accessible programs, services and events offered or funded by Council 
• To increase accessible and inclusive information and communications produced by Council 
• To increase inclusive employment opportunities at Council for people with disabilities 
• For persons employed at Council to be informed about the access requirements of people with disabilities
• To increase advocacy for improved access and inclusion within the Wellington Shire community. 

Over the last 12 months some achievements that have come from previous Access and Inclusion Plans include: 

• Communication boards for people with limited or no 
speech have been developed for use in emergency relief 
centres, Aqua Energy, Gippsland Regional Sports Complex, 
The Wedge Entertainment Centre and Council’s Customer 
Service Centres. 

• The Wellington Access and Inclusion Advisory Group 
(WAIAG) is providing input on access and inclusion issues 
as part of the Port of Sale Cultural Hub redevelopment 
project which opened January 2018.  

• Software has been purchased and made available to 
Council staff to be able to convert written documents into 
audio format for those with limited or no vision. 

• Wellington Shire Libraries, Gippsland Art Gallery and The 
Wedge all completed an Access and Inclusion Audit of 
their current facilities using the relevant Institute of Access 
Training Australia handbooks for cultural venues.

• Aqua Energy (Council owned Fitness Centre) has 
a changing places accessible toilet.  Plans for new 
Wellington Centre, which incorporates Sale Library, 
Gippsland Art Gallery and Council Chambers, to include a 
changing places accessible toilet.    

• Wellington Shire Library staff have undertaken online 
training via REAL (Resource for Equitable Access to 
Libraries) which is a collaborative state-wide initiative 
of the State Library of Victoria, Public Libraries Victoria 
Network and Vision Australia. REAL training improves 
awareness and develops strategies to improve accessibility 
and inclusion.
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6.4.6  Domestic Animal Management Plan
All Councils in Victoria are required to prepare a Domestic Animal Management Plan (DAMP) 
every four years. The primary purpose of the DAMP is to provide a strategic guide to the 
community towards the goal of responsible pet ownership and to assist Council to achieve a 
professional, consistent and proactive approach to domestic animal management.

In December 2017, the State Government introduced the Domestic Animals Amendment (Puppy 
Farms and Pet Shops) Bill 2016 into Parliament. This amendment to the Domestic Animal Act 1994 
will regulate the number of fertile female dogs to be kept by breeding domestic animal businesses. 
This will further control the breeding of dogs and cats and the sale of dogs and cats in pet shops.

DAMP 2017-2021 was developed based on the following key considerations by Council to: 

• Maintain qualified and experienced staff 
• Encouraging increased pet registration and 

compliance, with an emphasis on cats 
• Reducing the number of dog attack incidents 

by encouraging responsible pet ownership, 
increasing safety awareness around dogs 
and enforcing legislation 

• Maintaining continued compliance relating 
to the keeping of declared menacing, 
dangerous and restricted breed dogs 

• Reducing the feral cat population and 
euthanasia rates of unwanted pets

• Ensuring Domestic Animal Businesses are 
identified and regulated 

• Responding to and investigating animal 
nuisance complaints in a timely and effective 
manner 

• Responding to any emergency involving 
people and their pets.  

Key changes included:

•  Definition of domestic animal business (DAB)
•  Upper limit on fertile female dogs
•  Applicable organisation members
•  Working dogs
•  Animal sale permits
•  Source numbers and information register
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6.4.7  Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (the Act) was created to promote openness, 
accountability and transparency in the Victorian public service by giving the public the right 
to access government information.

The Act gives the community the right to access recorded information (documents) in the 
possession of Council.

This general right of access to information is limited only by exceptions and exemptions 
which have been prescribed to protect essential public interests, and the private or business 
affairs of people about whom information is held by the Council.

To access documents under the Freedom of Information Act 1982, a request must be ‘valid’.  
A valid request is a request which is in writing, clearly describes the documents to which 
access is requested and includes an application fee or evidence that the applicant qualifies 
for the application fee to be waived.

In keeping with the spirit of the legislation, Wellington Shire 
Council, as far as possible, facilitates and promotes the 
disclosure of information promptly. 

For more information regarding freedom of information, please refer to the Council’s website 
www.wellington.vic.gov.au or visit the Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner 
(OVIC) website www.ovic.vic.gov.au

Changes to the Act which were introduced on 1 September 2017 have impacted on the 
workload for processing requests due to the mandatory consultation requirements and 
shorter time frames in which to make FOI decisions.

Mrs Marj McInnes, Coordinator Information Management is authorised under Section 26(1) 
of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (‘FOI Act’) to make decisions in respect of Freedom 
of Information requests made to Wellington Shire Council.  The Principal Officer of Council is 
Mr David Morcom, Chief Executive Officer.  
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From 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018, Wellington Shire Council received seven (7) “valid” Freedom of 
Information requests. One (1) request was transferred by our agency to another agency.
As at the 30 June 2018, Council was in receipt of three (3) non-valid requests, where the requests 
remained unclear in their terms. 
A total of $1,039.74 was collected through application fees & access charges in 2017/18.
A total of $477.08 remains outstanding for access charges payable. Decisions were released on four (4) 
requests but the processed documents won’t be provided to the applicants until access charges are paid.
Access Charges are payable for searching and photocopying applicable to each FOI request.  Charges 
are not applied for document processing time.

Type of Request No. of Requests

Access to documents granted in full (no exempt material) 4

Access to documents granted in part (some exempt material) 2

Access to documents provided outside of the Act 3

Access denied in full (all material exempt) 0

Requests not proceeded with 0

Requests not finalised in the reporting period (2017/18) 1

Type of Request No. of Requests

Applications for review to the Freedom of Information Commissioner 0

Application to the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) 0

Notices served on the agency under Section 12(1) 0

Disciplinary action taken out against any officer in respect of the 
administration of this Act. 0

SUMMARY OF 2017/18 FOI DECISIONS RELEASED

SUMMARY OF 2017/18 FOI APPEALS
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6.4.8  Privacy and Data Protection
Wellington Shire Council is committed to protecting people’s right to privacy and the 
responsible and fair handling of personal information, consistent with the Privacy and Data 
Protection Act 2014 and Health Records Act 2001.

Council’s Privacy & Data Protection Policy is available on our website.

The Privacy & Data Protection Act 2014 has ten (10) Information Privacy Principles (IPPs) 
which govern the collection, use and handling of personal information by Victorian public 
sector organisations, local councils and contracted service providers.

Privacy & Data Protection training is provided at induction via an e-learning course, at 
corporate group training sessions and general information is regularly distributed via 
newsletters and email to staff. All enquiries regarding the handling of personal information 
are promptly actioned and advice provided where applicable.

A privacy breach occurs when there is a failure to comply with one or more of the Information 
Privacy Principles, most commonly resulting in unlawful access to or collection, use or 
disclosure of personal information. 

The potential for privacy breaches can be reduced by good policies and practices in handling 
of personal information and ongoing training of staff in their responsibilities under the Act.  
No privacy breaches have been recorded against Wellington Shire Council.

Privacy enquiries can be made to Council’s Privacy Officer by phoning (03) 5142 3112 or 
emailing enquiries@wellington.vic.gov.au.

6.4.9  Contracts
During 2017/18, council incurred expenditure on one contract that was greater than the 
$150,000 threshold without re-engaging in a new tender. The consultant, Deloitte, had been 
chosen in 2016 through a competitive process to develop a business case. This business case 
required updating and the additional work totalling $217k was undertaken on behalf of 4 
Councils, with each council meeting their share of the expense.
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6.4.10  Protected Disclosure Procedures

6.4.11  Road Management Act Ministerial Direction

6.4.12  Infrastructure and Development Contributions

The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 commenced operation on 19 February 2013, replacing the Whistleblowers Protection 
Act, 2001 and established the Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission (IBAC) as part of a new integrity 
system for Victoria.  It aims to ensure openness and accountability in government by encouraging people to disclose 
improper conduct within the public sector, including Wellington Shire Council, its employees and Councillors, and to 
provide protection for people who make disclosures. Procedures on how to make a disclosure are publicly available on 
Council’s website under Documents Available for Public Inspection.

During the 2017/18 year no disclosures were notified to Council officers appointed to receive disclosures, or to IBAC.

In accordance with Section 22 of the Road Management Act, 2004, Council must publish a copy or summary of any 
Ministerial direction in its annual report. No such Ministerial Directions were received by Council during the financial year.

In accordance with section 46GM and 46QD of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, a council that is a collecting or 
development agency must prepare and give a report to the Minister for Planning on infrastructure and development 
contributions including levies and works in kind. The report must be published in council’s annual report. There were no 
such reports in 2017/18.

6.4.13  Food Act Ministerial Directions
In accordance with Section 7E of the Food Act, 1984, Council did not receive any Ministerial Directions.
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6.5
Other Information

Fifty five (55) applicants were successful in receiving Community Assistance Grants across the categories: Projects, Events and 
Facilities, totalling $234,855.91 (details below).

Seventy-eight (78) applicants were successful in receiving Quick Response Grants, totalling $108,294.

6.5.1  Grants Distributed

Organisation Project Ttitle Amount Funded

Barrier Breakers Art for Mental Health $5,000.00 

Boisdale Community Playgroup Playgroup Area Development $5,000.00 

Bug Blitz Trust Bush kinder - Cultivating Curious Minds $5,000.00 

City of Sale Eisteddfod Society City of Sale Eisteddfod 71st year $5,000.00 

Foothills Music Association Inc. Foothills Music and Arts Festival 2018 $5,000.00 

Gippsland East Local Learning Employment Network NextGen Challenge $5,000.00 

COMMUNITY ASSISTANCE GRANTS 2017/18 
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Organisation Project Title Amount Funded

Gippsland Swimming Inc Gippsland Swimming Championships 2018 $5,000.00 

Gormandale Recreation Reserve Fabulous Facility Flooring $5,000.00 

Heyfield and District Vintage Machinery Group Heyfield Vintage Machinery Rally $5,000.00 

Heyfield Traders & Tourism Association Heyfield Food and Wine Festival $5,000.00 

Loch Sport Business & Tourism Association Cox's Bridge to Cox's Place bike ride $5,000.00 

Loch Sport Community House Loch Sport New Year's Fireworks $5,000.00 

Maffra Cricket Club Equipment storage upgrade $5,000.00 

Maffra Neighbourhood House  Maffra Neighbourhood House Family Day 2018 $5,000.00 

Meerlieu Public Hall COM Inc Meerlieu Cricket Club Room extension $5,000.00 

Mirridong Services Inc Mirridong Services Inc 2018 Production $5,000.00 

Rotary Club of Sale Central Monday Tucker $5,000.00 

Sale Baptist Church FREE Community Fun Day $5,000.00 

Sale Cricket Club Security upgrade Stead Street $5,000.00 

Sale Golf Club A 21st century kitchen $5,000.00 

Sale-Maffra & District Kennel Club Inc and Macalister All Breeds 
Kennel & Obedience Club Inc Gippsland International Winter Festival  $5,000.00 

Sale Music Festival Committee The Sale Music Festival: Picnic on the Green $5,000.00 

Seaspray Reserve Committee of Management Inc Great Victorian Bike Ride $5,000.00 
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Organisation Project Title Amount Funded

Stand Initiatives Ltd Community Automotive Workshop $5,000.00 

Stratford on Avon Shakespeare Association Shakespeare on the River Festival $5,000.00 

Tarra Festival Committee Inc 2018 Tarra Festival $5,000.00 

Upper Maffra Mechanics Institute Reinstall the water bore $5,000.00 

West Sale Bowls Club West Sale Bowls Club new green surrounds $5,000.00 

Wines of East Gippsland Tinamba Food and Wine Festival $5,000.00 

Yarram Agricultural Society Inc Yarram Agricultural Show $5,000.00 

Youth Insearch Foundation Empower Gippsland Youth $5,000.00 

Rotary Club of Maffra Inc Rotary Club of Maffra Mardi Gras $4,950.00 

Stratford Victoria Sister Cities Inc Stratford’s of the World Reunion 2018 $4,407.55 

Woodside & District Football Netball Club Safety barrier netting $4,400.00 

Yarram Recreation Reserve Inc Football goal nets $4,400.00 

Carers Victoria Carers Victoria Sale Mingle $4,300.00 

Carrajung Community Group Grand Ridge Harvest Festival $4,120.00 

Longford Family Fun Day Sub Committee Longford Good Friday Family Fun Day $4,000.00 

Yarram Eisteddfod Inc Yarram Eisteddfod 2018 $4,000.00 

Heyfield Tennis Club Heyfield Community Bingo Upgrade $3,850.00 
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Organisation Project Title Amount Funded

Port Albert Mechanics Institute Upgrade and beautification of Port Albert Mechanics Institute $3,818.00 

Gormandale Community House Make the Gormandale Community House Woodwork Shed Great Again! $3,618.06 

Ramahyuck District Aboriginal Corporation NAIDOC Week Celebrations $3,500.00 

Airly-Clydebank Public Hall Inc Ramp it up, access for all $3,000.00 

Briagolong Mechanics' Institute Hall Committee of Management Briagolong Film Festival $2,657.00 

Gormandale Community House Maintenance of access ramp $2,631.00 

Lake Wellington Yacht Club Inc Rubber duck replacement $2,599.00 

Gormandale Community House Keep the kitchen cooking $2,598.00 

Coongulla Reserve COM Inc Community NYE in the Park $2,500.00 

Woodside & District Football Netball Club Woodside & District Football Netball Club Annual Family Fun Day & Show ’n 
Shine Car Show $2,500.00 

Sale RSL & Community Club 2018 Commemorative Armistice Ball $2,400.00 

Yarram Combined Churches Committee Yarram Churches and Service Clubs Christmas Hamper 2017 Appeal $2,300.00 

Balook and District Residents Association Rainforest Rhythms $2,980.00 

Dargo Bush Nursing Centre Inc Dargo Winter Christmas Lunch $2,290.00 

Loch Sport Community House Inc Keep Loch Sport Mobile $2,037.30 

Total $234,855.91
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During the last year Wellington Shire Council conducted four 
Citizenship Ceremonies, including a very popular event on 
Australia Day.  We were able to welcome a total of 37 new 
citizens to our community from 12 different countries. 

We look forward to welcoming more new citizens to our 
community in the coming year.

The following Civic Receptions were held during the 2017/18 
year (see next page).

6.5.2  Citizenship

6.5.3  Civic Reception

Mayor Carolyn Crossley with Young Citizen of the Year Thomas Crosbie 
and Citizen of the Year Stephen Pendrick at the 2018 Australia Day Awards.
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Event/Civic Reception Date Brief Description

2018 Australia Day Awards 
Luncheon

12 December 
2017

A luncheon was held for approximately 80 guests to honour the winners of the 2018 Wellington 
Shire Council Citizen of the Year, Young Citizen of the Year, Community Event of the Year and 
Community Group of the Year.  This is the sixth year that the winners, and those who nominated 
them, have been recognised with a special luncheon. Numerous communities and individuals 
were represented by the nominations which highlighted the outstanding achievements of all 
those present.  It is always wonderful to see the reaction of those who are not always aware that 
they are nominated until the announcements are made in each category.

Rotary District 9820 Annual 
Conference 

16 February 
2018

The Rotary District 9820 Annual Conference Civic Reception was the very first Civic Reception 
to be held in the new Wellington Centre at the Port of Sale building, after it officially opened in 
January 2018.  Approximately 100 Rotarians and guests attended this event, including Rotary 
Youth Exchange guests from Germany, Italy, Netherlands, Switzerland and Brazil.  The Rotarians 
came from various districts between Lakes Entrance and Mornington, with the Conference being 
preceded by up to 50 riders participating in the Ride to Conference, over 6 days, which raised 
money for Life Education, Gippsland Rotary Centenary House and EndTrachoma by 2020.  It was 
an honour to celebrate the wonderful work of such a longstanding organisation.

New Professionals Civic Reception 31 May  
2018

This year our annual reception for New Professionals was held at the new Port of Sale facility 
which incorporates the Art Gallery, Sale Visitors Centre and Library.  This Civic Reception catered 
for approximately 80 guests who are new to the Shire within the last 12 months, and tertiary 
qualified.  The guest speaker was a New Professional from the RAAF. The event was enjoyed by 
guests from a range of occupations such as teachers, doctors, accountants, aged care workers, 
bank employees, engineers and several different medical occupations. The evening is a great 
opportunity for networking and meeting likeminded professionals.

CIVIC RECEPTIONS 2017/18

153WELLINGTON SHIRE COUNCIL  /  ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

Agenda - Ordinary Meeting 16 October 2018 200



Performance 
Statement

Agenda - Ordinary Meeting 16 October 2018 201



AMPITHEATRE  /  YARRAM WETLANDS

Agenda - Ordinary Meeting 16 October 2018 202



Indicator/Measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations

Population

Expenses per head of municipal population
(Total expenses / Municipal population)

$1,776.84 $1,717.79 $1,814.75 $2,082.52 Increase is due to reassessment of landfill rehabilitation 
provision and material and services.

Infrastructure per head of municipal population
(Value of infrastructure / Municipal population)

$18,726.79 $19,099.08 $17,929.49 $17,486.48

Wellington Shire Council’s infrastructure was valued at $765 
million during the 2017/18 financial year. That equates to a total 
value of $17,486.48 infrastructure per head of the municipality’s 
population.

Population density per length of road
(Municipal population / Kilometres of local roads)

13.61 13.52 13.83 14.05
There are 3,114km of sealed and unsealed local roads for an 
estimated municipal population of 43,747 within Wellington 
Shire.

Own-Source Revenue

Own-source revenue per head of municipal 
population
(Own-source revenue / Municipal population)

$1,394.98 $1,475.59 $1,563.36 $1,665.30 Own source revenue has increased over the four-year period due 
to supplementary rates raised each year.

For the year ended 30 June 2018.

7.1.1  Sustainable Capacity Indicators
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Indicator/Measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations

Recurrent Grants

Recurrent grants per head of municipal population
(Recurrent grants / Municipal population)

$503.46 $293.24 $605.65 $424.28

The variation over the four years is due to Council receiving 
Financial Assistance Grants advance payments in June 2015 
for 2015/16, June 2017 for 2017/18 and June 2018 for 2018/19.  
Council also received an additional Roads to Recovery allocation 
in 2016/17 which has resulted in a spike in 2016/17 compared to 
other years.

Disadvantage

Relative socio-economic disadvantage
(Index of Relative Socio-economic Disadvantage by 
decile)

4 4 4 5

The Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) index of relative 
socio-economic disadvantage indicates that one is the most 
disadvantaged and ten is the least disadvantaged. Wellington 
Shire’s result is five.

Definitions
“Adjusted underlying revenue” means total income other than:
 (a) Non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and 
 (b) Non-monetary asset contributions; and 
 (c) Contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above
“Infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land
“Local road” means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act 2004
“Population” means the resident population estimated by council
“Own-source revenue” means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including government grants)
“Relative socio-economic disadvantage”, in relation to a municipality, means the relative socio-economic disadvantage, expressed as a decile for the 
relevant financial year, of the area in which the municipality is located according to the Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 
2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA
“SEIFA” means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of Statistics on its Internet website
“Unrestricted cash” means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.

157WELLINGTON SHIRE COUNCIL  /  ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

Agenda - Ordinary Meeting 16 October 2018 204



Service/Indicator 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations

Aquatic Facilities

Utilisation
Expenses per head of municipal population
(Total expenses / Municipal population)

4.55 4.75 5.01 5.57

The combined number of visits recorded at Council’s indoor 
and outdoor aquatic facilities during 2017/18 was 243,887. This 
equates to an average of over five and a half (5.5) aquatic facility 
visits, per Wellington Shire resident, for the year. Improvements 
in promotion and advertising including a dedicated Aqua Energy 
website, improved Facebook profile have contributed to the 
steady increase in utilisation during last four years.

Animal Management

Health and Safety
Animal management prosecutions
(Number of successful animal management 
prosecutions)

11 4 17 10

Wellington Shire Council undertook 10 animal management 
prosecutions during 2017-18. All were successful. The majority of 
prosecutions related to serious dog attacks, mainly dog vs dog 
or dog vs livestock.

Food Safety

Health and Safety
Critical and major non-compliance notifications
(Number of critical non-compliance notifications 
and major non-compliance notifications about a 
food premises followed up / Number of critical non-
compliance notifications and major non-compliance 
notifications about food premises) x100

100% 100% 100% 57.1%

During 2017 calendar year, Council recorded a total of fourteen 
critical and major non-compliance notifications for food 
premises and followed up eight of these due to significant 
resourcing challenges during the year.

For the year ended 30 June 2018.

7.1.2  Service Performance Indicators
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Service/Indicator 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations

Governance

Satisfaction
Satisfaction with council decisions
(Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how 
council has performed in making decisions in the 
interest of the community)

58 56 59 58

Council’s participation in the 2018 Community Satisfaction 
Survey showed a 58% community satisfaction rating with the 
way Council has performed in making decisions in the interests 
of the community. Council has performed six points higher than 
large rural average and five points higher compared to state 
wide average.

Home and Community Care

Participation
Participation in HACC service
(Number of people that received a HACC service / 
Municipal target population for HACC services) x100

- - - -
The Wellington Shire council is not directly responsible for the 
delivery of Home and community care service, so there is no 
performance data available for these indicators.

Participation
Participation in HACC service by CALD people
(Number of CALD people who receive a HACC service / 
Municipal target population in relation to CALD people 
for HACC services) x100

- - - -
The Wellington Shire council is not directly responsible for the 
delivery of Home and community care service, so there is no 
performance data available for these indicators.

Libraries

Participation
Active library members
(Number of active library members / Municipal 
population) x100

15.41% 13.42% 13.62% 13.82%

Wellington Shire Libraries offer a broad range of popular 
programs including author talks, baby rhyme times, toddler 
Storytime and school holiday programs. These are well attended 
and open to all residents within the Shire. The new Sale Library 
has proven very popular, with significant increases in visits, loans 
and new memberships. Council continues to actively promote 
Library services to all sectors of the community, resulting in a 
increase in active library membership. 
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Service/Indicator 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations

Maternal and Child Health

Participation in the MCH service
Expenses per head of municipal population
(Number of children who attend the MCH service at least 
once (in the year) / Number of children enrolled in the 
MCH service) x100

- - - -
The Wellington Shire council is not directly responsible for the 
delivery of Maternal and child health service, so there is no 
performance data available for these indicators.

Participation
Participation in the MCH service by Aboriginal 
children
(Number of Aboriginal children who attend the MCH 
service at least once (in the year) / Number of Aboriginal 
children enrolled in the MCH service) x100

- - - -
The Wellington Shire council is not directly responsible for the 
delivery of Maternal and child health service, so there is no 
performance data available for these indicators.

Roads

Satisfaction
Satisfaction with sealed local roads
(Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how 
council has performed on the condition of sealed local 
roads)

52 53 56 56

Results from the Community Satisfaction Survey shown no 
change in residents’ satisfaction rating for Wellington Shire’s 
sealed local roads. Council is responsible for a road network of 
3,114km, where 1,522km are sealed and 1,592km unsealed.

Statutory Planning

Decision Making
Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT
(Number of VCAT decisions that did not set aside 
council’s decision in relation to a planning application 
/ Number of VCAT decisions in relation to planning 
applications) x100

100% 100% 100% 50%

VCAT upheld one of Council’s decisions in 2017/18, but 
overturned the other decision relating to a rural dwelling on 
Farming Zone land.  Only two decisions were appealed at VCAT 
in 2017/18.
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Service/Indicator 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations

Waste Collection

Waste Diversion
Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill
(Weight of recyclables and green organics collected from 
kerbside bins / Weight of garbage, recyclables and green 
organics collected from kerbside bins) x100 

34.61% 32.10% 32.93% 33.55%

More than 3,500 tonnes of recycling waste were diverted 
from landfill in 2017/18 which is a slight increase compared 
to 2016/17. That’s an average of 189 kg of recycling waste 
per collection household in Wellington Shire. Wellington 
Shire Council does not currently have a kerbside green waste 
collection service in place limiting the diversion rate percentage 
under this category.

Definitions
“Aboriginal child” means a child who is an Aboriginal person 
“Aboriginal person” has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006  
“Active library member” means a member of a library who has borrowed a book from the library 
“Annual report” means an annual report prepared by a council under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act
“CALD” means culturally and linguistically diverse and refers to persons born outside Australia in a country whose national language is not English
“Class 1 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 1 food premises under section 19C of that Act 
“Class 2 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984 , that have been declared as class 2 food premises under section 19C of that Act 
“Community Care Common Standards” means the Community Care Common Standards for the delivery of HACC services, published from time to time by the 
Commonwealth
“Critical non-compliance outcome notification” means a notification received by council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council by an 
authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that poses an immediate serious threat to public health 
“Food premises” has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984  
“HACC program” means the Home and Community Care program established under the Agreement entered into for the purpose of the Home and Community Care Act 1985 of 
the Commonwealth 
“HACC service” means home help, personal care or community respite provided under the HACC program 
“Local road” means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act 2004
“Major non-compliance outcome notification” means a notification received by a council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council by an 
authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that does not pose an immediate serious threat to public health but may do so if no remedial action is taken 
“MCH” means the Maternal and Child Health Service provided by a council to support the health and development of children within the municipality from birth until school 
age
“Population” means the resident population estimated by council 
“Target population” has the same meaning as in the Agreement entered into for the purposes of the Home and Community Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth 
“WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility safety incident” means an incident relating to a council aquatic facility that is required to be notified to the Victorian WorkCover 
Authority under Part 5 of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004.  
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Dimension/Indicator
Results Forecasts

Material Variations
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Efficiency

Revenue Level
Average residential rate 
per residential property 
assessment
(Residential rate revenue 
/ Number of residential 
property assessments)

$1,114.99 $1,177.97 $1,278.23 $1,330.57 $1,368.10 $1,425.92 $1,481.11 $1,543.45

There has been a small increase in 
residential assessment in 2017/18 
compared to 2016/17 resulting in 
additional rates and charges. Future 
years increase reflects impact of rate 
capping and expected increase in 
recycling costs which impacts on the 
annual garbage rate.

Expenditure Level
Expenses per property 
assessment
(Total expenses / Number of 
property assessments) 

$2,181.39 $2,103.93 $2,344.22 $2,746.91 $2,629.33 $2,630.19 $2,676.81 $2,622.27

The 2017/18 measure is impacted 
by some large one-off accounting 
entries associated with the partial 
asset written down of asset replaced 
e.g. Port of Sale Civic Centre for the 
new library/Art Gallery and landfill 
rehabilitation provision adjustments. 
Future years expenditure allows 
for constant allocated landfill 
rehabilitation over the next four 
years.

For the year ended 30 June 2018.

7.1.3  Financial Performance Indicators
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Dimension/Indicator
Results Forecasts

Material Variations
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Workforce Turnover
Resignations and 
terminations compared to 
average staff
(Number of permanent 
staff resignations and 
terminations / Average 
number of permanent staff 
for the financial year) x100

9.39% 13.14% 9.92% 13.86% 10.93% 11.00% 11.00% 11.00%

The increase in resignations and 
terminations in 2017/18 is mainly 
due to higher number of planned 
retirements and long serving 
staff moving on to seek other 
opportunities. Long term average 
for number of resignations and 
terminations is approximately 33 
per year or 11%. No increase in staff 
numbers are anticipated based on 
current organisational structure.

Liquidity

Working Capital
Current assets compared 
to current liabilities
(Current assets / Current 
liabilities) x100

321.14% 382.82% 416.15% 594.69% 298.51% 376.75% 413.96% 478.86%

Council’s liquidity has continued 
to improve and also includes the 
receipt of 2018/19 Victoria Grants 
Commission advance of $6.5 million. 
The measure in 2018/19 will dip as 
Council plans to repay an interest 
only loan in 2019/20. Improvement in 
the remaining future years relates to 
increases in cash balances. 

Asset Renewal
Asset renewal compared to 
depreciation
(Asset renewal expenses / 
Asset depreciation) x100

69.40% 80.21% 94.65% 93.26% 113.18% 94.65% 93.38% 96.91%

The reduction in this measure for 
2017/18 is mainly due to the delay 
in the commencement of a number 
of 2017/18 major renewal projects 
such as the West Sale Airport runway 
extension, street construction 
schemes renewal projects and road 
reconstructions. Planned renewal 
works in future years indicate that 
this measure will remain steady.
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Dimension/Indicator
Results Forecasts

Material Variations
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Unrestricted Cash
Unrestricted cash 
compared to current 
liabilities
(Unrestricted cash / Current 
liabilities) x100

156.80% -71.49% 169.41% 230.96% 170.52% 206.61% 223.99% 278.79%

The improvement in 2017/18 
unrestricted cash is due to the 
restructuring of term deposits to 
cover future commitments. Current 
liabilities will increase as Council 
plans to repay an interest only loan 
in 2019/20. The future availability of 
unrestricted cash in the remaining 
years is expected to increase as 
Council’s cash position improves and 
current liabilities remain steady. 
The forecasts differ from the 2018/19 
budget as the 2018/19 budget 
includes financial assets as well 
as cash and cash equivalents as 
unrestricted cash.

Loans and Borrowings
Loans and borrowings 
compared to rates
(Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings / Rate revenue) 
x100

26.58% 19.61% 15.62% 13.10% 20.75% 11.70% 13.07% 13.45%

The reduction in this measure 
relates to Council deferring 
proposed 2016/17 and 2017/18 
loan borrowing to 2018/19. During 
2018/19 Council is expecting to 
borrow for a number of sporting 
infrastructure redevelopments and 
residential street schemes.  The 
measure after 2018/19 will increase 
slightly due to the expected increase 
in rate revenue, while future years 
borrowings are expected to remain 
relatively stable.
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Dimension/Indicator
Results Forecasts

Material Variations
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Loans and Borrowings
Loans and borrowings 
repayments compared to 
rates
(Interest and principal 
repayments on interest 
bearing loans and borrowings 
/ Rate revenue) x100

7.33% 7.05% 3.60% 1.84% 1.12% 11.34% 1.84% 2.11%

The measure in 2019/20 will spike as 
Council repays an interest only loan. 
During the remaining years, measure 
increases as future loan borrowings 
are repaid. Over the last four years 
Council has finalised a number of 
long- term loans with minimal loan 
borrowings during this period.

Indebtedness
Non-current liabilities 
compared to own source 
revenue
(Non-current liabilities / Own 
source revenue) x100

20.36% 17.40% 18.79% 33.68% 16.44% 18.45% 22.61% 25.16%

The increase in 2017/18 mainly 
results from an increase adjustment 
to non- current landfill provision 
along with an increase in own source 
revenue associated with increased 
rates and charges, statutory fees 
and commercial tipping fees. In 
future years, this measure will vary 
as Council continues to complete 
landfill rehabilitation works which 
will impact on non-current landfill 
provision balance.
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Dimension/Indicator
Results Forecasts

Material Variations
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Operating Position

Adjusted underlying result
Adjusted underlying 
surplus (or deficit)
(Adjusted underlying surplus 
(deficit)/ Adjusted underlying 
revenue) x100

8.46% 3.63% 16.82% 2.61% -4.33% 6.52% 7.14% 9.12%

The decrease in this measure is 
basically due to impact of early 
receipt of 2017/18 funds in 2016/17 
in addition to the expected 2016/17 
allocation.  The 2017/18 measure 
was impacted by this reduction 
but was partly offset by the early 
receipt of 2018/19 funds in 2017/18.  
The 2017/18 result has also been 
impacted by additional expenditure 
for landfills rehabilitation. The early 
receipt of funds in 2017/18 also 
impacts the 2018/19 result. There 
are immaterial differences between 
forecasts and 2018/19 budget due to 
reclassification of income.

Rates Concentration
Rates compared to 
adjusted underlying 
revenue
(Rate revenue / Adjusted 
underlying revenue) x100

60.27% 69.10% 59.25% 64.39% 73.43% 67.77% 67.99% 69.99%

Compared to 2016/17, additional 
supplementary rate income has 
been generated, along with reduced 
Financial Assistance grants in 
2017/18 resulting in an increase 
in this measure.  The result in 
2018/19 will also be impacted by the 
early receipt of 2018/19 Financial 
Assistance Grant funds in 2017/18. 
From 2019/20 the measure is 
expected to increase slightly due to 
expected increase in rate revenue. 
There are immaterial differences 
between forecasts and 2018/19 
budget due to reclassification of 
income.
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Dimension/Indicator
Results Forecasts

Material Variations
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Stability

Rates Effort
Rates compared to 
property values
(Rate revenue / Capital 
improved value of 
rateable properties in the 
municipality) x100

0.54% 0.56% 0.54% 0.52% 0.56% 0.58% 0.59% 0.60%

This measure is forecasted to remain 
steady over the next four years, as 
has been in the past four years.
There are immaterial differences 
between forecasts and 2018/19 
budget due to reclassification of 
income.

Definitions
“Adjusted underlying revenue” means total income other than:
 (a) Non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and 
 (b) Non-monetary asset contributions; and 
 (c) Contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above
“Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)” means adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure
“Asset renewal expenditure” means expenditure on an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset that returns the service capability of the asset to its original 
capability
“Current assets” has the same meaning as in the Australian Account Standards (AAS)
“Current liabilities” has the same meaning as in the AAS
“Non-current assets” means all assets other than current assets
“Non-current liabilities” means all liabilities other than current liabilities
“Non-recurrent grant” means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not expected to be received again during the 
period covered by a council’s Strategic Resource Plan
“Own-source revenue” means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including government grants
“Population” means the resident population estimated by council
“Rate revenue” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges
“Recurrent grant” means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant
“Residential rates” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges levied on residential properties
“Restricted cash” means cash and cash equivalents, within the meaning of the AAS, that are not available for use other than for a purpose for which it is restricted, 
and includes cash to be used to fund capital works expenditure from the previous financial year
“Unrestricted cash” means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.
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Basis of Preparation

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement 
within its annual report. The performance statement includes the results 
of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance and financial 
performance indicators and measures together with a description of the 
municipal district and an explanation of material variations in the results. 
This statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014.

Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been 
prepared on accounting bases consistent with those reported in the 
Financial Statements. The other results are based on information drawn 
from council information systems or from third parties (e.g. Australian 
Bureau of Statistics).

The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year 
and for the prescribed financial performance indicators and measures, the 
results forecast by the council’s strategic resource plan. 

The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires 
explanation of any material variations in the results contained in the 
performance statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant 
to each indicator and measure and explanations have not been provided for 
variations below the materiality thresholds unless the variance is considered 
to be material because of its nature.

The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those 
adopted by council in its strategic resource plan on 19 June 2018 and which 
forms part of the council plan. The strategic resource plan includes estimates 
based on key assumptions about the future that were relevant at the time of 
adoption and aimed at achieving sustainability over the long term. Detailed 
information on the actual financial results is contained in the General 
Purpose Financial Statements. The strategic resource plan can be obtained 
by contacting council. 

7.1.4  Other Information
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Councillors of Wellington Shire Council 

Opinion I have audited the accompanying performance statement of Wellington Shire 
Council (the council) which comprises the:  

• description of municipality for the year ended 30 June 2018 
• sustainable capacity indicators for the year ended 30 June 2018 
• service performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2018 
• financial performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2018 
• other information and 
• the certification of the performance statement. 

In my opinion, the performance statement of Wellington Shire Council in 
respect of the year ended 30 June 2018 presents fairly, in all material respects, 
in accordance with the performance reporting requirements of Part 6 of the 
Local Government Act 1989. 

Basis for Opinion I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which 
incorporates the Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements. I further 
describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the performance statement section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. I and my staff 
are independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of 
the performance statement in Victoria and have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Councillors' 
responsibilities for the 
performance 
statement  

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the performance statement in accordance with the performance reporting 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and for such internal control 
as the Councillors determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the statement of performance that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the 
audit of the 
performance 
statement 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the performance statement based on the audit. My objectives for the audit 
are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the performance 
statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

2 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of this performance 
statement.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of performance 
statement, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the council’s internal control 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
performance statement, including the disclosures, and whether 
performance statement represents the underlying events and results in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 

 
MELBOURNE 
26 September 2018 

                                             Tim Loughnan  
                                             as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Councillors of Wellington Shire Council 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Wellington Shire Council (the council) which comprises 
the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2018 
• comprehensive income statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• certification of the financial statements. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the council as at 30 June 2018 and their financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 6 of the 
Local Government Act 1989 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Councillors’ 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Councillors of the council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local 
Government Act 1989, and for such internal control as the Councillors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Councillors 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Councillors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
council to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 

 
MELBOURNE 
26 September 2018 

Tim Loughnan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Wellington Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Note 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges 2.1 60,823                   55,826                 
Statutory fees and fines 2.2 888                        692                      
User fees 2.3 6,911                     6,610                   
Grants - operating 2.4 15,966                   19,619                 
Grants - capital 2.4 8,514                     11,170                 
Contributions - monetary 2.5 939                        381                      
Contributions - non monetary 2.5 790                        5,714                   
Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2.6 -                        169                      
Other income 2.7 4,231                     3,725                   
Total income 99,062                   103,906               

Expenses
Employee costs 3.1 24,551                   24,605                 
Materials and services 3.2 28,994                   26,916                 
Depreciation and amortisation 3.3 22,256                   22,849                 
Bad and doubtful debts 3.4 88                          83                        
Borrowing costs 3.5 341                        570                      
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2.6 3,163                     -                       
Other expenses 3.6 1,235                     2,093                   
Landfill rehabilitation provision movement 4.5 10,477                   684                      
Total expenses 91,105                   77,800                 

Surplus for the year 7,957                     26,106                 

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 8.1 32,459                   (62,825)                
Total comprehensive result 40,416                   (36,719)                

Comprehensive Income Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 2018 2017
 $'000  $'000 

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4.1   51,546   45,386 
Trade and other receivables 4.1   6,506   6,756 
Other financial assets 4.1   20,783   16,431 
Inventories 4.2   10 -   
Other assets 4.2   1,617   2,380 
Total current assets   80,462   70,953 

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 4.1   2,221   2,184 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 5.1   891,588   852,809 
Intangible assets 4.2   2,289   1,529 
Total non-current assets   896,098   856,522 
Total assets   976,560   927,475 

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 4.3   6,362   9,509 
Trust funds and deposits 4.3   996   991 
Provisions 4.5   5,883   5,786 
Interest-bearing liabilities 4.4   289   764 
Total current liabilities   13,530   17,050 

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 4.5   16,936   4,458 
Interest-bearing liabilities 4.4   7,603   7,892 
Total non-current liabilities   24,539   12,350 
Total liabilities   38,069   29,400 

Net assets   938,491   898,075 

Equity
Accumulated surplus   356,147   350,469 
Reserves 8.1   582,344   547,606 
Total Equity   938,491   898,075 

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2018

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Wellington Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves

2018 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 898,075             350,469             541,100                 6,506                     
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 7,957                 7,957                 -                        -                        
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 8.1 32,459               32,459                   -                        
Transfer from asset revaluation reserve to accumulated surplus -                     (778)                   778                        -                        
Transfers to other reserves -                     (3,447)                -                        3,447                     
Transfers from other reserves -                     1,946                 -                        (1,946)                   
Balance at end of the financial year 938,491             356,147             574,337                 8,007                     

Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves

2017 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 929,929             315,988             607,242                 6,699                     
Effects of correction of errors 4,865                 6,295                 (1,430)                   -                        
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 26,106               26,106               -                        -                        
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) (62,825)              -                     (62,825)                 -                        
Transfer from asset revaluation reserve to accumulated surplus -                     1,887                 (1,887)                   -                        
Transfers to other reserves -                     (2,865)                -                        2,865                     
Transfers from other reserves -                     3,058                 -                        (3,058)                   
Balance at end of the financial year 898,075             350,469             541,100                 6,506                     

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Note

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2018 2017
Inflows/ Inflows/

(Outflows) (Outflows)
Note $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates and charges 60,927                54,010               
Statutory fees and fines 888                     692                    
User fees 6,970                  6,135                 
Grants - operating 15,856                20,308               
Grants - capital 9,545                  9,563                 
Contributions - monetary 790                     471                    
Interest received 1,542                  1,357                 
Trust funds and deposits taken 1,182                  1,002                 
Other receipts 1,902                  2,164                 
Goods and Services Tax Collected 923                     902                    
Goods and Services Tax Refunds from the Australian Taxation Office 5,058                  4,033                 
Employee costs (24,449)               (23,993)              
Materials and services (32,170)               (22,929)              
Trust funds and deposits repaid (1,177)                 (640)                   
Other payments (768)                    (747)                   
Goods and Services Tax Paid to Suppliers (5,980)                 (4,935)                
Net cash provided by operating activities 41,039                47,393               

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (30,866)               (29,286)              
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 1,445                  1,078                 
Payments for investments (107,379)             (102,003)            
Proceeds from sale of investments 103,027              126,099             
Net cash used in investing activities (33,773)               (4,112)                

Cash flows from financing activities

Finance costs (342)                    (516)                   
Repayment of borrowings (764)                    (1,481)                
Net cash used in financing activities (1,106)                 (1,997)                

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,160                  41,284               
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 45,386                4,102                 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 51,546                45,386               

Financing arrangements 4.6
Restrictions on cash assets 4.1

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Wellington Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Note 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Property
Land -                      -                      
Land improvements 1,119                  952                     
Total land 1,119                  952                     
Buildings 7,986                  7,765                  
Total buildings 7,986                  7,765                  
Total property 9,105                  8,717                  
Plant and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 1,932                  2,111                  
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 498                     134                     
Computers and telecommunications 155                     74                       
Library books 248                     266                     
Total plant and equipment 2,833                  2,585                  

Infrastructure
Roads 8,886                  10,546                
Bridges 898                     2,851                  
Footpaths and cycleways 1,012                  792                     
Drainage 158                     187                     
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 1,971                  679                     
Waste management 160                     40                       
Parks, open space and streetscapes 3,485                  2,434                  
Aerodromes 492                     147                     
Off street car parks -                      143                     
Other infrastructure 1,838                  122                     
Total infrastructure 18,900                17,941                

Total Capital Works expenditure 30,838                29,243                

Represented by:
New asset expenditure 1,755                  296                     
Asset renewal expenditure 19,553                21,396                
Asset expansion expenditure 3,149                  2,150                  
Asset upgrade expenditure 6,381                  5,401                  
Total capital works expenditure 30,838                29,243                

Statement of Capital Works
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
The Statement of Capital Works includes work in progress and excludes intangibles.
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2017/2018 Financial Report

OVERVIEW
 

Introduction
Wellington Shire Council was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 2 December 1994. The Council's main
office is located at 18-20 Desailly Street, Sale, Victoria 3850.

Statement of compliance 

These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive Income Statement,
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works and Notes
accompanying these financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with the Australian Accounting
Standards (AAS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government
Act 1989,  and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting
The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby assets, liabilities,
equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received
or paid. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated judgements are based on professional judgement
derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods
that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of AAS's that have
significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:
 - the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 5.1)
 - the determination of depreciation for buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 5.1)
 - the determination of employee provisions (refer to Note 4.5)
 - the determination of landfill provisions (refer to Note 4.5)

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year. Where appropriate,
comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been made of any material
changes to comparatives. 

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
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Wellington Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Note 1 Performance against budget

1.1 Income and expenditure
Budget Actual Variance

2018 2018 2018
$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref

Income
Rates and charges 55,500               60,823              5,323 1
Statutory fees and fines 729                    888                   159 2
User fees 6,533                 6,911                378
Grants - operating 7,746                 15,966              8,220 3
Grants - capital 15,987               8,514                (7,473) 4
Contributions - monetary 1,135                 939                   (196) 5
Contributions - non monetary -                         790                   790 6
Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 151                    -                        (151) 7
Other income 3,157                 4,231                1,074 8
Total income 90,938               99,062              8,124

Expenses
Employee costs 25,928               24,551              1,377 9
Materials and services 29,493               28,994              499
Depreciation and amortisation 21,676               22,256              (580)
Bad and doubtful debts 86                      88                     (2)
Borrowing costs 505                    341                   164 10
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment -                         3,163                (3,163) 7
Other expenses 667                    1,235                (568) 11

-                         10,477              (10,477) 12
Total expenses 78,355               91,105              (12,750)

Surplus for the year 12,583               7,957                (4,626)

For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
Notes to the Financial Report

The performance against budget notes compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual performance. The
Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variances. Council has adopted a
materiality threshold of the lower of 10 percent or $600,000 where further explanation is warranted. Explanations have not been provided for
variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature.

The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 6 June 2017. The Budget was based on assumptions that were relevant at
the time of adoption of the Budget. Council sets guidelines and parameters for income and expense targets in this budget in order to meet
Council’s planning and financial performance targets for both the short and long-term. The budget did not reflect any changes to equity
resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable.

These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting)
Regulations 2014.

Landfill rehabilitation provision movement 
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2017/2018 Financial Report

(i) Explanation of material variations - Income and Expenditure

Item Explanation

1 Rates and charges

2 Statutory Fees & Fines

3 Grants - operating

4 Grants - capital

5 Contributions - 
monetary

6 Contributions - non 
monetary

7 Net gain/(loss) on 
disposal of property, 
infrastructure, plant and 
equipment

8 Other Income

9 Employee costs

10 Borrowing Costs

11 Other Expenses

12 Landfill rehabilitation 
provision movement 

Variance 
Ref

Interest on borrowings paid during the year was lower than expected due to the deferral of 2017/18 borrowings.

Council has taken up a present value provision of $10.5 million for landfill rehabilitation, aftercare and monitoring
across all its sites (licenced or not) in accordance with the Accounting Standards, Local Government guidelines and
environmental risk assessments presently applying, in conjunction with estimated lives of these facilities. 

Additional rates and charges have been raised through supplementary valuations since the adoption of the 2017/18
budget. This reflects capital improvements across the shire.
Planning application fees received were higher than expected due to increased number of applications processed

  during the year.  Infringements were lower for the year mainly due to higher write offs for fire notice infringements.
Council received 50% of its 2018/19 Financial Assistance Grants allocation of $6.9 million in June 2018, which will be
carried forward to 2018/19. New grant funding of $0.4 million was received towards the Cowwarr Recreation Reserve
Clubroom Development, $0.4 million for the upgrade of Sale Memorial Hall and $0.3 million for Gormandale

    Lighting.

Funding for the West Sale Airport Runway Extension project of $3.5 million and Rosedale-Revitalisation project of
$1.0 million will now be received in 2018/19 along with Roads to Recovery funding towards street reconstruction
special charge schemes as the projects were delayed in commencing, mainly due to extended stakeholder
engagement and community consultation. Final claims for the Port of Sale Cultural Hub will be completed in 2018/19.
Funding applications for $0.8 million for various projects were not successful. This is partly offset by $0.8 million of

    new grants for community facilities. 

The budget included $0.9 million ratepayer's contributions towards special charge schemes which didn't occur due to
delays in the commencement of the road constructions. This has been offset by additional monetary contributions of
$0.7 million received towards Sale Tennis Club, Botanic Garden development, GRSC floor resurfacing, public open

 spaces and various minor capital projects.

    Asset contributions (non monetary) associated with new subdivisions have been recognised throughout the year.

During the year, Council wrote off assets of $0.3 million found to be the property of an external party. In addition, $0.2
million of assets were derecognised as they were no longer maintained by Council. 

The replacement of a number of infrastructure assets realised a net loss of $4.5 million on disposal, which was partly
offset by a net gain of $0.4 million on asset sales and trade-in of vehicles and plant as part of Council's planned
cyclical replacement program.

Other income primarily represents recognition of new roads of $0.8 million (non cash adjustments) associated with a
review of Council's road management plan. Interest earned on investments has exceeded the budget by $0.4 million

    as cash holdings are higher due to the receipt of grants in advance and the timing of expenditure .
Savings in employee costs relate to a number of staff vacancies (some long-term). Management decisions to
minimise casuals and agency staff to where customer's demands were evident assisted to preserve this saving.
Lower than projected annual Workcover premium and corporate training will generate overall savings of

    approximately $0.4 million for the year.
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Wellington Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Note 1   Performance against budget (continued)

1.2 Capital works
Budget Actual Variance

2018 2018 2018
$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref

Property
Land 150                              -                               (150)                           
Land improvements 922                              1,119                           197                            1
Total Land 1,072                           1,119                           47                              
Buildings 6,908                           7,986                           1,078                         2
Total Buildings 6,908                           7,986                           1,078                         
Total Property 7,980                           9,105                           1,125                         

Plant and Equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 2,408                           1,932                           (476)                           3
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 295                              498                              203                            4
Computers and telecommunications* 915                              155                              (760)                           5
Library books 245                              248                              3                                
Total Plant and Equipment 3,863                           2,833                           (1,030)                        

Infrastructure
Roads 12,748                         8,886                           (3,862)                        6
Bridges 1,377                           898                              (479)                           7
Footpaths and cycleways 2,467                           1,012                           (1,455)                        8
Drainage 380                              158                              (222)                           9
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 4,263                           1,971                           (2,292)                        10
Waste management 270                              160                              (110)                           11
Parks, open space and streetscapes 7,344                           3,485                           (3,859)                        12
Aerodromes 4,760                           492                              (4,268)                        13
Off street car parks 150                              -                               (150)                           14
Other infrastructure 1,119                           1,838                           719                            15
Total Infrastructure 34,878                         18,900                         (15,978)                      

Total Capital Works Expenditure 46,721                         30,838                         (15,883)                      

Represented by:
New asset expenditure 3,148                           1,755                           (1,393)                        
Asset renewal expenditure 28,699                         19,553                         (9,146)                        
Asset expansion expenditure 4,697                           3,149                           (1,548)                        
Asset upgrade expenditure 10,177                         6,381                           (3,796)                        
Total Capital Works Expenditure 46,721                         30,838                         (15,883)                      

* This budget comparison excludes intangibles.

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
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(i) Explanation of material variations - Capital Works

Item Explanation

1 Land improvements

2 Buildings

3 Plant, machinery and equipment

4 Fixtures, fittings and furniture

5 Computers and telecommunications

6 Roads

7 Bridges

8 Footpaths and cycleways

9 Drainage

10 Recreational, leisure and community 
facilities

11 Waste management

12 Parks, open space and streetscapes

13 Aerodromes

14 Off street car parks

15 Other infrastructure

Streetscape renewals in Sale and Maffra of $2.5 million were delayed awaiting other
government authorities and community feedback. Works on the Rosedale
streetscape renewal as part of the Rosedale Revitalisation project is complete, with
Willow Park redevelopments of $0.6 million expected to be completed by December
2018.

Work on the Port Albert off street carpark was delayed until 2018/19 to avoid works
disruption to the boat ramp project being completed under a separate contract.
The Loch Sport boat ramp commenced in late 2016/17 after notification of a
successful grant and the Port Albert boat ramp was constructed in 2017/18. 

Variance 
Ref

The new Kilmany landfill cell is complete but additional costs were incurred due to a
number of revised contractual conditions. 
The Port of Sale Cultural Hub and Precinct Project was completed with part of the
variance relating to expenditure on some sub components allocated to the building
but budgeted in other areas. There was some additional approved items above the
initial Budget.

Savings were achieved in the construction of Stratford Transfer Station access road. 

Delays in receiving a permit to remove native grasses have delayed the
commencement of the West Sale Runway extension project. Detailed design and
specifications for works are expected to be completed in July 2018 and construction
undertaken in 2018/19.

Initial funding for Tarra Trail Stage 2 was not received, new funding is currently being
sourced with works expected to commence in 2018/19. The majority of the works on
the Glebe Woondella shared path have been completed with the boardwalk/bridge
currently under construction.

Rescoping of GRSC Stage 2A delayed commencement with completion expected by
October 2018. The outdoor pool plant room replacement is currently being rescoped
and retendered to fit within budget. Baldwin Reserve changeroom project was
postponed until 2018/19 to the end of the current playing season to avoid disruption
to the club.

The replacement of some vehicles has been deferred because of lower than
expected kilometres and some vehicles are being kept longer as an economy
measure.
A number of miscellaneous unbudgeted furniture and fittings were purchased during
the year including some additional furniture for the Port of Sale Cultural Hub. 

Major changes to the available vendors for telecommunications has delayed major
projects and some software upgrades which either commenced later in the year or
were deferred to 2018/19.

Works on Boodyarn, Napier and Toms Cap bridges were delayed in commencing
with final works of $0.2 million to be completed in early 2018/19. A funding
application for $0.3 million was unsuccessful.

Following extensive community consultation prior to advertising of the schemes and
finalising the designs, three contracts were awarded to one contractor due to
favourable pricing. The projects are being progressively completed and will be
finished in the first half of 2018/19. Pearson-Simpson street scheme was completed.
The annual reseal program delivered $1.0 million savings after completion of
programmed works. Design works have been completed for various roads, including
Cairnbrook Road and Cansick Street Rosedale with reconstruction to occur in
2018/19. 

The Gordon Street Recreation Reserve Dam remediation has been rescoped to meet
the reporting requirements and also meet the needs of the Committee of
Management for irrigation purposes. 
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Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services 2018 2017
2.1 Rates and charges $'000 $'000

General Rates                  50,141               48,474 
Waste management charge                    3,533                 3,388 
Service rates and charges                    1,826                 1,660 
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments                    4,730                 1,895 
Special rates and charges                       244                      72 
Interest on rates and charges                       349                    337 
Total rates and charges                  60,823               55,826 

2.2 Statutory fees and fines

Planning fees                       559                    361 
Infringements and costs                         95                    146 
Land and building information certificates                       134                    131 
Permits                       100                      54 
Total statutory fees and fines                       888                    692 

2.3 User fees

Waste management services                    2,563                 2,549 
Leisure centres                    2,150                 2,053 
Other fees and charges                       967                    756 
Registration and other permits                       722                    702 
Entertainment centre                       344                    395 
Emergency management works                         97                      83 
Animal services                         68                      72 
Total user fees 6,911                  6,610               

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

User fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided or council has otherwise earned the income.

Council uses Capital Improved Value (CIV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within the municipal district. The CIV of a property is its 
total land and improvements value. 

The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2017/18 was $9,647 million (2016/17 $9,550 million). 

The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was 1 January 2018, and the valuation will 
be first applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2018.
Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates notices. Supplementary rates are recognised 
when a valuation and reassessment is completed and a supplementary rates notice issued.

Statutory fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the payment is 
received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services
2018 2017

2.4 Funding from other levels of government $'000 $'000
Grants were received in respect of the following :
Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants                  17,015               24,767 
State funded grants                    7,465                 6,022 
Total grants received 24,480                30,789             

(a) Operating Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Financial Assistance Grants                  13,002               18,236 

Recurrent - State Government
Libraries                       315                    311 
Rural Access and Transport connection                       271                    263 
Cultural Services                       214                    214 
Municipal emergency                       155                      90 
Property Valuation                       154 (110)
Parks and Environmental services                       115                    108 
School crossing supervisors                       109                      75 
Fire Service Property Levy                         58                      56 
Senior citizens                         57                      55 
Environmental health                         54                      88 
Community support programs                         34                      39 
Other                         10                      10 
Total recurrent operating grants 14,548                19,435             

Non-recurrent - State Government
Community and Recreation facilities upgrade                    1,337                      13 
Community support programs                         26                      16 
Economic Development and Tourism                           5                      67 
Planning                           -                      90 
Natural disaster funding                           - (2)
Other                         50                        - 
Total non-recurrent operating grants 1,418                  184                  

Total operating grants 15,966                19,619             
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Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services
2018 2017

2.4 Funding from other levels of government (continued) $'000 $'000
(b) Capital Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Roads to recovery                    4,013                 6,531 
Total recurrent capital grants 4,013                  6,531               

Non-recurrent - State Government
Buildings                    2,025                 3,300 
Recreation and leisure community facilities                    1,187                    484 
Roads                       394                        - 
Other Infrastructure                       307                    460 
Parks, open space and streetscapes                       563                    334 
Plant, machinery and equipment                         16                      52 
Library Books                           9                        9 
Total non-recurrent capital grants 4,501                  4,639               

Total capital grants                    8,514               11,170 

(c) Unspent grants received on condition that they be spent in a specific manner
Balance at start of year 4,509                  5,919               
Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date 1,743                  1,186               
Received in prior years and spent during the financial year (1,715)                 (2,596)              
Balance at year end 4,537                  4,509               

2018 2017
2.5 Contributions $'000 $'000

Monetary                       939                    381 
Non-monetary                       790                 5,714 
Total contributions 1,729                  6,095               

Infrastructure                       625                 5,409 
Land                       160                    244 
Land under roads                           5                      61 

Total non-monetary contributions 790                     5,714               

Grant income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution. Control is normally obtained upon receipt (or acquittal) or
upon earlier notification that a grant has been secured.

Monetary and non monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over the contributed asset.

Contributions of non monetary assets were received in relation to the following asset classes.
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Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services
2018 2017

2.5 Contributions (continued) $'000 $'000

Unspent monetary contributions received on condition that they be spent in a
specific manner
Balance at start of year                         74                    117 
Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance sheet date                       492                      47 
Received in prior years and spent during the financial year                       (37)                    (90)
Balance at year end 529 74                    

2.6 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Proceeds of sale                    1,445                 1,078 
Written down value of assets disposed (4,608) (909)
Total net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (3,163) 169                  

2.7 Other income

Interest on Investments                    1,542 1,357               
Other rent                       933 1,010               
Recognition of Assets                       787 507                  
Donations                       774 725                  
Miscellaneous Income                       102 91                    
Insurance                         76 35                    
Interest on Debtors                         17 -                       
Total other income 4,231                  3,725               

The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has passed to the buyer.

Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when Council gains control over
the right to receive the income.

Interest is recognised as it is earned.
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Note 3 The cost of delivering services
2018 2017

3.1 Employee costs $'000 $'000

Wages and salaries                  19,618 19,874             
Superannuation                    2,012 2,060               
Casual staff                    1,821 1,621               
Other                       496 429                  
WorkCover                       392 392                  
Fringe benefits tax                       212 229                  
Total employee costs 24,551                24,605             

(b) Superannuation
Council made contributions to the following funds:

Defined benefit fund
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 154                     211                  
Employer contributions  - other funds -                          -                       

154                     211                  
Employer contributions payable at reporting date. -                          -                       

Accumulation funds
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 1,059                  1,163               
Employer contributions -  other funds 759                     625                  

1,818                  1,788               
Employer contributions payable at reporting date. -                          -                       

Refer to note 8.3 for further information relating to Council's superannuation obligations.

3.2 Materials and services

Contractors 14,240                13,224             
Materials 7,502                  6,851               
Contributions 2,668                  2,555               
Utility Payments 2,141                  1,907               
Insurances 975                     862                  
Authority Fees 939                     936                  
Consultants 415                     431                  
Legal Expenses 114                     150                  
Total materials and services 28,994                26,916             
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Note 3 The cost of delivering services
2018 2017

3.3 Depreciation and amortisation $'000 $'000

Infrastructure 14,473                16,611             
Property 4,037                  3,660               
Plant and Equipment 2,456                  2,334               
Total depreciation 20,966                22,605             
Intangible assets 1,290                  244                  
Total depreciation and amortisation 22,256                22,849             

3.4 Bad and doubtful debts
Rates debtors 86                       76                    
Infringements 2                         7                      
Total bad and doubtful debts 88                       83                    

Movement in provisions for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,460                  2,196               
New Provisions recognised during the year 26                       -                       
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible -                          (736)
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year -                          -                       
Balance at end of year 1,486                  1,460               

3.5 Borrowing costs

Interest - Borrowings 424                     513                  
Changes to Net Present Value due to interest rate movements (83) 57                    
Total borrowing costs 341                     570                  

3.6 Other expenses

Work in progress assets written off 309                     197                  
Councillors' allowances 303                     288                  
Operating lease rentals 270                     278                  
Derecognition of assets 246                     1,231               
Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the financial statements, performance statement
and grant acquittals

67                       56                    

Auditors' remuneration - Internal 40                       43                    
Total other expenses 1,235                  2,093               

Refer to note 4.2( c ) and 5.1 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and amortisation charges and accounting policy.

Provision for doubtful debt is recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred. Bad debts are written off 
when identified.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are capitalised as part of a 
qualifying asset constructed by Council.
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Note 4 Our financial position 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

4.1 Financial assets
(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 6                         5                      
Cash at bank 320                     464                  
Term deposits 51,220                44,917             
Total cash and cash equivalents 51,546                45,386             

(b) Other financial assets
Term deposits - current 20,783                16,431             
Term deposits - non-current -                          -                       
Total other financial assets 20,783                16,431             
Total financial assets 72,329                61,817             

- Trust funds and deposits (Note 4.3) 996                     991                  
- Other non discretionary reserves (Note 8.1) 1,596                  1,245               
Total restricted funds 2,592                  2,236               
Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 48,954                43,150             

Intended allocations

-Cash held to fund carried forward capital works/operating projects 6,080                  9,683               
-Cash held in relation to the Victoria Grants Commission advance to fund general operations
and roads works 

6,560                  6,219               

-Unexpended grants and contributions (Note 2.4 & 2.5) 5,066                  4,584               
-Discretionary reserve 6,410                  5,261               
Total funds subject to intended allocations 24,116                25,747             

Other financial assets are valued at fair value, at balance date. Term deposits are measured at original cost. Any unrealised gains and losses
on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or 
less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Council's cash and cash equivalents are subject to external restrictions that limit amounts available for discretionary use. These include:

Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific future purposes by Council:
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4.1 Financial assets (continued)
2018 2017

(c) Trade and other receivables $'000 $'000

Current
Statutory receivables

Rates debtors 3,350               3,532               
Special charge schemes 156                  41                    
Infringement and fire hazards 37                    31                    
Net GST receivable 697                  1,062               

Non statutory receivables
Government grants 956                  1,051               
Other debtors 837                  550                  
Waste management 473                  489                  
Provision for doubtful debts - other debtors -                       -                       

Total current trade and other receivables 6,506               6,756               
Non-current
Statutory receivables

Rates debtors  3,397               3,374               
Provision for doubtful debts (1,470)              (1,446)              
Special charge schemes 214                  180                  
Provision for doubtful debts - special charge scheme (2)                     (2)                     
Infringements and Fire Hazards 96                    90                    
Provision for doubtful debts - infringements (14)                   (12)                   

Total non-current trade and other receivables 2,221               2,184               
Total trade and other receivables 8,727               8,940               

(a) Ageing of Receivables

Current (not yet due) 2,161               1,141               
Past due by up to 30 days 27                    24                    
Past due between 31 and 180 days 77                    924                  
Past due between 181 and 365 days 1                      -                       
Total trade & other receivables 2,266               2,089               

(b) Ageing of individually impaired Receivables

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Short term receivables are carried at invoice amount. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that an 
impairment has occurred. Long term receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

The ageing of the Council's trade & other receivables (excluding statutory receivables) that are not impaired was:

At balance date, other debtors representing financial assets with a nominal value of Nil (2017: Nil) were impaired.

Included in the Provision for Doubtful Debts is an amount relating to land in inappropriate subdivisions mainly in the 90 Mile Beach area. 
Council has a significant number of rateable properties in these areas for which provision has been made for a total amount outstanding of 
$1,470,261 (2017: $1,446,433). A provision has been established as these properties are unable to be sold in order for Council to recover the 
debt.
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4.2 Non-financial assets 2018 2017
(a) Inventories $'000 $'000

Inventories held for sale 10                       -                           
Total inventories 10                       -                           

(b) Other assets

Prepayments 400                     353                       
Accrued income 1,217                  2,027                    
Total other assets 1,617                  2,380                    

(c) Intangible assets

Water rights -                          3                           
Software 93                       115                       
Landfill air space 2,196                  1,411                    
Total intangible assets 2,289                  1,529                    

Water Right Software Landfill Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 July 2017 17 1,433 2,521 3,971
Other Additions -                          28 2,056 2,084
Derecognition of Asset -                          -                           (34) (34)
Balance at 30 June  2018                        17                     1,461                 4,543                 6,021 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 July 2017 14 1,318 1,110 2,442
Amortisation expense 3 50 1,237 1,290
Balance at 30 June  2018                        17                     1,368                 2,347                 3,732 

Net book value at 30 June 2017                          3                        115                 1,411                 1,529 
Net book value at 30 June 2018                           -                          93                 2,196                 2,289 

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Inventories held for sale are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where inventories are acquired for no cost or nominal
consideration, they are measured at current replacement cost at the date of acquisition.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised as an expense on a systematic basis over the asset's useful life. Amortisation is generally
calculated on a straight line basis, at a rate that allocates the asset value, less any estimated residual value over its estimated useful life.
Estimates of the remaining useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed at least annually, and adjustments made where appropriate.
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Note 4 Our financial position
2018 2017

4.3 Payables $'000 $'000
(a) Trade and other payables

Trade payables 5,393                    8,514               
Accrued expenses 969                       995                  
Total trade and other payables 6,362                    9,509               

(b) Trust funds and deposits

Refundable deposits 270                       415                  
Fire services levy 157                       189                  
Retention amounts 370                       267                  
Other refundable deposits 199                       120                  
Total trust funds and deposits 996                       991                  

Purpose and nature of items

Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds until they are returned, transferred
in accordance with the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited. Trust funds that are forfeited, resulting in Council gaining control of the funds, are
to be recognised as revenue at the time of forfeit.

Refundable deposits - Deposits are taken by Council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including in relation to building
works, tender deposits, contract deposits and the use of civic facilities.

Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State Government. Council remits amounts received
on a quarterly basis.  Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the state government in line with that process.

Retention Amounts - Council has a contractual right to retain certain amounts until a contractor has met certain requirements or a related
warrant or defect period has elapsed. Subject to the satisfactory completion of the contractual obligations, or the elapsing of time, these
amounts will be paid to the relevant contractor in line with Council's contractual obligations.

Other Trust funds and deposits - Council holds in trust ticket sales for shows performed by third parties at The Wedge which are on
forwarded to performer on completion of the show.       
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Note 4 Our financial position

4.4 Interest-bearing liabilities 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Current
Borrowings - secured 289                       764                  

289                       764                  

Non-current
Borrowings - secured 7,603                    7,892               

7,603                    7,892               
Total 7,892                    8,656               

Borrowings are secured by Council rate income

(a) The maturity profile for Council's borrowings
is:

Not later than one year 289                       764                  
Later than one year and not later than five years 7,154                    7,155               
Later than five years 449                       737                  

7,892                    8,656               

4.5 Provisions
Employee Landfill 

restoration
Total

2018 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000
Balance at beginning of the financial year 6,175                  4,069                    10,244             
Additional provisions 2,371                  13,385                  15,756             
Amounts used (2,244)                 (853)                     (3,097)              
Change in the discounted amount arising
because of time and the effect of any change in
the discount rate (1)                        (83)                       (84)                   
Balance at the end of the financial year 6,301                  16,518                  22,819             

2017
Balance at beginning of the financial year 6,413                  2,489                    8,902               
Additional provisions 2,451                  1,765                    4,216               
Amounts used (2,384)                 (243)                     (2,627)              
Change in the discounted amount arising
because of time and the effect of any change in
the discount rate (305)                    58                         (247)                 
Balance at the end of the financial year 6,175                  4,069                    10,244             

Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the interest bearing liabilities, net of transaction costs. The measurement
basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on whether the Council has categorised its interest-bearing liabilities as either financial
liabilities designated at fair value through the profit and loss, or financial liabilities at amortised cost. Any difference between the initial
recognised amount and the redemption value is recognised in net result over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. The Council determines the classification of its
interest bearing liabilities at initial recognition.
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Note 4 Our financial position

4.5 Provisions (continued)
2018 2017

(a) Employee provisions $'000 $'000

Annual leave 1,358                    1,347               
Long service leave 576                       576                  

1,934                    1,923               

Annual leave 501                       412                  
Long service leave 3,448                    3,451               

3,949                    3,863               
Total current employee provisions 5,883                    5,786               

Non-current 
Long service leave 417                       387                  
Sick Leave Gratuity 1                           1                      
Total non-current employee provisions 418                       388                  

Current 5,883                    5,786               
Non-current 418                       388                  

6,301                    6,174               

Wages and salaries and annual leave

Key assumptions:
- discount rate % 2.647% 2.216%
- index rate % 3.875% 3.813%
- inflation rate % 2.30% 1.80%
- settlement rate 25 years 25 years

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 
months

Sick Leave Gratuity
A former entity of Wellington Shire Council had established a sick leave gratuity scheme which ceased at the end of September 1991. Under
the scheme, sick leave is payable to all ex-Shire employees and is not to exceed existing benefits as at the end of September 1991, using
remuneration rates current at the time of leaving. The employees are entitled to the sick leave gratuity upon their leaving the organisation.
The amount provided for appears as a non- current liability.

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 
months

Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:

Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions

Long service leave

The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at reporting date.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave expected to be wholly settled
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employee services up to the
reporting date, classified as current liabilities and measured at their nominal values.

Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee
benefits as current liabilities, measured at the present value of the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. LSL is measured at present value. Unconditional
LSL is disclosed as a current liability. Conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach a qualifying term of
employment, is disclosed as a non - current liability.
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4.5 Provisions (continued)
2018 2017

(b) Landfill Restoration $'000 $'000
Current -                          -                           
Non-current 16,518                4,069                    

16,518                4,069                    

Key assumptions:
- discount rate % 2.58% 2.55%
- index rate 2.30% 1.80%
- inflation rate % 3.00% 3.00%
- settlement rate 27 years 26 years
- estimated cost to rehabilitate 15.8 million 4.1 million

Summary of Provisions 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Employee 5,883                  5,786                    
Landfill Restoration -                          -                           
Total Current Provisions 5,883                  5,786                    

Employee 418                     388                       
Landfill Restoration 16,518                4,069                    
Total Non Current Provisions 16,936                4,457                    

Total Provisions 22,819                10,243                  

4.6 Financing arrangements

The Council has the following funding arrangements in place as at 30 June 2018.
Bank overdraft 200                     200                       
Credit card facilities 130                     130                       
Total facilities 330                     330                       

Used facilities 33                       42                         
Unused facilities 297                     288                       

The provision for the Longford landfill is based on the current maximum expected costs as currently determined by the Environment
Protection Authority (EPA).  Risk level negotiations continue with the EPA and are anticipated to be resolved in late 2018,    

Current 

Non Current

Council is obligated to restore the Kilmany, Longford, Maffra, Rosedale, Stratford and Yarram sites to a particular standard. The forecast life
of each site is based on current estimates of remaining capacity and the forecast rate of infill. The provision for landfill restoration has been
calculated based on the present value of the expected cost of works to be undertaken, derived from current contractual works undertaken in
2017/18. It has also has been estimated based on current understanding of work required to reinstate the site to a suitable standard.
Accordingly, the estimation of the provision required is dependent on the accuracy of the forecast timing of the work, work required and
related costs of ongoing monitoring.
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4.7 Commitments

2018
Not later than 1 

year

Later than 1 year 
and not later than 

2 years

Later than 2 
years and not 

later than 5 
years

Later than 5 
years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Operating
Waste management 4,506                  4,506                    -                   -                   9,012    
Health Services 988                     1,005                    -                   -                   1,993    
Animal pound & shelter service 253                     275                       -                   -                   528       
Valuation contract 110                     121                       -                   -                   231       
Software maintenance 312                     -                       -                   -                   312       
Litter bins 206                     -                       -                   -                   206       
L to P project 125                     -                       -                   -                   125       
Total 6,500                  5,907                    -                   -                   12,407  

Capital
Parks, open space and streetscapes 2,050                  -                       -                   -                   2,050    
Roads 1,571                  -                       -                   -                   1,571    
Footpaths & Cycleways 1,029                  -                       -                   -                   1,029    
Buildings 777                     -                       -                   -                   777       
Recreational leisure and community facilities 470                     -                       -                   -                   470       
Bridges 137                     -                       -                   -                   137       
Aerodromes 103                     -                       -                   -                   103       
Waste Management 24                       -                       -                   -                   24         
Total 6,161                  -                       -                   -                   6,161    

The Council has entered into the following commitments. Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at their 
nominal value and presented inclusive of the GST payable.
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4.7 Commitments (continued)

2017
Not later than 1 

year

Later than 1 year 
and not later than 

2 years

Later than 2 
years and not 

later than 5 
years

Later than 5 
years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Operating
Waste management 4,518                  4,518                    -                   -                   9,036    
Valuation contract 430                     211                       473                  -                   1,114    
Kilmany landfill remedial works 1,025                  -                       -                   -                   1,025    
Animal pound & shelter service 253                     253                       253                  -                   759       
V-Line pedestrian crossing (Raglan Street) 484                     -                       -                   -                   484       
Litter bins 206                     206                       -                   -                   412       
Software maintenance 279                     -                       -                   -                   279       
L to P project 125                     125                       -                   -                   250       
Tourist information centre 88                       -                       -                   -                   88         
West Sale and Wurruk industrial land supply strategy 78                       -                       -                   -                   78         
North Sale outline development plan 39                       -                       -                   -                   39         
Total 7,525                  5,313                    726                  -                   13,564  

Capital
Roads 5,354                  -                       -                   -                   5,354    
Buildings 3,948                  -                       -                   -                   3,948    
Landfill improvements 1,649                  -                       -                   -                   1,649    
Parks, open space and streetscapes 478                     -                       -                   -                   478       
Bridges 394                     -                       -                   -                   394       
Plant, machinery & equipment 229                     -                       -                   -                   229       
Waste management 41                       -                       -                   -                   41         
Total 12,093                -                       -                   -                   12,093  

2018 2017
Operating lease commitments $'000 $'000

Not later than one year 262                     254                       
Later than one year and not later than five years 450                     690                       
Later than five years 16                       -                       

728                     944                       

At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable operating leases for the lease of equipment and land and 
buildings for use within Council's activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities):

Lease payments for operating leases are required by the accounting standard to be recognised on a straight line basis, rather than expensed in the 
years in which they are incurred.
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5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Summary of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

At Fair Value 
30 June 2017 Additions Contributions Revaluation Depreciation Disposal Write-off Transfers

At Fair Value 30 
June 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Property 173,363 6,409 165 24,206 (4,037) (3,368) -                    8,569 205,307
Plant and equipment 12,693 3,510 -                    -                   (2,456) (639) -                    128 13,236
Infrastructure 650,336 15,353 625 8,549 (14,473) (1,109) -                    6,791 666,072
Work in progress 16,417 6,353 -                    -                   -                  -                  (309) (15,488) 6,973

852,809 31,625 790 32,755 (20,966) (5,116) (309) -                  891,588

Summary of Work in Progress  Opening WIP  Additions  Write-off  Transfers  Closing WIP 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Property 10,274 353 -                    (10,274) 353
Plant and equipment 196 10 (16) (179) 11
Infrastructure 5,947 5,990 (293) (5,035) 6,609
Total 16,417 6,353 (309) (15,488) 6,973

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
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5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)

(a) Property

 Land - 
specialised 

 Land 
improvements 

 Land Under 
Roads 

 Total Land & 
Land 

Improvements 

 Buildings - 
specialised 

 Total 
Buildings 

 Work In 
Progress  Total Property 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At fair value 1 July 2017 83,770             1,172                17,239              102,181 140,586          140,586 10,274              253,041
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017 -                  (785)                  -                    (785) (68,619)           (68,619) -                    (69,404)

83,770 387 17,239 101,396 71,967 71,967 10,274 183,637
Movements in fair value
Additions -                  1,048                11                     1,059 5,350              5,350              353                   6,762
Contributions 160                 -                    5                       165 -                  -                  -                    165
Revaluation 2,082               -                    22,124              24,206 -                  -                  -                    24,206
Disposal (613)                (1,172)               -                    (1,785)               (6,956)             (6,956)             -                    (8,741)             
Transfers -                  869                   -                    869                   7,700              7,700              (10,274)             (1,705)             

1,629 745 22,140 24,514 6,094 6,094 (9,921) 20,687
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation -                  (189)                  -                    (189)                 (3,848)             (3,848)             -                    (4,037)             
Accumulated depreciation of disposals -                  886                   -                    886                   4,487              4,487              -                    5,373               

-                  697                   -                    697                   639 639 -                    1,336

At fair value 30 June 2018 85,399             1,917                39,379              126,695 146,680          146,680 353                   273,728
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018 -                  (88)                    -                    (88) (67,980)           (67,980) -                    (68,068)

85,399 1,829 39,379 126,607 78,700 78,700 353 205,660
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5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)

(b) Plant and Equipment

Plant 
machinery and 

equipment

Fixtures fittings 
and furniture

Computers and 
telecomms Library books Art Works Work In 

Progress
Total plant and 

equipment

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At fair value 1 July 2017 11,492             2,756                4,458                3,278                3,478              196                 25,658
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017 (5,268)             (1,687)               (4,017)               (1,797)               -                  -                  (12,769)

6,224 1,069 441 1,481 3,478 196 12,889
Movements in fair value
Additions 1,947               1,171                94                     236                   62                   10                   3,520                
Disposal (1,874)             -                    -                    (282)                 -                  -                  (2,156)
Write-off -                  -                    -                    -                   -                  (16)                  (16)
Transfers 8                     120                   -                    -                   -                  (179)                (51)                    

81 1,291 94 (46) 62 (185) 1,297
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation (1,595)             (343)                  (273)                  (245)                 -                  -                  (2,456)               
Accumulated depreciation of disposals 1,235               -                    -                    282                   -                  -                  1,517                

(360) (343)                  (273)                  37                     -                  -                  (939)

At fair value 30 June 2018 11,573             4,047                4,552                3,232                3,540              11                   26,955
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018 (5,628)             (2,030)               (4,290)               (1,760)               -                  -                  (13,708)

5,945 2,017 262 1,472 3,540 11 13,247
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5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)

(c) Infrastructure

Roads Bridges Footpaths and 
cycleways Drainage

Recreational, 
leisure and 
community

Waste 
Management

Parks open 
spaces and 

streetscapes
Aerodromes Off street car 

parks
Other 

Infrastructure
Work In 

Progress
Total 

Infrastructure

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At fair value 1 July 2017 639,597           91,989              27,544              112,076            25,550            4,691              26,185              15,664             4,054                20,552             5,947             973,849
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017 (197,438)          (34,385)             (9,683)               (37,197)             (12,304)           (1,382)             (8,317)               (5,885)             (1,412)               (9,564)             -                 (317,567)

442,159 57,604 17,861 74,879 13,246 3,309 17,868 9,779 2,642 10,988 5,947 656,282
Movements in fair value
Additions 8,416               905                   1,806                363                   291                 198                 1,111                266                 182                   1,816               5,990             21,344
Contributions 204                 -                    269                   129                   23                   -                  -                    -                  -                    -                  -                 625
Revaluation 19                   15,201              -                    -                   -                  -                  -                    -                  -                    (1,999)             -                 13,221
Disposal (2,720)             (1,508)               (386)                  (132)                 (243)                -                  (150)                  -                  -                    (444)                -                 (5,583)
Write-off -                  -                    -                    -                   -                  -                  -                    -                  -                    -                  (293)               (293)
Transfers 1,679               2,218                1,755                523                   17                   303                 228                   -                  -                    68                   (5,035)            1,756                
Reclassification -                  -                    -                    -                   (412)                -                  342                   -                  (437)                  507                 -                 -                    

7,598 16,816 3,444 883 (324) 501 1,531 266 (255) (52) 662 31,070
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation (9,456)             (1,004)               (670)                  (1,119)               (606)                (127)                (763)                  (251)                (66)                    (411)                -                 (14,473)             
Accumulated depreciation of disposals 2,271               1,458                193                   49                     111                 -                  93                     -                  -                    299                 -                 4,474
Accumulated depreciation at Revaluation (17)                  (6,083)               -                    -                   -                  -                  -                    -                  -                    1,428               -                 (4,672)
Reclassification -                  -                    -                    -                   107                 -                  (61)                    -                  195                   (241)                -                 -                    

(7,202)             (5,629)               (477)                  (1,070)               (388)                (127)                (731)                  (251)                129                   1,075               -                 (14,671)             

At fair value 30 June 2018 647,195 108,805 30,988 112,959 25,226 5,192 27,716 15,930 3,799 20,500 6,609 1,004,919
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018 (204,640) (40,014) (10,160) (38,267) (12,692) (1,509) (9,048) (6,136) (1,283) (8,489) -                 (332,238)

442,555 68,791 20,828 74,692 12,534 3,683 18,668 9,794 2,516 12,011 6,609 672,681
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5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)

Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Other infrastructure
Intangible Assets
Landfill Airspace
Software

Off Street Car Parks
Recreational, leisure and community facilities
Waste management
Parks, open space and streetscapes
Aerodromes

 >$1,000 3 - 10 years

 >$5,000 

 All 

20 - 120 years

 All 

10 - 120 years
20 - 100 years
10 - 100 years
30 - 100 years

Indefinite

10 - 120 years

Bridges
Bridges - Concrete
Bridges - Timber
Floodways & Major Culverts
Footpaths and cycleways

4 - 38 Years

Pipes
Pump Wells
Other Drainage
Open Drain - Earth/Retention Basin
Structures

Pavement Gravel ( Local Access B & C)
Subgrade
Kerb & Channel
Road Drainage - Minor Culverts

IT, Furniture & Equipment
Infrastructure
Roads
Pavement - Concrete
Pavement  - Sealed

                                             -   

 >$10,000 

Pavement Gravel ( Local Access A & Above)

3 - 10 years
3 - 10 years

 >$1,000 
 >$3,000 

15 Years
100 Years
100 Years

Land

 All 

20 Years  All 

60 Years
100 Years

 All 

100 Years

10 Years  All 

 All 

 All 

 All 
 All 

 All 

Depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated.

Depreciation Period

4 years

20 - 100 years

 All 

 All 
 All 

 All 

 All 

 All 
 All 

Land Improvements
Buildings

Buildings

Plant and Equipment
Plant, Machinery and Equipment

Threshold Limit
$

Property

100 Years
70 Years
Indefinite

ASSET TYPE

60 Years
15 Years

100 Years

20 - 100 Years
20 Years
101 Years

Asphalt/Bitumen
Concrete/Paved
Gravel/Sand
Drainage
Pits

 All 
 All 

 All 

 >$5,000 
 >$5,000 
 >$5,000 
 >$5,000 
 >$5,000 
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Note 5 Assets WSC manage

5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)

Acquisition

Revaluation

Land and Land Under Roads 

Bridges

The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as consideration at the date of
acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset (or paid to
transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, borrowing costs incurred during
construction, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed  overheads.
In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset class and unless
otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year.

Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are measured at their fair value,
being the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. At balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to
ensure that each asset materially approximated its fair value. Where the carrying value materially differed from the fair value at balance date,
the class of asset was revalued.

Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy. Changes to the valuation hierarchy will only occur if an external
change in the restrictions or limitations of use on an asset result in changes to the permissible or practical highest and best use of the asset.
Further details regarding the fair value hierarchy are disclosed at Note 5.1  Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment.

In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging from two to five
years. The valuation is performed either by experienced council officers or independent experts.

As at 30 June 2018 Land and Land Under Road assets were revalued, resulting in a credit to the Asset Revaluation Reserve of $23.9 million.

Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve except to the extent that an
increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an expense in which case the increment is
recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense. Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior
increments are included in the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the
extent of the remaining increments. Within the same class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.

Bridge, major culvert and floodway assets were subject to a full revaluation at 31 December 2017, resulting in a credit to the Asset Revaluation 
Reserve of $9.1 million and a corresponding increase of $9.1 million to the Bridge assets. As a result of this increase, future depreciation will
increase by approximately $0.2 million per annum.
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Note 5 Assets WSC manage

5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)

Prior Year Newly Recognised/Derecognised Adjustments

Actual Reclassified Restated
Actual

2017 Newly 
recognised

Derecognised 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Property 
Land- Specialised 79,532             4,238                      -                       -   83,770
Landfill Improvements 387                   -                        -                       -   387
Land under Roads 17,239                   -                        -                       -   17,239
Buildings- specialised            71,967                   -                        -                       -   71,967
Work in Progress 10,274                   -                        -                       -   10,274
Total Property          179,399             4,238                        -                       -          183,637 
Plant & Equipment
Plant, Machinery and Equipment 6,224                   -                        -                       -   6,224
Fixtures, Fittings and Furniture 1,069                   -                        -                       -   1,069
Computers and Telecommunications 441                   -                        -                       -   441
Library Books 1,481                   -                        -                       -   1,481
Art Gallery 3,478                   -                        -                       -   3,478
Work in Progress 196                   -                        -                       -   196
Subtotal Plant & Equipment 12,889                     -                        -                       - 12,889
Infrastructure
Roads 442,159                   -                        -                       -   442,159
Bridges 57,472 132                      -                       -   57,604
Footpaths and Cycleways 17,788 73                      -                       -   17,861
Drainage 74,700 180                      -                       -   74,880
Recreational, Leisure and Community 13,246                   -                        -                       -   13,246
Waste Management 3,309                   -                        -                       -   3,309
Parks Open Space and Streetscapes 17,868                   -                        -                       -   17,868
Aerodromes 9,779                   -                        -                       -   9,779
Off Street Car Parks 2,642                   -                        -                       -   2,642
Other Infrastructure 10,988                   -                        -                       -   10,988
Work in Progress 5,947                   -                        -                       -   5,947
Subtotal Infrastructure 655,898 385                        -                       - 656,283

Property, Infrastructure, Plant and Equipment 848,186 4,623                        -                       - 852,809

During the year, as part of a continuous improvement focus, Council is able to use technology that allows better identification of assets 'as
built'. In addition, information flow from officers in the field conveys more accurate data to Asset Managers as variances are discovered. These
variances resulted in assets being recognised and derecognised in the Council's asset register and are deemed to be prior year errors which
have been retrospectively adjusted to equity against prior year opening balances. 
A third balance sheet has not been presented to disclose these prior year errors as they were considered not material to the comparative
amounts included within the Balance Sheet.

Prior year adjustments
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Note 5 Assets WSC manage

5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)

Land under roads
Council recognises land under roads it controls at fair value.  

Depreciation and amortisation

Repairs and maintenance

Valuation of land and buildings 

Level 1   
$'000

Level2   
$'000

Level 3     
$'000

Date of 
Valuation

Specialised land                   -                     -   85,399 30/06/2018
Land under roads                   -                     -   39,379 30/06/2018
Land Improvements                   -                     -   1,829 06/2016
Specialised buildings                   -   78,700 07/2015
Total                   -                     -   205,307 

Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold the cost is
capitalised and depreciated.  The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed. 

Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year.
Depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated.

Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure, and other assets having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated
over their useful lives to the Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets. Estimates of
remaining useful lives and residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset classes reassessed annually. Depreciation rates and
methods are reviewed annually.

Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned distinct useful
lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component.

Details of the Council’s  land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018 are as follows:

Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having a limited useful life.

The general rates revaluation was undertaken by a qualified independent valuer Jonathan Barnett Registered Valuer No 63207, the valuation
of land was derived from the data supplied from the general rates revaluation and applied at 30 June 2018. Valuation of buildings were
undertaken by a qualified independent valuer APV Valuers & Asset Management - Lachlan Black Registered Valuer No 2913. The valuation
of land and buildings is at fair value, being market value based on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. Where
land use is restricted through existing planning provisions the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation. This adjustment is an unobservable
input in the valuation.  The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.  

Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or unserviced) characteristics, access rights
and private interests of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure assets and services. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the
valuation.  The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.

Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a significant impact on the fair value of these
assets.
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Note 5 Assets WSC manage

5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)
Valuation of infrastructure

Level 1   
$'000

Level2   
$'000

Level 3     
$'000

Date of 
Valuation

Roads                   -   -                442,555 1/07/2017
Bridges                   -   -                68,791 31/12/2017
Footpaths and cycleways                   -   -                20,828 1/07/2017
Drainage                   -   -                74,692 30/06/2015
Off street car parking                   -   -                2,516 1/07/2015
Aerodromes                   -   -                9,794 1/07/2015
Parks, open space and streetscapes                   -   1,056 17,612 1/07/2015
Recreational leisure and community                   -   183 12,351 1/07/2015
Waste Management 355 3,328 1/07/2015
Other infrastructure                   -   1,122 10,889 1/07/2015
Total                   -   2,716 663,356 

Infrastructure assets are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost. Significant unobservable inputs include the current
replacement cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure. The remaining useful lives of infrastructure assets are determined on the basis
of the current condition of the asset and vary from 10 years to indefinite. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with
any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of infrastructure are sensitive to changes in use, expectations or
requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of infrastructure assets.

Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations

The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of valuation.

Details of the Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as  at 30 June 2018 are as follows:

Valuation of infrastructure assets (roads, bridges, footpaths and drainage) has been determined in accordance with a valuation undertaken by
Council Officer Mr Chris Hastie B.Eng (Civil), Gcert Mgt. 

Valuation of infrastructure assets (recreational, leisure and community facilities, waste management, parks, open space and streetscapes,
aerodromes and other Infrastructure) has been determined in accordance with an independent valuation undertaken by APV Valuers & Asset
Management - Lachlan Black Registered Valuer No 2913 and Damon Griggs Registered Valuer No 3204.

Specialised land and land under roads is valued using a market based direct comparison technique. Significant unobservable inputs
include the extent and impact of restriction of use and the market cost of land per square metre. The extent and impact of restrictions on use
varies and results in a reduction to surrounding land values between 5% and 95%. The market value of land varies significantly depending on
the location of the land and the current market conditions. Currently land values range between $0.05 and $18,147.88 per square metre and
land under roads values range between $0.16 and $3.12 per square metre.   

Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique. Significant unobservable inputs include the current
replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings. Current replacement costs are comprised of a square metre basis ranging from $357
to $4,437 per square metre. The remaining useful lives of buildings are determined on the basis of the current condition of buildings and vary
from 1 year to 100 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through
to the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to changes in expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the
useful lives of buildings.
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5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)
2018 2017

Reconciliation of specialised land $'000 $'000
Parks/Open space/Streetscapes 46,612 44,956 
Recreation, leisure & community facilities 27,603 27,908 
Off-street car parks 5,559 5,559 
Aerodromes 1,635 1,915 
Waste management 1,873 1,606 
Other infrastructure - Piers/Jetties/Caravan parks/Markets/Saleyard 1,356 1,033 
Drainage 761 793 
Total specialised land 85,399 83,770

2018 2017
ADJUSTMENTS DIRECTLY TO EQUITY $'000 $'000

Reversal of revalued components of assets disposed or written off (transfer from asset revaluation reserve to accumulated surplus).
Roads, Streets, Drainage, Bridges & Culverts (990)                1,750
Buildings & Structures 1812 137
Land (44)                  -                  

778 1,887
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Note 6 People and relationships

6.1 Council and key management remuneration

(a) Key Management Personnel (KMP)

These events result in the following numbers of KMP's being disclosed:
Councillors  being 9 at the beginning of the year and 1 newly elected during the year as detailed below.
Non- Councillors - 1

Councillors Councillor Carolyn Crossley - Mayor (1/07/17 - 30/06/18)
Councillor Darren McCubbin (1/07/17 - 30/06/18) 
Councillor Scott Rossetti (1/7/17 - 30/06/18)
Councillor Malcolm Hole (1/7/17 - 30/06/18)
Councillor Ian Bye (1/7/17 - 30/06/18)
Councillor Alan Hall (1/7/17 - 30/06/18)
Councillor Gayle Maher (1/7/17 - 30/06/18)
Councillor Garry Stephens (1/7/17 - 30/06/18)
Councillor Keith Mills (1/7/17 - 8/11/17) - resigned 
Councillor Carmel Ripper (21/11/17 - 30/06/18)

2018 2017
No. No.

Total Number of Councillors 10                    14                          
Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel 5                      5                            
Total Key Management Personnel 15                    19                          

(b) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:
Short-term benefits 1,451               1,393                     
Long-term benefits 290                  279                        
Termination benefits -                       -                             
Total 1,741               1,672                     

Councillor Keith Mills resigned in November 2017 and was replaced by Councillor Carmel Ripper following a count back conducted by the
Victorian Electoral Commission.

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Details of persons holding the position of Councillor or other members of key management personnel at any time during the year are:

Wellington Shire Council has a CEO and 4 General Managers. Along with 9 councillors this makes a total of 14 KMP positions.
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Note 6 People and relationships
6.1 Council and key management remuneration (continued)

2018 2017
No. No.

1                      6                            
1                      4                            
7                      2                            
-                       1                            
-                       1                            
1                      -                             
3                      4                            
1                      

$300,000 - $309,999 1                      1                            
15                    19                          

(c) Senior Officer Remuneration

The number of Senior Officers are shown below in their relevant income bands:
2018 2017

No. No.
1                      1                            
-                       -                             
1                      -                             
-                       1                            
2                      2                            

$'000 $'000
333                  334                        

6.2 Related party disclosure

The aggregate amount of commitments  in existence at balance date that have been made, guaranteed or secured by the council was Nil 
(2016/17 Nil).     

The aggregate amount of loans in existence at balance date that have been made, guaranteed or secured by the council to a related party was 
Nil (2016/17 Nil).     

$60,000 - $69,999

(c) Loans to/from related parties

A Senior Officer is an officer of Council, other than Key Management Personnel, who: 
a) has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief Executive; or
b) whose total annual remuneration exceeds $145,000

Income Range:
$150,000 - $159,999

$80,000 - $89,999

$180,000 - $189,999

$160,000 - $169,999

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties 

(d) Commitments to/from related parties

(a) Transactions with related parties 

Total Remuneration for the reporting year for Senior Officers included above, amounted to

The balance outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with related parties was Nil (2016/17 Nil).

The number of key management personnel whose total remuneration from Council and any 
related entities, fall within the following bands:

$1 - $9,999
$10,000 - $19,999
$20,000 - $29,999
$40,000 - $49,999

$200,000 - $209,999

During the period Council entered into a number of transactions with related parties of KMP's  or their close family members. These transactions 
occurred within normal commercial terms and conditions and included $77,000 to the Municipal Association of Victoria for membership and 
other services. Payments of $28,000 for production of shows at The Wedge and $47,000 for various other minor transactions with a number of 
suppliers. Council also contributed a total of $77,000 for community grants, operating subsidies  to various community groups where KMP's or 
close family members held positions on the board or committee.      

$210,000 - $219,999

$170,000 - $179,999
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Note 7 Managing uncertainties

7.1 Contingent assets and liabilities

2018 2017
$'000 $'000

(a) Contingent assets

Non cash contributions expected to be received in respect of subdivision and gifted 
assets are as follows:

Developer contributions 425 1039
Total Contingent Assets 425 1039

(b) Contingent liabilities
Superannuation

Future superannuation contributions

Council's estimated liability with respect to contingent items is as follows:
2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Bank Guarantees 934                     934                     
Loan Guarantees 20                       25                       
Total Bank Guarantees 954                     959                     

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

In addition to the disclosed contributions, Wellington Shire Council has paid unfunded liability payments to Vision Super totalling $Nil during
2017/18 (2016/17 $Nil). There were $Nil contributions outstanding and $Nil loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 30 June 2018. The
expected contributions to be paid to the Defined Benefit category of Vision Super for the year ending 30 June 2019 are $311,191.

Wellington Shire Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make additional
contributions to the scheme, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined in Note 8.3. As a result of the volatility in financial markets the
likelihood of making such contributions in future periods exists. At this point in time it is not known if additional contributions will be required, their
timing or potential amount.    

Council has also guaranteed a loan taken out by a community group, to undertake significant capital works to the Club's facilities that are located
on Council land.     

(c) Guarantees for loans to other entities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed and if quantifiable, are measured at
nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable, respectively.
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Note 7 Managing uncertainties

7.2

Financial Instruments - Disclosures (AASB 7) (applies 2018/19)

Financial Instruments (AASB 9) (applies 2018/19)

Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 1058 ) (applies 2019/20)

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 2016-7) (applies 2019/20)
This Standard defers the mandatory effective date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities from 1 January 2018 to 1 January 2019.

This Standard requires entities to provide disclosures in their financial statements that enable users to evaluate: (a) the significance of financial
instruments for the entity’s financial position and performance; and (b) the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the
entity is exposed.

The key changes include the simplified requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, a new hedging accounting model and
a revised impairment loss model to recognise impairment losses earlier, as opposed to the current approach that recognises impairment only when
incurred.

This standard replaces AASB 1004 Contributions and establishes revenue recognition principles for transactions where the consideration to acquire
an asset is significantly less than fair value to enable to not-for-profit entity to further its objectives.

The standard shifts the focus from the transaction-level to a contract-based approach. Recognition is determined based on what the customer
expects to be entitled to (rights and obligations), while measurement encompasses estimation by the entity of the amount expected to be entitled
for performing under the contract. The full impact of this standard is not known however it is most likely to impact where contracts extend over
time, where there are rights and obligations that may vary the timing or amount of the consideration, or where there are multiple performance
elements. This has the potential to impact on the recognition of certain grant income. 

Change in accounting standards

Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15) (applies 2019/20 for LG sector)

Leases (AASB 16) (applies 2019/20)
The classification of leases as either finance leases or operating leases is eliminated for lessees. Leases will be recognised in the Balance Sheet
by capitalising the present value of the minimum lease payments and showing a ‘right-of-use’ asset, while future lease payments will be
recognised as a financial liability. The nature of the expense recognised in the profit or loss will change. Rather than being shown as rent, or as
leasing costs, it will be recognised as depreciation on the ‘right-of-use’ asset, and an interest charge on the lease liability. The interest charge will
be calculated using the effective interest method, which will result in a gradual reduction of interest expense over the lease term.

The following new AAS's have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018 reporting period. Council has assessed these pending
standards and has identified the following potential impacts will flow from the application of these standards in future reporting periods.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Note 7 Managing uncertainties

7.3 Financial instruments
(a)  Objectives and policies

(b) Market risk

Interest rate risk

 - diversification of investment product;
 - monitoring of return on investment; and
 - benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.

Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the Council's year end result.

(c) Credit risk

 -Council has a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities Council deal with; 
 -Council may require collateral where appropriate; and

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause Council to make a financial
loss. Council has exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in the balance sheet. To help manage this risk:

Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and government sectors. Credit risk associated with
the Council's financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is secured by a charge over the rateable property. 

 -Council only invests surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in council's investment policy.

Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as when Council provide a guarantee
for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in Note 7.1(b).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. Council does not hold any collateral.

The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding statutory receivables), payables
(excluding statutory payables) and bank borrowings. Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset,
financial liability and equity instrument is disclosed in the Notes of the financial statements. Risk management is carried out by senior
management under policies approved by the Council. These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure to Council and
appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of council financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
The Council's exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to other price risks and no exposure to
foreign currency risk. 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in market interest rates. Council's interest rate liability risk arises primarily from long term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which exposes
Council to fair value interest rate risk. Council does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, and
therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Council has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its cash and
deposits that are at floating rates. 

Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989 . Council manages interest rate
risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures:

There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing interest rate risk or the 
methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.
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7.3 Financial instruments (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

To help reduce these risks Council:
 - has a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained;
 - has readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place;
 - has a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid instruments;
 - monitors budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and
 - sets limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal repayments to rate revenue.

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

(e) Sensitivity disclosure analysis

 - A parallel shift of 0% and +0.5% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 2.5%.

7.4 Fair value measurement

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets,
Council believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months:

These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and liabilities, nor will they have a material impact on the
results of Council's operations.

With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade. Details of the maturity profile for
borrowings are disclosed at Note 4.4.

Fair value hierarchy
Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, Council's financial assets and liabilities are measured
at amortised cost. 

Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by Australian Accounting Standards. AASB 13 Fair value
measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement
and disclosure requirements for use across Australian Accounting Standards.

AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. Fair value under AASB 13 is an exit price regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within a fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of
the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of Council's operational liquidity requirements it will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction when
required or will be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset.

The Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed on the face of the balance sheet and the
amounts related to financial guarantees disclosed in Note 7.1(c), and is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and current assessment of risk.

There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing liquidity risk or the methods used to
measure this risk from the previous reporting period.
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Note 7 Managing uncertainties

7.4 Fair value measurement (continued)
Revaluation

Impairment of assets

7.5 Events occurring after balance date 
No matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report.

At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have been
impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the comprehensive
income statement, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation
surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same
class of asset.

Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are measured at their fair value, being the
price that would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
At balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to ensure that each asset materially
approximated its fair value.  Where the carrying value materially differed from the fair value at balance date, the class of asset was revalued.

Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy. Changes to the valuation hierarchy will only occur if an external change in
the restrictions or limitations of use of an asset result in changes to the permissible or practical highest and best use of the asset. In addition, Council
undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging from two to five years. The valuation is performed
either by experienced council officers or independent experts.

Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve except to the extent that an increment
reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up
to the amount of the expense. Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments are included in the asset
revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments. Within the same
class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.
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Note 8 Other matters

8.1 Reserves

Balance at
beginning of 

reporting period

Prior Year 
Adjustment Increment 

(decrement)

Balance at end 
of reporting 

period
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(a) Asset revaluation reserves
2018
Property
Land & land improvements 73,499                       -                                 1,743                         75,242             
Land under roads -                                 -                                 22,124                       22,124             
Buildings 70,390                       417                            826                            71,633             

143,889                     417                            24,693                       168,999           
Infrastructure
Roads 326,870                     -                                 39                              326,909           
Bridges 17,781                       -                                 8,090                         25,871             
Footpaths 14,272                       -                                 49                              14,321             
Drainage 35,787                       -                                 (51)                             35,736             

394,710                     -                                 8,127                         402,837           

Other 
Art Gallery Stock 2,501                         -                                 -                                 2,501               

Total asset revaluation reserves 541,100                     417                            32,820                       574,337           

2017
Property
Land & land improvements 74,202                       -                             (703)                           73,499             
Buildings 71,955                       (1,430)                        (135)                           70,390             

146,157                     (1,430)                        (838)                           143,889           
Infrastructure
Roads 381,338                     -                                 (54,468)                      326,870           
Bridges 18,166                       -                                 (385)                           17,781             
Footpaths 22,981                       -                                 (8,709)                        14,272             
Drainage 36,099                       -                                 (312)                           35,787             

458,584                     -                                 (63,874)                      394,710           

Other 
Art Gallery Stock 2,501                         -                                 -                                 2,501               

Total asset revaluation reserves 607,242                     (1,430)                        (64,712)                      541,100           

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time.

48 of 52

197WELLINGTON SHIRE COUNCIL  /  ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

Agenda - Ordinary Meeting 16 October 2018 244



Wellington Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Note 8 Other matters 

8.1 Reserves (continued)

Balance at
beginning of 

reporting period
Increment 

(decrement)
Balance at end of 
reporting period

2018 $'000 $'000 $'000
(b) Other reserves
2018
Discretionary reserves
Asset improvement 357                            693                            1,050                         
Plant replacement 605                            49                              654                            
Waste management 4,299                         407                            4,706                         
Total discretionary reserves 5,261                         1,149                         6,410                         

Non discretionary reserves
Recreational land 486                            43                              529                            
Infrastructure contributions 13                              43                              56                              
Art gallery acquisition 4                                (3)                               1                                
Art gallery contribution -                                 32                              32                              
Leased property improvements 742                            236                            978                            
Total Non Discretionary reserves 1,245                         351                            1,596                         
Total Other reserves 6,506                         1,500                         8,006                         

2017
Discretionary Reserves
Asset Improvement 45                              312                            357                            
Plant Replacement 743                            (138)                           605                            
Waste Management  4,870                         (571)                           4,299                         
Total Discretionary Reserves                          5,658                            (397)                          5,261 

Non discretionary reserves
Recreational land 355                            131                            486                            
Infrastructure contributions -                                 13                              13                              
Art gallery acquisition 2                                2                                4                                
Art gallery contribution 35                              (35)                             -                                 
Leased property improvements 649                            93                              742                            
Total Non Discretionary reserves 1,041                         204                            1,245                         
Total Other reserves 6,699                         (193)                           6,506                         
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Note 8 Other matters 

8.1 Reserves (continued)

Purpose of Reserves
Discretionary Reserves
Asset Improvement

Plant Replacement

Waste Management 

Non Discretionary Reserves
Recreational Land

Infrastructure Contributions

Art Gallery Acquisition

Art Gallery Contributions

Leased Property Improvements

2018 2017
8.2 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus $'000 $'000

Surplus for the year 7,957                         26,106                       

Depreciation/amortisation 22,256                       22,849                       
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 3,163                         (169)                           
Contributions - Non-monetary assets (790)                           (5,714)                        
Borrowing costs 342                            516                            
Other (2,289)                        (278)                           

Change in assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 213                            (1,290)                        
Decrease/(increase) in other assets 763                            (1,405)                        
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (3,147)                        4,831                         
Increase in other liabilities 5                                362                            
(Increase) in inventories (10)                             -                                 
Increase in provisions 12,576                       1,585                         

Net cash provided by operating activities 41,039                       47,393                       

Reserve is to fund future approved art gallery acquisitions.

Reserve is to fund future specific major art gallery exhibitions.

Reserve to fund future works on leased properties in accordance with Crown Land Act.

Reserve to fund capital improvements.

Reserve is to fund future purchases of major plant and equipment.

Reserve is to fund the establishment of recycling and transfer stations and an increase in landfill capacity in the future.

Reserve to fund future open space facilities as per Section 18 of Subdivision Act.

Reserve is an accumulation of developer contributions which are to be expended at a future date on infrastructure. 
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8.3 Superannuation

Accumulation

Defined Benefit

 
Funding arrangements

Net investment returns 6.5% pa
Salary information 3.5% pa
Price inflation (CPI) 2.5% pa.

The VBI is to be used as the primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100%, the 30 June 2017 actuarial
investigation determined the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no change was
necessary to the Defined Benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years.

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Wellington Shire Council makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the
Trustee on the advice of the Fund's Actuary.      

As at 30 June 2017, a full triennial actuarial investigation was completed. The vested benefit index (VBI) of the Defined Benefit
category of which Council is a contributing employer was 103.1%. To determine the VBI, the Fund Actuary used the following
long-term assumptions:

Vision Super has advised that the actual VBI at end of June 2018 was 106.0%. 

The Wellington Shire Council makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to
the Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and
defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense in
the Comprehensive Income Statement when they are made or due.     

The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receive both employer and employee contributions
on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (for the year
ended 30 June 2018, this was 9.5% as required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation).   

Wellington Shire Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's Defined
Benefit category. This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan.     
There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating employers as the
defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that the aggregate
obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. As a result, the level of participation of Council in the Fund
cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating employers. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is unable to
allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 119.
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Note 8 Other matters 

8.3 Superannuation (continued)
Employer contributions
Regular contributions

Funding calls

2017 triennial actuarial investigation surplus amounts

A VBI surplus of $69.8 million
A total service liability surplus of $193.5 million. 
A discounted accrued benefits surplus of $228.8 million. 

2018 interim actuarial investigation
An interim actuarial investigation will be conducted for the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2018. It is anticipated that this
actuarial investigation will be completed in December 2018.

On the basis of the results of the 2017 triennial actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary, Council makes
employer contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee. For the year ended
30 June 2018, this rate was 9.5% of members' salaries (9.5% in 2016/2017). This rate will increase in line with any increases
in the SG contribution rate. In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits paid as a consequence
of retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement benefit.

If the Defined Benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at an actuarial investigation or the Defined Benefit
category‘s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial investigation, the Defined Benefit
category has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is required to put a plan in place so that the shortfall is fully
funded within three years of the shortfall occurring. The Fund monitors its VBI on a quarterly basis and the Fund has set its
shortfall limit at 97%. 

In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, the Fund’s participating
employers (including Council) are required to make an employer contribution to cover the shortfall. Using the agreed
methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on the pre-1 July 1993 and post-
30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s Defined Benefit category, together with the employer’s payroll at 30 June 1993
and at the date the shortfall has been calculated. 

Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and that the Fund includes
lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound up. If there is a surplus in the
Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers. In the event that a participating employer is wound-up, the
defined benefit obligations of that employer will be transferred to that employer’s successor.

The Fund’s triennial investigation as at 30 June 2017 identified the following in the defined benefit category of which Council is
a contributing employer:

The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit obligations exceed the vested
benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited on 30 June 2017. Council was
notified of the 30 June 2017 VBI during August 2017.
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Sale Service Centre - Council Headquarters
18 Desailly Street (PO BOX 506), Sale VIC 3850

Operating Hours: Monday to Friday 8.30am - 5.00pm
Telephone: 1300 366 244
Email: enquiries@wellington.vic.gov.au

Yarram Service Centre
156 Grant Street, Yarram VIC 3971

Operating Hours: Monday, Tuesday, Thursday, Friday 10.00am - 2.00pm (Closed Wednesday)
Telephone: (03) 5182 5100

www.wellington.vic.gov.au
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ITEM C3.1 QUARTERLY STRATEGIC LAND USE PLANNING UPDATE 
DIVISION: DEVELOPMENT 
ACTION OFFICER: MANAGER LAND USE PLANNING 
DATE: 16 OCTOBER 2018 
 

IMPACTS 
Financial Communication Legislative Council 

Policy 
Council 

Plan 
Resources 

& Staff 
Community Environmental Engagement Risk 

Management 

 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓   ✓   
 
OBJECTIVE 
 
To update Council on the strategic land use planning work program for the third quarter (July – 
September) of 2018. 
 
 
PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS FROM THE GALLERY 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The strategic land use planning work program is regularly reviewed by Council’s Strategic Land 
Use Planning Projects Review Group (Review Group), which was appointed by Council at the 
Special Council meeting of 6 December 2016.  The Review Group considered it beneficial to 
provide Council and the community with a quarterly update of the strategic land use planning work 
program, which comprises various prioritised projects and planning scheme amendments as 
outlined in Attachment 1.  
 
 
OPTIONS 
 
That Council: 
 
1. receive the 2018 third quarterly update on the strategic land use planning work program; or 

 
2. not receive the 2018 third quarterly update on the strategic land use planning work program 

and seek further information for consideration at a future Council meeting. 
 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
To receive the 2018 third quarterly update on the strategic land use planning work program. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council receive the 2018 third quarterly update on the strategic land use planning 
work program (included in Attachment 1 to this report). 
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
No staff and/or contractors involved in the compilation of this report have declared a Conflict of 
Interest. 
 
 
LEGISLATIVE IMPACT 
 
All strategic land use planning matters are considered in accordance with the Planning and 
Environment Act 1987 and/or any relevant legislation. 
 
 
COUNCIL PLAN IMPACT 
 
The Council Plan 2017–2021 Theme 2: Services and Infrastructure states the following strategic 
objective and related strategies: 
 
 Strategic Objective 2.3 

‘Wellington Shire is well planned, considering long term growth and sustainability.’ 
  

Strategy 2.3.1  
‘Continue to provide strategic planning to encourage long term growth and sustainability in 
Wellington Shire.’ 
 
Strategy 2.3.2 
‘Ensure sufficient land supply to provide for a range of lifestyle options which support 
housing diversity including affordable housing.’ 
 
Strategy 2.3.3 
‘Recognise and advocate for best practice land development which considers energy 
efficiency and sustainability for housing.’  

 
This Report supports the above Council Plan strategic objective and strategies. 
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ATTACHMENT 1 

Current Strategic Land Use Planning Projects 
North Sale Development Plan & Developer Contributions Plan  
Priority: High      Anticipated completion: 18/19 
 

Status 

The ‘North Sale Development Plan’ (Development Plan) was formally adopted by Council 
at its meeting of 17 April 2018 and will facilitate the coordinated and integrated growth of 
294 hectares of land within the nominated growth area to the north of Sale over the next 
15 – 20 years. 
 
The final Development Plan is available to view electronically on Council’s website and in 
hard copy at the Shire offices at 18 Desailly Street, Sale. 
 
Detailed work is currently underway to prepare the associated developer contributions 
mechanism, which will seek to equitably apportion the costs associated with the required 
infrastructure provision across the developable land within the growth area. 
 
West Sale and Wurruk Industrial Land Supply Strategy 
Priority: High      Completed 
 

Status 

The ‘West Sale and Wurruk Industrial Land Supply Strategy (April 2018)’, (the Strategy) 
was formally adopted by Council at its meeting of 19 June 2018. The Strategy includes a 
recommendation to rezone land adjacent to the West Sale Airport (Candidate Area 2) for 
industrial uses.  
Work is currently underway to prepare a Planning Scheme Amendment (C103) to facilitate 
the rezoning of the land and apply detailed planning controls to manage the potential 
impacts of future development on nearby sensitive uses.  
Grant funding to the amount of $80,000 has been successfully secured from the Victorian 
Planning Authority under the ‘Streamlining for Growth’ initiative to assist in the preparation 
of technical reports to support the detailed master planning of Candidate Area 2. 
 

Wellington Land Use and Development Strategy (LUDS) 
Priority: High     Completed 
 

Status 

The ‘Land Use Development Strategy’, (LUDS) provides an (informal) overarching 
framework to assist in coordinating future land use and development across the Shire, 
whilst supporting the relevant strategies and objectives of the Council Plan 2017-2021 and 
Wellington 2030.   
Detailed background research work has been completed for future consideration as part of 
the State Government’s ‘Planning in the Economic Growth Zone’ initiative (see below). 
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Planning in the Economic Growth Zone (PEGZ) 
Priority: High     Anticipated completion: 18/19 
 

Status 
The ‘Economic Growth Zone’ (EGZ) was established in November 2016 as part of a $226 
million package to help boost the local economy of the Latrobe Valley following a general 
downturn in economic conditions.  
 
The EGZ encompasses Wellington Shire; Latrobe City and Baw Baw Shire. The ‘Planning 
in the Economic Growth Zone’, (PEGZ) initiative comprises a series of projects that 
constitute the town planning response to the Minister for Planning’s declaration of the 
EGZ. 

 
The PEGZ projects aim to support economic development through a simpler, more 
consistent and less cumbersome planning system across the region.  
 
Mesh planning consultants are currently leading ‘Project 1’, which involves a ‘policy 
neutral’ review of the Wellington Planning Scheme and will deal with matters which will be 
able to be supported by the Minister for Planning without the need to formally exhibit a 
Planning Scheme Amendment.  
 
Port of Sale East Bank Redevelopment Study 
Priority: High      Anticipated completion: 18/19 

Status 
The ‘Port of Sale East Bank Redevelopment Study’, (the Study) aims to investigate the 
strategic land use opportunities and associated planning provisions required to guide the 
redevelopment of land located on the eastern side of the Port of Sale, being land formerly 
occupied by the Sale High School and Specialist School. 
 
Detailed background work on the Study is expected to commence in November 2018. 
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Council Planning Scheme Amendments 
C99:  Updated Flood Mapping 
Priority: High       Anticipated Completion: 19/20 

Status 
Council officers, in consultation with the West and East Gippsland Catchment 
Management Authorities, are undertaking background work to update flood overlay 
controls in flood prone areas of the municipality, to better reflect the best available flood 
information.  
Subject to formal Council consideration (and subsequent Ministerial Authorisation being 
granted), public exhibition timeframes are tentatively anticipated to be commenced in early 
2019. 

C100: Yarram Butter Factory 
Priority: High        Anticipated completion: 18/19                           

Status 
Amendment C100 seeks to rectify a technical anomaly within the Wellington Planning 
Scheme to correctly apply the Heritage Overlay to the former Yarram Butter Factory. 
 
With landowner agreement, the relevant Planning Scheme Amendment documents have 
been prepared and forwarded to the Minister for Planning for consideration for approval. 

C103: West Sale Industrial Land  
Priority: High     Anticipated Completion: 19/20 

Status 
Following the formal adoption of the ‘West Sale and Wurruk Industrial Land Supply 
Strategy (April 2018)’ at the Council meeting of 19 June 2018, work has now commenced 
on the preparation of Planning Scheme Amendment documentation to support the 
rezoning of land immediately adjacent to the West Sale Airport. 
Amendment C103 will facilitate industrial uses on the land and the application of detailed 
planning controls to manage the potential impacts of future development on nearby 
sensitive uses. 
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Private Planning Scheme Amendments 
C94:  Rezoning of the former Sale Police Station Site 
Priority: High      Completed 
 

Status 
At the request of the Department of Justice, the former Sale Police Station (located on the 
South Gippsland Highway) was rezoned from the Public Use Zone to the Residential 
Growth Zone to facilitate its sale as a surplus asset to the Department’s needs. 
A formal Notice of Approval of the rezoning appeared in the Government Gazette on 
14 January 2016. 
 
The State Government continues to seek to resolve the issue of the removal of Native 
Title on the site, which currently prevents the sale of the land for development purposes. 
 
C101: Princes Highway Rezoning 
Priority: Low      Completed 
 

Status 
Amendment C101 was formally approved by the Minister for Planning on 16 August 2018.  
 
The Amendment deleted the Public Acquisition Overlay (PAO1) and rezoned land to Road 
Zone Category 1 from east of Wrights Lane, Flynn, to east of Maffra Rosedale Road, 
Kilmany, in association with the Princes Highway duplication project. 
 
 
C104: Removal of the State Resource Overlay from land at Gormandale 
Fauna Reserve 
Priority: High      Anticipated completion: 18/19 

Status 
Amendment C104 has been prepared by the Department of Environment, Land, Water 
and Planning. 
 
The Minister for Planning has agreed to a request from the Resource Minister to consider 
a s20(4) Amendment to the Wellington Planning Scheme to remove the State Resource 
Overlay (SRO) from the Gormandale Flora Reserve. 
 
The land is wholly unreserved Crown Land and comprises Crown Allotment 51E, which is 
32Ha in area. 
 
The removal of the SRO is predicated on the basis that the coal resource for the subject 
land is of little value and the site is sufficiently removed from higher value areas as to be 
of little use for coal related activities. 
Approval of Amendment C104 is currently being considered by the Minister for Planning. 
 

Agenda - Ordinary Meeting 16 October 2018 254



C105: Gippsland Line Upgrade – Avon River Bridge Upgrade 
Priority: High       Anticipated completion 18/19 

Status 
At the request of Rail Projects Victoria, the Minister for Planning has prepared 
Amendment C105 to facilitate the upgrade of the Avon River Bridge.  
 
The Amendment changes the Wellington Planning Scheme (the Scheme) to: 
 

• insert Clause 45.12 - Specific Controls Overlay and its associated Schedule to 
allow the use and development of land for the Gippsland Line Upgrade Avon River 
Bridge Upgrade, and 

• includes the ‘Gippsland Line Upgrade – Avon River Bridge Upgrade – November 
2018)’ as an Incorporated Document within the Scheme. 
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ITEM C3.2  SUBMISSIONS TO THE PROPOSED SALE OF SURPLUS 

COUNCIL LAND – GOLDEN BEACH 
DIVISION: DEVELOPMENT 
ACTION OFFICER: GENERAL MANAGER DEVELOPMENT 
DATE: 16 OCTOBER 2018 
 

IMPACTS 
Financial Communication Legislative Council 

Policy 
Council 

Plan 
Resources 

& Staff 
Community Environmental Engagement Risk 

Management 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 
 
 
OBJECTIVE 
 
For Council to considers submission(s) relating to the proposed sale of surplus land 
located in Golden Beach. 
 
 
PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS FROM THE GALLERY 
 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
At an ordinary Council meeting on 19 June 2018 Council considered a report which 
recommended the sale of surplus land located – Lots 226, 227, 228 Shoreline Drive and 
Lot 185 Waikiki Way Golden Beach. 
 
The report detailed the background and history regarding work undertaken to address the 
Ninety Mile Beach inappropriate subdivisions and the undevelopable land outside areas 
referred to as settlements. This work is ongoing and the land proposed for sale within this 
report is not part of the Ninety Mile Beach Plan Voluntary Assistance Scheme which 
commenced in June 2011.  The lots identified within this report have been assessed as 
surplus and as such considered suitable for sale. 
 
The report also stated that these restructure lots were acquired by Council prior to 2003 in 
accordance with the Land Acquisition and Compensation Act 1986 (LACA) and a 
declaration under Section 172(2) of the Planning and Environment Act 1989. In 
accordance with the LACA, former owners received compensation which was assessed 
by an independent valuer in accordance with the LACA. 

RECOMMENDATION 
That:  
 
1. Council having considered submissions, resolve that Restructure Lots 185, 226, 

227 and 228 located at Golden Beach be sold. 
 

2. Council authorise the Chief Executive Officer to progress the sale including 
executing necessary documents. 

 
3. Full proceeds from the sale of land be directed towards the Golden Beach 

Shoreline Drive Path project. 
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Further, the report noted that whilst a moratorium was placed on the sale of Council land 
in the Ninety Mile Beach area from 2003 when the Wellington Coast Subdivision Strategy 
was commenced this was removed at a Council meeting on 7 June 2011 when Council 
resolved to remove the moratorium on the sale of Council land in the Golden Beach and 
Paradise Beach settlements and for specific completed restructure lots in Glomar Beach.  
The removal of the moratorium allows Council to progress the sale of these lots. 
 
From this report Council resolved: 
 
That: 
 
1. Council resolve that all of the land described below is not required for Council 

purposes, including: 
 

a. Restructure Lot 185 (consisting of lots 2607, 2608, 2609 and 2610 of 
PS56682). 

b. Restructure Lot 226 (consisting of lots 2767, 2768, 2757 and 2758 of 
PS56682). 

c. Restructure Lot 227 (consisting of lots 2769, 2770, 2755 and 2756 of 
PS56682). 

d. Restructure Lot 228 (consisting of lots 2771, 2772, 2753 and 2754 of 
PS56682). 

 
2. Subject to the provisions of the Local Government Act 1989, Section 189 and 

223, including calling for submissions in relation to the proposed sale of land, 
Council advertises its intention to sell Restructure Lots 185, 226, 227 and 228 
at or above the current market value on the open market. 

 
3. Council appoint a Committee comprising Councillor McCubbin, Councillor 

Stephens, Councillor Crossley plus Councillor Hall as an alternative 
representative, to form the ‘Proposed Sale of Surplus Council Land 
Committee’ that is established by Council under section 223(1)(b)(i) of the Act, 
to consider written submissions and the hear any persons who in their written 
submission under section 223 of the Act have requested that they be heard in 
support of their submission. 

 
4. The Committee will hear submissions at 9:00am on 21 August 2018. 
 
5. Subject to not receiving any submissions, Council authorise the Chief 

Executive Officer to progress the sale including executing necessary 
documents. 

 
6. The information contained in the attached document item F1.1 Proposed sale 

of surplus Council land restructure lots 226, 227, 228 Shoreline Drive and 
restructure lot 185 Waikiki Way Golden Beach and designated under Section 
77 Clause (2)(c) of the Local Government Act 1989 as confidential by the 
General Manager Development on 24 May 2018 because it relates to the 
following grounds under Section 89(2) of the Local Government Act 1989: h) 
any other matter which the Council or special committee considers would 
prejudice the Council or any person;  
be designated confidential information under Section 77 Clause (2)(b) of the 
Local Government Act 1989. 
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From Tuesday 10 July 2018 Council invited interested persons to make written 
submissions (refer the public notice at Attachment One). Submissions were to be in 
writing, indicate if a person wished to be heard and were to be received by 4pm Friday 10 
August 2018.  
 
A Committee of Council was convened and met at 9am Tuesday 21 August 2018 to hear 
submissions. A summary of Submissions is tabled within this report and contained in 
Attachment Two. 
 
Key issues raised during the hearings were as follows: 
 

• Confidentiality of land valuations 
• How are these blocks deemed surplus whilst other blocks are not able to be 

developed? 
• How and when did Council originally acquire these blocks? 
• How has Council directed the State Government’s $6M funding allocation? 
• As compensation, can the proceeds of the proposed sale be directed to 

landowners with lots located in ‘between settlement areas’ or land swaps 
completed? 

 
Responses to these and other concerns are addressed in Attachment Three.  
 
 
OPTIONS 
 
Following consideration of submission(s) options available to Council include:  
 

1. Not progressing the sale of surplus land at this time; or  
2. Progressing the sale of surplus land. 

 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
That: 
 
1. Council having considered submissions, resolve that Restructure Lots 185, 226, 227 

and 228 located at Golden Beach be sold. 
 

2. Council authorise the Chief Executive Officer to progress the sale including executing 
necessary documents. 

  
3. Full proceeds from the sale of land be directed towards the Golden Beach – Shoreline 

Drive Path project. 
 

 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
No staff and/or contractors involved in the compilation of this report have declared a 
Conflict of Interest. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
 
Costs will be incurred by Council to prepare the lots for sale including legal, survey, 
valuation and consolidation.  Budget is available from within the Development Division 
Selling and Acquisitions costs budget to meet these costs. 

Agenda - Ordinary Meeting 16 October 2018 258



 
Full proceeds from the sale will be directed to the Golden Beach – Path Project. 
 
 
LEGISLATIVE IMPACT 
 
Section 189 of the Local Government Act 1989 (Vic) has been satisfied which obligates 
Council to provide public notice of the proposal, and under s223 to give consideration to 
any submissions received within the 28 day submission period. 
 
 
COUNCIL POLICY IMPACT 
 
This report’s recommendation is consistent with Council Policy. 
 
 
COUNCIL PLAN IMPACT 
 
The Council Plan 2017- 21 Theme 2 Services & Infrastructure states the following 
strategic objective and related strategies: 
 

Strategic Objective 
‘Use a targeted approach to attract new business investment to Wellington Shire, 
to support population growth.’ 
 
Strategy 5.2.2 
‘Ensure the availability of residential, commercial and industrial land supply.’ 

 
This report supports the above Council Plan strategic objective and strategies. 
 
 
RESOURCES AND STAFF IMPACT 
 
Addressed within the existing resources of the Business Development Unit. 
 
 
COMMUNITY IMPACT 
 
Progressing with the recommendations within this report is not expected to negatively 
impact on the wider community.  It is noted that the blocks are developable and such 
development will contribute to the vibrancy of the Golden Beach area. 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
 
The recommendations contained within this report are not considered to have any 
environmental impacts. 
 
 
ENGAGEMENT IMPACT 
 
Consultation has taken place in the form of considering submissions in accordance with 
Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1989. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT IMPACT 
 
The recommendation within this report is considered to have addressed risk management 
impacts. 

Agenda - Ordinary Meeting 16 October 2018 260



 
ATTACHMENT ONE – NOTICE PUBLISHED FROM TUESDAY 10 AUGUST 2018 
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ATTACHMENT TWO – SUBMISSIONS 
Submissions in writing received (104 individuals) 

Submitter Appeared 
in Person Key issues raised 

1 No • Concern with Council selling land previously compulsorily acquired. 
• Proceeds be returned to those who had blocks compulsorily acquired. 

2 - 104 
(Form document received) Some 
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Submissions Hearings (5) 

Submitter Time Key issues raised 

1 9.00am 

• Clarification of the sale of block and why information has been kept confidential 
• How did Council deem these blocks surplus and why these were chosen? 
• What reports were produced - environmental impact, flood impact 
• Further understanding of the acquisition of single blocks - land and compensation Act.  
• What compensation and when were they purchased 
• Clarification if the blocks can be redistributed in the 90 Mile Beach Amendment C71 - Inappropriate subdivision 
• Disappointing to have land sold at and or above market value 
• What is market rates? 
• Object to the Sale of the land for the purpose - environmentally sensitive as development is inappropriate 
• Appointments around midday - travelling from Melbourne 

2 9.15am 

• Land Subject to flooding however has never been under water in the past 54 years 
• Land being sold why cannot we do a swap 
• What is the difference between Council block and my block as it is only 800m away 
• How has the zoning occurred – Environmental?  
• No proof and environmental issue has occurred where this block of land is situated. 
• Permit to camp on my land - why do I need a permit? 
• Clear land to enjoy to at least camp on the land? 
• How can I improve it? 
• Why cannot Council pay a decent amount of compensation out of the $6 million from the Government 
• Happy with a land exchange 
• Are the blocks being sold flood prone as it is so close to mine. 

3 An apology  

4  

• Representing 170 members of Ninety Mile Beach and Landowner since 1970  
• Objection letters scanned and have original to submit (390) 
• No understanding of how these were acquired at that point in time 
• Market or above market value  
• Planning Scheme C71 states that Council cannot derive any financial benefit from the land, therefore how can Council ethically 

sell these blocks and not profit from the sale. 
• How has the Council not deemed these blocks environmental?  
• Submission of how surrounding land is flood prone 
• Understand how these blocks have been deemed surplus  
• No infrastructure for any other land members regardless of the zoning, rates are being paid, land clearing but cannot access the 

land 
• How the Council deemed ethical when there is a clear conflict of interest to sell land at market or above market land 
• What is the land going to be used for - is it going to be used for infrastructure to surrounding block? 
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• List of all times - environmental impact to the 90 mile beach area, Flood, sand  
• Understanding of how and why parts of the Council report are made confidential and not all is made public which including lack 

of evidence - going out to the media - by chance and behind closed doors. 
• Minutes July 3rd media release 
• Why no media release 
• Removal of moratorium of land - How can Council resolve to do this. 7 June 2011 
• Acquisition and purchase of land 2003 
• Declared land flood prone and rezoned from rural conservation  
• Doesn't believe the land to be flood prone 
• Still getting rates - no compensation - not ethical 
• Compensation Act - Fair compensation needs to be paid 
• When is it going to happen?  Lots of money from the state government for compulsory acquisition - What has happened to the 

money 
• Do we put this in his will? 
   
Daniel Gall – clarified that each restructure lot is made of 4 individual lots. 
Daniel Gall - Zoning does permit building if you have a consolidated restructure lot 
  
• Council will not sell land to enable owner gaining a restructure lot. Why is Council taking this stance 

5  

• Original owner bought land when arrived in Australia, bought in 1968 
• Land originally in Rainbow Beach - now Flamingo Beach 
• Son has property in Fernando Way 
• Could be prior to being an environmental zone - Rural Conservation 
• One block is owned by Council who is not prepared to sell to make this a 4 lot subdivision? 
• Title states land is residential 
• Council has a clear Conflict of interest 
• Understanding how the land is deemed flood prone, yet Council land is not 
• Council blocks deemed as surplus land -- How did Council determine these surplus 
• How can Council land be sold at market value or above given that 850m this land is flood prone? 
• What is the Sea level information as a comparison? 
• How can Council be acting in the best interest of the community when no development, nor access to the land is available.  

Cannot camp on land however no infrastructure - maintaining roads, rates taken 
• Any proof by Council that these are deemed surplus, environmental concerns, profit to the Council.  How were they acquired?  
• Next steps 
• Can we submit or respond to the findings after the decision has been made? 
• Surplus land compensation to other land owners - land swap 
• Why is some information that is deemed confidential? 
• What is Council intending for the area to have surplus land.  What is the plan for the land to be deemed surplus.  What is the 

plan? 
• Property valuation of land has dropped - is this fair? 
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• Council report 3 July 2018 has information that is declared confidential, why is this the case 
  
Carolyn Crossley - Clarified the term surplus 
  
• What is Council intending for the area to have surplus land.   
• What is the plan for the land to be deemed surplus.  What is the plan? 
  
Garry Stephens - advised that if objectors not happy with the decision can seek further clarification from the Ombudsman 
  
Alan Hall – Submitters can speak to the matter prior to Council decision 
 
• Valuation of land has dropped - is this fair? 
• Parents purchased land in 1960's - San Gemini Court 
• Process unfair - accountability - compensation 

6  

• Understand the science behind the land being deemed suitable for Sale 
• How does Council distinguish that their blocks are up for sale yet ours are subject to flooding? 
• How much lower in dollar comparison are Council being sold for compared to others in the same area. 
• Elevation, flooding history of area with their blocks. 100 year flood 
• Why is this deemed flood prone? 
• How can 4 blocks be put together and then sold for a considerable profit 
• How did Council acquire the land, what did Council originally pay for the blocks? 
• Allocated funding from State Government - What has happened to the money 
• Council gain financial benefit and why are we not being paid compensation through land swap  
• Why did the Council approve all the development back in the 60's we as land owners paying the price and now Council is 

profiting? 
• Open meeting - 4 only at a time basis - not a general meeting 
• Only have communication and being updated from Land Owners Committee 
• Majority of land owners don’t live here therefore any such meeting being sent to all affected land owners. 
• Correspondence 2006 is the earliest and why were we not kept up to date. 
• Still being charge rates, garbage and fire service levy but cannot access the properties.  Where is the rate monies being spent 

as it is not being invested into infrastructure for access to properties? 
• Council need to take responsibility for incompetence from 1960 
• Was the land that is up for sale ever deemed flood prone 
• Over the period of time that zoning has applied - What are the zonings and any of the 6million was used to purchase these 

lands.  Is Council looking at making a profit. 
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ATTACHMENT THREE – COUNCIL OFFICER RESPONSE TO SUBMITTERS – PROPOSED 
SALE OF SURPLUS COUNCIL LAND, GOLDEN BEACH 
 
Background 
 
The coastal subdivisions of the Ninety Mile Beach were first subdivided without planning controls 
and sold by development companies using vigorous marketing campaigns and have for many 
years been considered inappropriate. The Independent Planning Panel (appointed by the Minister 
for Planning) that considered the Rural Conservation rezoning in the ‘between settlements’ area 
summarised the situation: 
 
“The history of the Ninety Mile Beach subdivisions between Glomar Beach and Golden Beach 
represents one of the perhaps longest running and most difficult episodes in land use planning in 
Victoria.  The saga is filled with stories of personal financial hardship, impossible planning 
decisions, unscrupulous developers and at the heart of it all, the natural values of an iconic part of 
the Victorian coastline.” 
 
It is also acknowledged that the planning controls are complex, particularly as different controls 
apply for each category of land within the Ninety Mile Beach area, whether the land is within or 
outside the settlements, is flood prone or on the coastal dunes. 
 
Justification for development/no development areas 
 
Following extensive consultation and background investigations, the Wellington Coast Subdivision 
Strategy was adopted by Council in 2005 to guide the preferred planning and settlement structure 
for the section of coastline from The Honeysuckles through to Paradise Beach.  The preferred 
planning and settlement structure was consolidated via the subsequent preparation of a detailed 
Land Capability Assessment in 2008 which assessed a range of environmental factors to 
determine development viability, including but not limited to:  flora and fauna, flooding, effluent 
treatment, bushfire risk, servicing etc.  These reports can be accessed via Council’s 
website  http://www.wellington.vic.gov.au/Developing-Wellington/Planning-Projects/Ninety-Mile-
Beach-Plan  
 
Following the completion of due statutory processes (including Independent Planning Panel 
Hearings and Ministerial approval), settlement boundaries and ‘no development areas’ were 
subsequently included in the Wellington Planning Scheme.  This statutory regime is now firmly 
embedded in the Wellington Planning Scheme and will remain in place to guide future land use 
and development along the coast.  
 
In recognition of the loss of development rights in the ‘between settlement areas’, Council with 
State Government funding support has been implementing the Voluntary Assistance 
Scheme where land owners can transfer their land to Council for an amount based on independent 
advice from the Victorian Valuer General ($1500 per lot less any rates/charges owing, which is 
typically three times the Council valuation of a single lot). 
 
Additionally, other areas of land in this section of coastline (e.g. the Lake Reeve Islands) have 
been subject to planning controls (for many decades) which prevent development due to 
constraints such as flooding.  Further details of the history of the inappropriately subdivided land is 
located on Council’s website   http://www.wellington.vic.gov.au/Developing-Wellington/Planning-
Projects/Ninety-Mile-Beach-Plan  
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Land proposed to be sold by Council is located within the preferred settlement boundary of Golden 
Beach, where development is permissible (subject to the grant of a planning permit on restructured 
lots).  
 
The Coastal Settlement Boundary Plan for Golden Beach/Paradise Beach defines the preferred 
settlement boundary (see image below). The southern boundary of the settlement is Firefly Road, 
and the lots proposed to be sold are 850 metres or more within the coastal settlement boundary.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
In contrast, land owned by submitters is located outside the coastal settlement boundary, either in 
the ‘between settlement area’ or on flood prone land (Lake Reeve Islands) where development is 
not permitted. It should be noted that Council also owns more than three thousand lots of the 
seven thousand lots in the Rural Conservation areas which cannot be developed. 
 
Flooding 
 
The West Gippsland Catchment Management Authority (WGCMA) as the relevant floodplain 
manager has advised Council that the lots proposed for sale in the preferred settlement area of 
Golden Beach are not subject to inundation under current or 2100 conditions. The lots are well 
elevated and are above the 10m AHD contour (refer to image below). This is in contrast to other 
land in the locality, such as the Lake Reeve Islands, where land and access routes are subject to 
flooding. 
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Rates notices 
 
Some submitters queried the issuing of rates notices on land which can’t be developed.  The 
issuing of rates notices is a statutory requirement, however, Council has a current policy to not 
pursue outstanding rates in coastal areas with no development rights. 
 
Removal of moratorium 
 
When Council resolved to endorse the implementation of the Voluntary Assistance Scheme on 7 
June 2011, it also resolved to remove the earlier moratorium on the sale of Council owned land in 
the preferred settlements where development is permissible (subject to the grant of a planning 
permit on restructured lots). As such, Council’s current policy position is to allow for the sale of 
land surplus to its requirements (subject to relevant Local Government Act 1989 processes being 
followed). 
 
‘Swapping’ of lots 
 
A number of submitters suggested that their land could be ‘swapped’ with the lots proposed for 
sale by Council.  The supply of developable lots owned by Council is very small in comparison to 
seven thousand undevelopable lots. It would not be equitable to ‘swap’ lots that can’t be developed 
for those that can be developed (subject to the grant of a planning permit) and would also raise 
broader issues of equity for other landowners who have already participated in the Voluntary 
Assistance Scheme. 
 
Status of State Government funds  
 
A number of submitters queried the status of the State Government funding and suggested that it 
could be better allocated to compensate submitters (and others) who are unable to develop their 
land. To date, Council has transferred approximately 1,550 lots under the Voluntary Assistance 
Scheme and an additional 500 have been compulsorily acquired since 2017 (only where persons 
with an interest in specified land have not been able to be contacted after the conduct of diligent 
inquiries or where people have been willing but unable to transfer land to Council, for example, 
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due to incomplete documentation). Council has expended approximately $4 million of the State 
Government funding.  Council has no ability to depart from the current terms of the State 
Government funding agreement (or advice of the Victorian Valuer General) by offering, for 
example, a higher amount of compensation.  Such an approach would also raise broader issues of 
equity for other landowners who have already participated in the Voluntary Assistance Scheme. 
 
Use of sale funds 
 
A number of submitters queried what the funds would be spent on should Council elect to sell the 
land and suggested that it could fund works such as vegetation clearance in order to access their 
land.  It would not be appropriate for Council to undertake vegetation clearance works of this kind 
for land which can’t be developed. A preferred alternative is to direct any sale funds to the 
Shoreline Drive Path Project (in the preferred settlement area) for the betterment of the broader 
community. This is included in the Council Report recommendation.  
 
Surrounding land unsuitable to build on 
 
A number of submitters suggested that land surrounding land proposed to be sold was unsuitable 
to build on, but no specific details were provided to support this claim. A search of Council’s 
property database indicates that there is no recent record of planning approvals sought (or denied) 
on immediately surrounding lots.  It is noted, however, that an existing dwelling has previously 
been approved at 7 Waikiki Way, Golden Beach which is located between the lots proposed to be 
sold by Council (see image above). 
 
Future intention with area 
 
The planning policy framework provides clear recognition that future development is encouraged in 
the preferred settlement area of Golden Beach. In the ‘between settlements area’, given the 
environmental values the long term goal is to transfer land to public ownership/management as 
part of the adjoining Gippsland Lakes Coastal Park. 
 
Camping and native vegetation 
 
Some submitters queried if they could camp on their land, or suggested that this was not possible. 
Camping on land for a maximum of 28 days in a calendar year is permissible provided the 
requirements of Local Law Number 4 are complied with. However, camping is only possible if it 
does not involve the removal or destruction of native vegetation on the land or in the nearby roads. 
 
Lack of consultation 
 
Extensive community consultation has previously been undertaken by Council in developing the 
Wellington Coast Subdivision Strategy and via relevant Planning Scheme Amendments.  A 
dedicated project officer is also implementing the Voluntary Assistance Scheme and is providing 
regular updates via Council’s website and through direct landowner engagement (direct letter and 
phone contact).  Any landowner can contact Council to discuss their individual situation with land 
ownership and development rights. Council has also followed all statutory steps with the proposed 
sale of land as required by the Local Government Act 1989. 
 
Conflict of interest 
 
Council has followed all statutory steps with the proposed sale of land as required by the Local 
Government Act 1989. 
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History of acquisition 
 
After the State Government restructured the Ninety Mile Beach subdivision in 1979, some 
individual landowners were unable to develop their single lots unless they were consolidated with 
neighbouring lots in the subdivision (typically four lots needed to be consolidated into one). Where 
landowners were unable to perform the required consolidation, the lots were acquired by 
Council.  This occurred in situations, for example, where private sales arrangements between 
individual lot owners could not be resolved/secured.  The land proposed to be sold was acquired 
by Council in 2002 in accordance with the Land Acquisition and Compensation Act 1986 and a 
declaration under Section 172(2) of the Planning and Environment Act 1989. The affected former 
owners would have been entitled to, and received, compensation for the single lots in accordance 
with relevant legislation. 
 
Process for deeming land to be surplus 
 
In line with Council policy, land which has been assessed as not being required for a Council or a 
community purpose is designated surplus. The assessment process involves land being referred 
to relevant business units within Council including roads, planning and community. The surplus 
land process is consistent with the Local Government Act and Victorian Government Guideline. 
 
Confidentiality/values 
 
Assessment of property valuations have been included in a confidential attachment, as (subject to 
Council considering submissions and the sale proceeding) the information will be disclosed to 
other parties involved in the sales process i.e. disclosed for example in order to set a reserve. 
Valuations remain confidential to ensure integrity of the sales process. Further Council could 
consider the proposed sale of all property in closed session rather than through a public report with 
a confidential attachment, however the adopted method provides the greatest level of 
transparency. 
 
Register of all Council owned land in the area 
 
The Local Government Act prescribes what information must be made available, for example, in 
the form of a register of land leased by Council. Land owned by Council does not fit within this. 
. 
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ITEM C3.3 BUILDING PERMITS REPORT 
DIVISION: DEVELOPMENT 
ACTION OFFICER: MANAGER MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
DATE: 16 OCTOBER 2018 
 

IMPACTS 
Financial Communication Legislative Council 

Policy 
Council 

Plan 
Resources 

& Staff 
Community Environmental Engagement Risk 

Management 

 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓   ✓   
 
 
OBJECTIVE 
 
To provide a report to Council on building permits issued in the Wellington Shire during the quarter 
April to June 2018, for information. 
 
PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS FROM THE GALLERY 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Building permits are issued by private building surveyors, and copies of permits are provided to 
Council.  The permits, plans and other documents, are filed by Council and recorded on a register 
of building permits.  Building permits are issued for a range of developments, including dwellings, 
extensions and fences, as well as commercial and industrial buildings.  
 
Attachment 1 to this report provides an overview by township, the number of permits issued, along 
with the estimated value of construction, for the three-month period ending 30 June 2018. 
 
Attachment 2 provides historical representation of the number and value of permits issued in 
Wellington Shire and compares this data against the broader Gippsland region. The trend within 
Gippsland is that Baw Baw and Bass Coast shires are within the fastest growing municipalities 
within Regional Victoria. 
 
In the previous quarter, January to March 2018, there were 224 permits issued with an estimated 
value of work at $41,646,896. 
 
For the period April to June 2018, there were 254 permits issued with an estimated value of work at 
$35,845,209. 
 
  

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council note the report of building permits issued from 1 April 2018 to 30 June 
2018. 
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OPTIONS 
 
Council may choose to note this report, alternatively Council may choose to seek further 
information and refer this report to another meeting. 
 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
That Council note the report on building permits issued within Wellington Shire from April to June 
2018. 
 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
No staff and/or contractors involved in the compilation of this report have declared a Conflict of 
Interest. 
 
 
COMMUNICATION IMPACT 
 
The quarterly report provides information on the number of building permits, and cost of 
development per town, within the Wellington Shire.  Gippsland-wide building activity is also 
provided, to demonstrate how the Wellington Shire area performs in comparison. 
 
 
LEGISLATIVE IMPACT 
 
Building permits are issued in accordance with Building Act 1993, Building Regulations 2006 and 
the Wellington Planning Scheme. 
 
 
COUNCIL POLICY IMPACT 
 
All building permits issued by private building surveyors are registered and filed as per the timelines 
set out in the Municipal Services Business Plan. 
 
 
COUNCIL PLAN IMPACT 
 
This Council Plan 2017-2021 Theme 2 Services and Infrastructure states the following strategic 
objective and related strategy: 
 
 Strategic Objective 2.3 
 ‘Wellington Shire is well planned, considering long term growth and sustainability’. 
 Strategy 2.3.1 

‘continue to provide strategic planning to encourage long term growth and sustainability in 
Wellington Shire.’ 
 

This report supports the above Council Plan strategic objective and strategy.  
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ATTACHMENT 1 
WELLINGTON SHIRE PERMITS ISSUED 

 
 April May June Total 

AIRLY 0 2 0 2 
 

$0 $195,417 $0 $195,417 

ALBERTON 1 1 2 4 
 

$39,586 $30,450 $31,240 $101,276 

BINGINWARRI 0 1 0 1 
 

$0 $328,770 $0 $328,770 

BOISDALE 0 1 0 1 
 

$0 $0 $0 $0 

BRIAGOLONG 0 3 2 5 
 

$0 $60,800 $60,130 $120,930 

CARRAJUNG 0 2 1 3 
 

$0 $906,124 $36,000 $942,124 

CLYDEBANK 0 1 1 2 
 

$0 $16,500 $15,000 $31,500 

COBAINS 0 1 3 4 
 

$0 $223,000 $6,391,230 $6,614,230 

COONGULLA 2 1 1 4 
 

$39,000 $15,000 $10,000 $64,000 

COWWARR 2 0 0 2 
 

$126,959 $0 $0 $126,959 

DARGO 0 1 1 2 
 

$0 $420,000 $33,000 $453,000 

DEVON NORTH 1 1 0 2 
 

$13,150 $1,000 $0 $14,150 

DUTSON DOWNS 0 1 0 1 
 

$0 $10,000 $0 $10,000 

FLYNN 0 1 0 1 
 

$0 $10,000 $0 $10,000 

FULHAM 1 1 1 3 
 

$275,000 $65,800 $1,400,000 $1,740,800 
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 April May June Total 

GIFFARD 1 0 0 1 
 

$0 $0 $0 $0 

GLENGARRY 2 0 1 3 
 

$13,790 $0 $8,500 $22,290 

GOLDEN BEACH 2 3 1 6 
 

$261,669 $71,950 $14,000 $347,619 

GORMANDALE 0 1 0 1 
 

$0 $27,750 $0 $27,750 

HEYFIELD 2 5 4 11 
 

$139,820 $413,899 $334,669 $888,388 

HOLLANDS LANDING 0 0 1 1 
 

$0 $0 $35,000 $35,000 

KILMANY 0 1 0 1 
 

$0 $30,800 $0 $30,800 

KOOROOL 0 0 1 1 
 

$0 $0 $220,000 $220,000 

LANGSBOROUGH 0 0 1 1 
 

$0 $0 $88,000 $88,000 

LOCH SPORT 5 6 2 13 
 

$39,800 $123,550 $28,450 $191,800 

LONGFORD 4 4 2 10 
 

$1,039,357 $1,247,386 $201,000 $2,487,743 

MAFFRA 10 7 8 25 
 

$1,723,757 $1,307,958 $704,004 $3,735,719 

MYRTLEBANK 0 0 1 1 
 

$0 $0 $7,600 $7,600 

NAMBROK 1 0 1 2 
 

$21,163 $0 $10,000 $31,163 

NEWRY 1 1 0 2 
 

$240,000 $14,500 $0 $254,500 

PARADISE BEACH 0 1 1 2 
 

$0 $28,500 $0 $28,500 
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 April May June Total 

PORT ALBERT 1 3 2 6 
 

$2,000 $26,150 $115,000 $143,150 

RIVERSLEA 0 1 0 1 
 

$0 $133,100 $0 $133,100 

ROSEDALE 2 5 4 11 
 

$129,840 $536,100 $35,236 $701,176 

SALE 23 18 13 54 
 

$4,876,391 $2,793,010 $1,482,794 $9,152,195 

SEASPRAY 0 2 3 5 
 

$0 $168,920 $352,000 $520,920 

SEATON 1 0 1 2 
 

$20,150 $0 $21,000 $41,150 

STACEYS BRIDGE 0 1 0 1 
 

$0 $8,680 $0 $8,680 

STRATFORD 8 9 11 28 
 

$1,114,000 $689,259 $1,079,732 $2,882,991 

THE HONEYSUCKLES 0 2 0 2 
 

$0 $604,849 $0 $604,849 

TINAMBA 1 0 0 1 
 

$150,000 $0 $0 $150,000 

TOONGABBIE 0 0 1 1 
 

$0 $0 $40,000 $40,000 

WILLUNG SOUTH 0 0 1 1 
 

$0 $0 $16,384 $16,384 

WOODSIDE 2 2 1 5 
 

$416,547 $67,756 $42,000 $526,303 

WOODSIDE BEACH 1 1 0 2 
 

$206,165 $8,000 $0 $214,165 

WURRUK 3 1 3 7 
 

$336,587 $10,000 $661,358 $1,007,945 

YARRAM 4 3 2 9 
 

$515,765 $19,638 $16,770 $552,173 

Total 81 95 78 254 
 

11,740,496 10,614,616 13,490,097 35,845,209 
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ATTACHMENT 2 
 

NUMBER OF BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED 
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VALUE OF BUILDING WORKS 
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ITEM C4.1 FINAL COST CERTIFICATE DUNDAS STREET SOUTH SPECIAL 
 CHARGE CONSTRUCTION SCHEME 
DIVISION: BUILT AND NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 
ACTION OFFICER: MANAGER ASSETS & PROJECTS 
DATE: 16 OCTOBER 2018 
 

IMPACTS 
Financial Communication Legislative Council 

Policy 
Council 

Plan 
Resources 

& Staff 
Community Environmental Engagement Risk 

Management 

✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 
 
 
OBJECTIVE1. 
 
The objective of this report is to present to Council for consideration, the Final Cost Certificate for 
the Dundas Street South Special Charge Street Construction Scheme – Scheme No 1601. 
 
 
PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS FROM THE GALLERY 
 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
At its meeting on 20 September 2016, Council resolved to give notice of the intention to declare the 
Special Charge Street Construction Scheme for the unconstructed section of Dundas Street 
between Cunninghame Street and Macarthur Street in Sale.  On the 21 March 2017 a report was 
presented to Council in relation to a submission received for the proposed scheme.  Following 
consideration of the submission to the scheme, Council resolved to declare the Special Charge 
Scheme at its 21 March 2017 meeting and to serve a notice on all affected property owners. 
 
The tender for the road construction was undertaken simultaneously with the Dundas Street North 
Special Charge Construction Scheme to obtain economies of scale and provide the best value to 
Council and the scheme participants.  The contract for the road construction of both schemes was 
awarded at Council’s meeting held on 19 December 2017 and the works were undertaken and 
practical completion was achieved on 12 July 2018.. 
 
The contract amount entered into with J. W. Volk Pty Ltd was $280,720.66 and with approved 
variations for drainage works, the amount increased to $284,720.70.  Alterations by service 
authorities Gippsland Water and Ausnet Services were at a cost of $45,991.58.

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
That;     
 

1. Council adopt the Final Cost Certificate for the Dundas Street South Special 
Charge Street Construction Scheme – Scheme No 1601; and 

2. Council Officers prepare the final apportionment amounts due from property 
owners for the scheme based on the initial estimated cost of $320,000. 
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With initial road design, legal advice and tendering costs of $17,932.05 producing an overall final 
scheme cost of $348,488.33 (all figures are ex GST).  Costs for nature strip trees and bollard 
fencing replacement have not been included as they were not part of the scheme. 
 
The principle reason for the increase in the scheme cost is attributed to the replacement of the 
water main along the section of Dundas Street being reconstructed, whereas the allowance within 
the scheme estimate was for lowering the water service crossings to each property. 
 
Under the provisions of section 166 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council may vary the 
special charge to be paid, although if the increase is an amount equal to or greater than 10% of the 
estimated declared cost then a further declaration would need to be made.  The total estimated 
cost of this scheme was $320,000 and the overall final cost of the scheme was $348,488.33, an 
increase of $28,488.33 or 9.0% over the estimated costs.   
 
The estimated cost per property for the scheme ranged from $3,058.78 through to $9,420.92 which 
would increase costs per property from approximately $275 through to $848 per property if the 
additional costs are recovered. 
 
A final cost certificate has been prepared for the scheme and is shown in Attachment 1. 
 
 
OPTIONS 
 
Council have the following options available: 
 
1. Accept the final cost certificate as presented and apportion the costs based on the original 

estimated cost; or 
2. Accept the final cost certificate as presented and apportion the costs based on the final 

overall cost; or 
3. Not accept the final cost certificate as presented. 
 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
That     
 
1. Council adopt the Final Cost Certificate for the Dundas Street South Special Charge Street 

Construction Scheme – Scheme No 1601; and 
2. Council Officers prepare the final apportionment amounts due from property owners for the 

scheme based on the initial estimated cost of $320,000. 

 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
No staff and/or contractors involved in the compilation of this report have declared a Conflict of 
Interest in this section. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
 
Council may under the provisions of section 166 of the Local Government Act 1989 vary the 
liability of any property owner to pay the special charge.  Where the special charge increase is 
equal to or greater than 10%, Council must also comply with subsections (1A), (1B) and (1C) of 
section 163 of the Act and redeclare the scheme which is not required in this instance. 
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The financial impact of adopting the Final Cost Certificate as detailed, is that property owners will 
not be liable for an amount above the estimated costs initially provided.  The Council contribution 
for this project is being funded through the Federal Government’s Roads to Recovery program and 
this proposal will increase the Council contribution from the estimated $195,500.00 to $224,025.23 
(including Council contribution to scheme as property owner). 
 
 
COMMUNICATION IMPACT 
 
The adoption of recommendation is likely to have no impact as the apportioned cost will equal the 
estimated cost 
 
 
LEGISLATIVE IMPACT 
 
This scheme was been prepared in accordance with Section 163, 163A, 163B of the Local 
Government Act 1989.  Notification will be in accordance with Sections 163 and 223 of the Local 
Government Act 1989  
 
 
COUNCIL POLICY IMPACT 
 
The scheme has been prepared in accordance with Council’s Special Charge Schemes – Roads, 
Street & Drainage Development Policy 4.2.4 and 2014 Residential Road and Street Construction 
Plan. 
 
 
RESOURCES AND STAFF IMPACT 
 
The scheme has been undertaken using the resources of the Assets & Projects unit.  Staff from 
Finance will be responsible for serving of accounts on property owners. 
 
 
ENGAGEMENT IMPACT 
 
A comprehensive public consultation process has been entered into with affected property owners 
including: 
 

• Numerous discussions between property owners and Council staff during 2016  
• Information letter advising property owners of proposal 20 June 2016 
• Public meeting held at Sale, 25 July 2016 
• Mail out survey of all property owners, 26 July 2016 
• Follow up requesting replies to the survey. 
• Public Notice of Intention to Declare advertised in a local newspaper on 18 & 21 October 

2016. 
• Copy of Public Notice mailed to property owners liable to pay on 18 October 2016.  
• Letter mailed to property owners on 1 March 2017 advising of Council’s intention to declare 

the scheme at its Meeting on 21 March 2017. 
• Letter mailed to property owners on 23 March 2017 advising the scheme has been 

declared including a Notice of Levy. 
• Letter mailed to property owners on 4 October 2017 advising tenders are being sought. 
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Attachment 1 
 

WELLINGTON SHIRE COUNCIL 
 

DUNDAS STREET SOUTH SPECIAL CHARGE STREET 
CONSTRUCTION SCHEME  

SCHEME No. 1601 

FINAL COST CERTIFICATE 
Project :   Dundas Street South Special Charge Street Construction Scheme. 
Scheme No:    1601 
Commencement date (scheme): 21/03/2017 
Completion date (works):  12/07/2018 
Estimated cost of scheme:      $320,000.00 
Final cost of scheme:  $348,488.33 
 
Variation between estimated cost and final cost:    9.0% increase 
Council contribution to scheme as property owner:   $     3,536.90 
Council contribution to scheme - public benefit:  $ 220,488.33 
Property owner contribution to scheme:   $ 124,463.10 
      Total  $ 348,488.33 
 
 
 
Prepared by:  Tilo Junge, Infrastructure Planner 
Approved by:   Chris Hastie, General Manager Built & Natural Environment 
Approved by Council:     ………………….. 
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ITEM C4.2 FINAL COST CERTIFICATE DUNDAS STREET NORTH SPECIAL 
CHARGE CONSTRUCTION SCHEME 

DIVISION: BUILT AND NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 

ACTION OFFICER: MANAGER ASSETS AND PROJECTS 

DATE: 16 OCTOBER 2018 

 
IMPACTS 

Financial Legislative Council 
Policy 

Planning 
Policy 

Resources 
& Staff 

Community Environmental Engagement Risk 
Management 

✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 
 
 
OBJECTIVE 
 
The objective of this report is to present to Council for consideration, the Final Costs Certificate for 
the Dundas Street North Special Charge Street Construction Scheme – Scheme No 1602. 
 
 
PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS FROM THE GALLERY 
 
 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
At its meeting on 15 November 2016, Council resolved to give notice of the intention to declare the 
Special Charge Street Construction Scheme for the unconstructed section of Dundas Street 
between Macarthur Street and Stawell Street in Sale.  There were no submissions received for the 
proposed scheme and Council resolved to declare the Special Charge Scheme at its 21 March 
2017 meeting and to serve a notice on all affected property owners. 
 
The tender for the road construction was undertaken simultaneously with the Dundas Street South 
Special Charge Construction Scheme to obtain economies of scale and provide the best value to 
Council and the scheme participants.  The contract for the road construction of both schemes was 
awarded at Council’s meeting held on 19 December 2017 and the works were undertaken and 
practical completion was achieved on 12 July 2018. 
 
The contract amount entered into with J. W. Volk Pty Ltd was $270,592.80 and with approved 
variations for drainage works the amount increased to $272,569.91.  Alterations by service 
authorities Gippsland Water and Ausnet Services were at a cost of $49,676.12.

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
That;    
 
1.     Council adopt the Final Cost Certificate for the Dundas Street North Special 

Charge Street Construction Scheme – Scheme No 1602; and 
 
2 .   Council Officers prepare the final apportionment amounts due from property 

owners for the scheme based on the initial estimated cost of $320,000. 
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With initial road design and tendering costs of $18,586.70 producing an overall final scheme cost 
of $340,832.73 (all figures are ex GST).  Costs for nature strip trees have not been included as 
they were not part of the scheme. 
 
The principle reason for the increase in the scheme cost is attributed to the lowering of the 
reticulation water main along the section of Dundas Street being reconstructed, whereas the 
allowance within the scheme estimate was for lowering water service crossings to each property. 
 
Under the provisions of section 166 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council may vary the 
special charge to be paid, although if the increase is an amount equal to or greater than 10% of the 
estimated declared cost then a further declaration would need to be made.  The estimated cost of 
this scheme was $320,000 and the overall final cost of the scheme was $340,832.73, an increase 
of $20,832.73 or 6.5% over the estimated costs.   
 
The estimated cost per property for the scheme ranged from $2,715.28 through to $5,134.81 which 
would increase costs per property from approximately $176 through to $334 per property if the 
additional costs are recovered. 
 
A final cost certificate has been prepared for the scheme and is shown in Attachment 1. 
 
 
OPTIONS 
 
Council have the following options available: 
 
1. Accept the final cost certificate as presented and apportion the costs based on the original 

estimated cost; or 
2. Accept the final cost certificate as presented and apportion the costs based on the final 

overall cost; or 
3. Not accept the final cost certificate as presented. 
 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
That     
 
1.        Council adopts the Final Cost Certificate for the Dundas Street North Special Charge Street 

Construction Scheme – Scheme No 1602; and 
 
2 .        Council Officers prepare the final apportionment amounts due from property owners for the 

scheme based on the initial estimated cost of $320,000. 
 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
No staff and/or contractors involved in the compilation of this report have declared a Conflict of 
Interest in this section. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
 
Council may under the provisions of section 166 of the Local Government Act 1989 vary the 
liability of any property owner to pay the special charge.  Where the special charge increase is 
equal to or greater than 10%, Council must also comply with subsections (1A), (1B) and (1C) of 
section 163 of the Act and redeclare the scheme which is not required in this instance. 
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The financial impact of adopting the Final Cost Certificate as detailed, is that property owners will 
not be liable for an amount above the estimated costs initially provided.  The Council contribution 
for this project is being funded through the Federal Government’s Roads to Recovery program and 
this proposal will increase the Council contribution from the estimated $226,717.18 to $247,549.91 
(including Council contribution to scheme as property owner). 
 
 
COMMUNICATION IMPACT 
 
The adoption of the recommendation is likely to have no impact as the apportioned cost will equal 
the estimated cost. 
 
 
LEGISLATIVE IMPACT 
 
This scheme was been prepared in accordance with Section 163, 163A, 163B of the Local 
Government Act 1989.  Notification will be in accordance with Sections 163 and 223 of the Local 
Government Act 1989. 
 
 
COUNCIL POLICY IMPACT 
 
The scheme was been prepared in accordance with Council’s Special Charge Schemes – Roads, 
Street & Drainage Development Policy 4.2.4 and 2014 Residential Road and Street Construction 
Plan. 
 
 
RESOURCES AND STAFF IMPACT 
 
The scheme has been undertaken using the resources of the Assets & Projects unit. Staff from 
Finance will be responsible for serving of accounts on property owners. 
 
 
ENGAGEMENT IMPACT 
 
A comprehensive public consultation process has been entered into with affected property owners 
including: 
 

• Numerous discussions between property owners and Council staff during 2016  
• Information letter advising property owners of proposal 21 June 2016 
• Public meeting held at Sale, 28 July 2016 
• Mail out survey of all property owners, 29 July 2016 
• Follow up requesting replies to the survey. 
• Public Notice of Intention to Declare advertised in a local newspaper on 22 & 25 November 

2016. 
• Copy of Public Notice mailed to property owners liable to pay on 22 November 2016.  
• Letter mailed to property owners on 14 February 2017 advising of Council’s intention to 

declare the scheme at its Meeting on 21 March 2017. 
• Letter mailed to property owners on 23 March 2017 advising the scheme has been 

declared including a Notice of Levy. 
• Letter mailed to property owners on 4 October 2017 advising tenders are being sought. 
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Attachment 1 
 

WELLINGTON SHIRE COUNCIL 
 

DUNDAS STREET NORTH SPECIAL CHARGE STREET 
CONSTRUCTION SCHEME  

SCHEME No. 1602 

FINAL COST CERTIFICATE 
Project:   Dundas Street North Special Charge Street Construction Scheme. 
Scheme No:    1602 
Commencement date (scheme): 21/03/2017 
Completion date (works):  12/07/2018 
Estimated cost of scheme:      $320,000.00 
Final cost of scheme:  $340,832.73 
 
Variation between estimated cost and final cost:    6.5% increase 
Council contribution to scheme as property owner:   $     2,717.18 
Council contribution to scheme - public benefit:  $ 244,832.73 
Property owner contribution to scheme:   $   93,282.82 
      Total  $ 340,832.73 
 
 
 
Prepared by:  Tilo Junge, Infrastructure Planner 
Approved by:   Chris Hastie, General Manager Built & Natural Environment 
Approved by Council:     ………………….. 
 
. 
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ITEM C5.1 GIPPSLAND ART GALLERY ADVISORY GROUP MINUTES 
DIVISION: COMMUNITY AND CULTURE 
ACTION OFFICER: MANAGER COMMUNITY WELLBEING 
DATE: 16 OCTOBER 2018 
 

IMPACTS 
Financial Communication Legislative Council 

Policy 
Council 

Plan 
Resources 

& Staff 
Community Environmental Engagement Risk 

Management 

  ✓ ✓ ✓      
 
 
OBJECTIVE 
 
 
To receive the minutes from the Gippsland Art Gallery Advisory Group meeting held on 3 
September 2018. 
 
 
PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS FROM THE GALLERY 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Gippsland Art Gallery Advisory Group is a Committee of Council that meets every three 
months. The membership of the Advisory Group includes a Councillor and representation 
from professional artists, art educators, Friends of the Gallery members and community. 
 
The committee’s Instrument of Delegation reflects the desire to seek community input, 
advice and feedback on the operations of the Gippsland Art Gallery and to present this 
information to Council. 
 
It is to be noted these minutes have yet to be formally ratified by a future Advisory Group 
meeting and are provided as current information for Council. 
 
 
OPTIONS 
 
Council has the following options: 
1. Receive the minutes from the Gippsland Art Gallery Advisory Group meeting held on 

3 September 2018; or 
2. Request additional information and receive the minutes from the Gippsland Art Gallery 

Advisory Group meeting held on 3 September 2018 at a future meeting. 
 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
To receive the minutes from the Gippsland Art Gallery Advisory Group meeting held on 3 
September 2018. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council receive the minutes of the Gippsland Art Gallery Advisory Group meeting 
held on 3 September 2018. 
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
No staff and/or contractors involved in the compilation of this report have declared a Conflict 
of Interest. 
 
 
COUNCIL POLICY IMPACT 
 
This report is in accordance with Council Policy 5.3.2 which establishes a framework for the 
guidance of Council in relation to the roles and responsibilities of Committees. 
 
 
COUNCIL PLAN IMPACT 
 
The Council Plan 2017-21 Theme 2 Services and Infrastructure states the following strategy:  
 
 Strategic Objective 2.1 

Council services and infrastructure are responsive to identified current and future 
community needs within budgeted parameters. 

 
Strategy 2.1.2  
Provide access to a diverse range of recreational opportunities for all sectors of the 
community. 

 
The Council Plan 2017-21 Theme 4 Lifelong Learning states the following strategy:  
 
 Strategic Objective 4.1 

Improve people’s access to opportunities to challenge and extend their thinking, 
promote independence, stimulate ideas, further develop leadership skills and lead 
meaningful lives. 
 
Strategy 4.1.3 
Provide accessible cultural opportunities and activities for all sectors of the 
community. 

 
This report supports the above Council Plan strategic objectives and strategies. 
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GIPPSLAND ART GALLERY ADVISORY GROUP 
Monday 3 September 2018, 6:00pm 

Carang Carang Room 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: Bianca Taylor, Deb Milligan (Chair), Gillian Kline, Dr Rob Ziffer, Cr Scott Rossetti, Robbie Aitken, Bruce Arnup 
In Attendance: Simon Gregg (Director), Erin Mathews (Curator), Stephen Dempsey (Manager Arts & Culture) 

Apologies: Brian Castles, George Thomas  

NO ACTIVITY DISCUSSION DECISION WHO ACTION 

1. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
1.1 Minutes Monday 4 June 2018 Vote to accept the previous 

minutes. Moved and 
carried. 

Deb Milligan 
& Rob Ziffer 

 
 

 

1.2 Business Arising Appointment of Gallery Curator.  
 

 Simon Gregg  

1.3 Business Arising Resignation of Claire Marston from Advisory Group.   Simon Gregg  

2.  
2.1 Director’s Report The Director listed upcoming exhibitions, including Maffra 

Exhibition Space.  

Formally launching the ESSO Collection on 19 October.  
Gallery attendances are on target, Visitor Feedback is 
consistency positive.  

Will soon launch a Volunteer Guide recruitment program. 
The Gallery will host a PGAV event in November on Collection 
Management 
New donation box now installed in Gallery 1. Custom made by 
local woodworker Ken Free.  

 Simon Gregg  
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Foundation planning is continuing. Took a vote on whether to 
continue with plans to launch a Gallery Foundation – all voted in 
favour. 

Simon discussed next steps in the process.  

2.2 Friend’s of the Gippsland 
Art Gallery Inc. Report 

AGM last Wednesday. New president – Barb Fulton (was 
previously the secretary). New secretary Julie Riley. Helen Masen 
stepped down.  
Event at the end of September – Loving Vincent film, at the 
Wedge.  

 Simon Gregg, 
in absence of 
George 
Thomas  

 

2.3 Chair’s Report General discussion around how the Gallery could have a greater 
involvement in the cultural landscape.  
Ideas discussed included Creative Recovery Network, talk to 
Meeniyan Art Gallery, who are developing vision and strategic 
plan, short-term work with Regional Arts Victoria, developing a PD 
day for artists and creatives in East Gippsland.  
New gallery increasing buzz and general art scene. Even if you’re 
not showing here, the point is that there is a cultural scene here 
and people are drawn here. 

Bruce Arnup queried whether there could be coordinating hub to 
provide information about other galleries. To communicate and 
cross-pollinate to the smaller galleries. 

Scott Rossetti raised the possibility of having a Google Docs page 
accessible at reception with a ‘what’s on’ around the region. 
Deb discussed that each shire has a different ‘personality’, 
focuses vary.  
Simon proposed hosting an expo for galleries across the region, 
as an opportunity to come and find out about culture in Gippsland.   

 Deb Milligan Simon 
Gregg to 
consider 
options 

and ideas 
raised 
and 

report 
back at 

next 
meeting 

3. GENERAL BUSINESS 
3.1 Acquisition Report The Director presented God Only Knows by Kevin Mortensen, for 

purchase at a cost of $12,000. Will apply for funding through 
Robert Salzer Foundation to cover 50% of purchase price. 
 

 Accepted by 
all in 
attendance 
except Scott 
Rossetti, who 
abstained 

Simon 
Gregg to 

action 
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3.2 • Acquisition 
 Report 

Retired farming couple at Boisdale (anon.), who want to assist 
gallery is building textile art collection. $10,000 seed funding to 
acquire textile art, with a focus on Gippsland artists, but not 
limited to.  

 Simon Gregg  

3.3 • Acquisition 
 Report  

Donations and Gifts 
List of ceramics attached, which have been donated recently. 
Including Gippsland artists, and increasing the status of our 
collection. Early next year another collection from Sydney should 
also be coming. 15 pieces from Charles Nodrum. Plus others as 
listed.  

 Simon Gregg  

4. OTHER BUSINESS 
5. NEXT MEETING:  Monday 3 December 2018. 
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ITEM C5.2 COMMUNITY ASSISTANCE GRANTS – EVENTS, PROJECTS AND 
FACILITIES - AUGUST 2018  

DIVISION: COMMUNITY AND CULTURE 
ACTION OFFICER: MANAGER COMMUNITY WELLBEING 
DATE: 16 OCTOBER 2018 
 

IMPACTS 
Financial Communication Legislative Council 

Policy 
Council 

Plan 
Resources 

& Staff 
Community Environmental Engagement Risk 

Management 

  ✓ ✓ ✓      
 
 
OBJECTIVE 
 
For Council to approve the recommendations to allocate Community Assistance Grants – Events, 
Projects and Facilities August 2018 funds as detailed in Attachment A and that applicants be 
notified of the outcome of their applications.  
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Council approve the recommendations to allocate Community Assistance Grants – 
Events, Projects and Facilities August 2018 funds as detailed in Attachment A and that 
applicants be notified of the outcome of their applications.  
 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Community Assistance Grants Scheme encourages the development of initiatives in the 
community in line with Council’s vision, Wellington 2030, and the Council Plan. It aims to build on 
community capacity, encourage participation in cultural development and support community 
initiatives that promote participation. 
 
Not for profit community groups operating in the Wellington Shire can apply for a Community 
Assistance Grant of over $2,000 to $5,000. There are three funding categories in the August round 
(Events, Projects and Facilities).  
 
Applications received that successfully meet the criteria are eligible to be prioritised for funding. 
 
Each year there are two funding rounds for Projects and Events and one funding round for 
Facilities. 
 
The following applications were received for the March 2018 funding round (Attachment B): 
 
• 20 Event applications received totalling $94,721.10 
• 8 Project applications received totalling $35,579.00 
• 11 Facility applications received totalling $52,613.00 
 
Applications are assessed by the Community Assistance Grants Panel (Panel), which is comprised 
of staff at a management and coordinator level. The applications are initially assessed against the 
guidelines and then prioritised using the assessment criteria.  
 

Agenda - Ordinary Meeting 16 October 2018 293

http://www.wellington.vic.gov.au/Your-Council/Publications/Wellington-2030
http://www.wellington.vic.gov.au/Your-Council/Publications/Council-Plan


Each application is assessed on its benefit to the community, ability to fulfil a community need, 
project planning and the capacity of the applicant to deliver the project. The Panel provides advice 
and recommendations to Council based on the assessment criteria and funding guidelines. 
 
 
OPTIONS 
 
Council has the following options: 
 
1. Adopt the recommendations to allocate Community Assistance Grants – Events, Projects 

and Facilities August 2018 funds as detailed in Attachment A and that applicants be notified 
of the outcome of their applications; or 

2. Seek further information for consideration at a future meeting of Council.  
 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
That Council adopt the recommendations to allocate Community Assistance Grants – Events, 
Projects and Facilities August 2018 funds as detailed in Attachment A and that applicants be 
notified of the outcome of their applications.  
 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
No staff and/or contractors involved in the compilation of this report have declared a Conflict of 
Interest. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
 
Funding will be through the Community Assistance Grant Scheme within the Community Wellbeing 
budget.  The total available budget for the 2017/18 Community Assistance Grant and Quick 
Response Scheme is $345,000.   
 
The following applications are recommended for the August 2018 funding round (Attachment A): 
• 20 Event applications received totalling $94,721.10 
• 6 Project applications received totalling $24,770.00 
• 11 Facility applications received totalling $52,613.00 

 
 
COMMUNICATION IMPACT 
 
The funding of these events and projects will facilitate positive community relationships for the 
Wellington Shire, highlighting Council’s commitment to supporting not for profit community 
organisations in the delivery of their activities, projects and events that benefit the wider 
community. 
 
 
COUNCIL POLICY IMPACT 
 
This process is in accordance with Council’s Community Assistance Grants Program no. 5.1.5. 
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COUNCIL PLAN IMPACT 
 
The Council Plan 2017-21 Theme 1 Communities states the following strategic objective and 
related strategy: 
 
 Strategic Objective 1.2 
 Celebrate, recognise and acknowledge our diverse community and improve social 

connections among youth, aboriginal and aged communities. 
 
Strategy 1.2.1 
Ensure that Council services, facilities and events promote inclusivity, social connectedness 
and accessibility. 
 

  
COMMUNITY IMPACT 
 
The funding of these events and projects will have a significant positive impact on the community, 
providing assistance to increase the range of events and activities that the wider Wellington 
community can access, and be a part of.  Successful applicants have demonstrated a community 
need that will be filled through receiving the funding and show a community benefit through project 
outcomes. 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
 
All events and projects are encouraged to consider the environmental impacts that will be produced 
through delivering their grant outcomes and have appropriate measures in place to manage them.  
 
 
ENGAGEMENT IMPACT 
 
Council officers were involved in consultation with grant applicants to provide advice and 
assistance in the completion of event grant applications.  
 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPACT 
 
The events industry is strongly legislated, and all events are encouraged to comply with current 
OHS and best practice safety standards. It is the responsibility of the applicants to ensure that their 
project complies with all current rules and regulations.  
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RECOMMENDED APPLICATIONS FOR CAG AUGUST 2018 FUNDING ROUND – EVENTS           ATTACHMENT A 
 
 Organisation  Title Project Description Amount  
1 Loch Sport Community House Loch Sport New Year's Fireworks A free event offering two fire-works displays at 9.30pm 

and midnight on the banks of Lake Victoria, Loch Sport. 
$5,000 

2 Heyfield and District Vintage 
Machinery Group 

Heyfield Vintage Machinery Rally Annual rally to promote Preserving Australian Heritage. $5,000 

3 Port Albert Progress 
Association 

Let's Celebrate Australia! 
 

A free family fun event celebrating the Australian heritage, 
culture and history. 

$5,000 

4 Sale Baptist Church FREE Community Fun Day A free family fun day with activities, rides and 
refreshments.  

$5,000 

5 City of Sale Eisteddfod 
Society 

City of Sale Eisteddfod 72nd year The Eisteddfod provides the opportunity for performers of 
all ages to perform on stage to showcase their talents in 
the arts. 

$5,000 

6 Sale Polocrosse Club Sale Polocrosse Carnival 2019 Annual Polocrosse tournament attracting many 
participants from all over Victoria and interstate to 
compete.  

$5,000 

7 Yarram Agricultural Society 
Inc 

Yarram Agricultural Show A local and iconic community event that showcases local 
talent.  2018 show theme “Youth in Agriculture”. 

$5,000 

8 Woodside & District Football 
Netball Club 

Woodside & District Football 
Netball Club Annual Family Fun 
Day & Show’n’Shine Car Show 

Annual Family Fun Day & Show’n Shine Car Show, with 
activities on the day including zorb balls, mechanical bull, 
kids art and craft, Football and Netball practice matches 
will be held on the day. 

$3,500 

9 Tarra Festival Committee Inc 2019 Tarra Festival 47th year of Yarram’s iconic Easter Festival, with activities  $5,000 
10 Golden Beach Golf Club Inc Golden Beach Golf Club New 

Year's Eve Fireworks Display 
A community firework display on New Year’s Eve 
commencing at 5pm with the fireworks at 9pm providing 
an early night for attendees. 

$5,000 

11 Maffra Neighbourhood House  Christmas Movie in the Park A family evening of free entertainment at Victoria Park, 
Maffra featuring a sausage sizzle, fundraising and 
community information stalls followed by a movie in the 
park at dusk. 

$4,000 

12 Wines of East Gippsland Tinamba Food and Wine Festival An established favourite on the region's event calendar, 
Tinamba Food and Wine Festival offers the best local 
wines, cuisine, produce and musicians. 

$5,000 

13 Coongulla Reserves COM Inc Community NYE in the Park Community NYE in the park is a family friendly community 
event to celebrate the end of the year with family, friends 
and the wider community. 

$2,500 
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14 Sale Swimming Club Gippsland Swimming 
Championships 2019 

The championships will bring all swimming clubs from 
Gippsland and beyond for three days of competition. Over 
150 events will be held for under 9’s to over 35’s and 
including a classification events for swimmers with a 
disability. 

$5,000 

15 Sale Lions Club Inc Kids Day 2019 A community family fun day to raise money for the Good 
Friday Appeal 

$4,921.10 

16 Stratford on Avon 
Shakespeare Association 

Shakespeare on the River 
Festival 2019 

An annual celebration of all things Shakespeare, 
encompassing theatre, arts and community. 

$5,000 

17 Sale & District Touch 
Association 
 

20th year Anniversary Sale Touch 
Knock-out  
 

A two-day event of touch football with over 50 teams 
competing. Participants and referees travelling from all 
over Victoria, Sydney and Tasmania. 

$5,000 

18 Golden Paradise Beach 
Residents & Ratepayers 
Association 
 

End of Summer Surf Festival 
2019 
 

3 days of family fun during the Easter weekend. Activities 
include fishing competition, art exhibition, community 
garage sales and cent night. 

$4,800 

19 Sale Music Festival 
Committee 

The Sale Music Festival: Picnic on 
the Green 2019 

Free family community event in the picturesque Sale 
Botanic Gardens featuring local music and musical 
activities for children. 

$5,000 

20 Sale Amateur Basketball 
Association 

Sale Amateur Basketball 
Association Tournament 2019  

An annual junior and senior basketball tournament for 
representative teams. 

$5,000 

 TOTAL AMOUNT RECOMMENDED $94,721.10 
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RECOMMENDED APPLICATIONS FOR CAG AUGUST 2018 FUNDING ROUND - PROJECTS  
 
 Organisation  Title Project Description Amount  
1 Hockey Victoria 

 
Gippsland Bulls Regional 
Development Program - Sale 
 

A development Program aiming to develop hockey skills of 
local children, coaches and umpires, under the guidance of 
Hockey Victoria High Performance team. 

$5,000 

2 Woodside Playgroup 
 

Playgroup outdoor play space 
revamp 
 

To improve the current space with new equipment, storage, 
seating and mulch to make the space more functional, user 
friendly and safe for children. 

$3,500 

3 Maffra Cricket Club 
 

Scoring Hut-Sun Smart Project 
 

Carport style sheds for shading purpose at Cameron Sporting 
Complex no. 2 & 3 sporting ovals to aid sun smart shading 
during game days. 

$5,000 

4 Upper Maffra Mechanics 
Institute 
 

Improving security and protecting 
our community asset 
 

Recent upgrades to our community hall prompted a safety 
review and this project will further support improved asset 
protection. 

$2,979 

5 Briagolong Community 
House 
 

Film, another piece of the thriving 
art community that is Briagolong 
 

To produce one or more very good short movies to be shown 
at the Briagolong Film Festival 2019 and to make good film 
making equipment available to the wider Briagolong 
community. 

$4,100 

6 Port Albert Maritime 
Museum 
 

Port Albert Maritime Museum 
information for all! 
 

To have 10 key information sheets re-designed and 
professionally printed. 

$4,191* 

 TOTAL AMOUNT RECOMMENDED $24,770 
*Funding reduced 
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RECOMMENDED APPLICATIONS FOR CAG AUGUST 2018 FUNDING ROUND - FACILITIES 
 
 Organisation  Title Project Description Amount  
1 Veronica Maybury 

Memorial Rec Reserve Inc 
 

Upgrade of power, solar, air 
conditioning 
 

To assist in the installation of three phase power to the 
reserve, 6kw solar panels and two reverse cycle air 
conditioners. 

$5,000 

2 East Gippsland Dog 
Obedience Club 
 

Shed/club room extension 
 

The club have outgrown their current facilities.  The proposed 
extension will allow the club to better serve East Gippsland 
Dog Obedience Club members and the dog community. 

$5,000 

3 Woodside & District 
Football Netball Club 
 

Netball and Tennis Club Room 
roof repairs and restoration 
 

To seal and plaster the main roof of the meeting space in the 
current shared netball and tennis club rooms which currently is 
exposed.  

$5,000 

4 Kath Foley Children's 
Centre & Kindergarten 
 

Outdoor space improvement 
 

Upgrade the outdoor play space, includes and shade sail & 
new cubby house. 

$5,000 

5 Gormandale Football 
Netball Club 
 

Improvement of club facilities - 
painting of clubrooms, change 
rooms and upstairs areas 
 

Repainting all internal areas in the facility including change 
rooms, social rooms, upstairs viewing areas and offices. 

$5,000 

6 Rosedale Mens Shed 
 

Rosedale Men's Shed storage 
container 
 

A container for much needed storage space; which would 
create more area for more programs in the Men's Shed. 

$4,465 

7 Sale Fire Brigade 
 

Peter Glover Training Complex 
upgrade 
 

Repairs to the asphalt track. The repairs will allow the Sale 
Fire Brigade to train for firefighting, run the junior program and 
host regional competition. 

$5,000 

8 CWA Sale Branch 
 

Make it tidier, make it safer, make 
it easier 
 

Install custom made, lockable cupboards to store equipment 
for craft making and games for fun days with easy, safe 
access for our members. 

$3,815 

9 Bundalaguah Myrtlebank 
Hall Committee 
 

Bundalaguah Hall Storage Room 
 

The project will address the lack of storage at the Bundy Hall.  
The supper room is currently used for storage of tables and 
chairs rendering it unavailable for hire.  More space is needed 
to host large music events & to supply secure storage for 
valuable music/audio equipment. 

$5,000 

10 Maffra Tennis Club 
 

Asbestos removal from MTLC's 
old swimming hall 
 

To remove asbestos from the old swimming hall at Maffra 
Lawn Tennis Club which will allow for a much larger 
renovation to take place. 

$4,333 
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11 Port Albert Mechanics 
Institute CoM Inc 
 

Port Albert Hall facility 
refurbishment and upgrade works 
 

Upgrading to modernize the building, to invite greater usability, 
addressing OHS issues and ensuring it remains firmly in the 
future landscape. 

$5,000 

 TOTAL AMOUNT RECOMMENDED $52,613.00 
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ALL APPLICATIONS RECEIVED FOR CAG AUGUST 2018 FUNDING ROUND ATTACHMENT B  

 Organisation  Title Project Description Amount  Category 
1 Loch Sport Community 

House 
Loch Sport New Year's 
Fireworks 

A free event offering two fire-works displays at 
9.30pm and midnight on the banks of Lake 
Victoria, Loch Sport. 

$5,000 Event 

2 Heyfield and District 
Vintage Machinery Group 

Heyfield Vintage Machinery 
Rally 

Annual rally to promote Preserving Australian 
Heritage. 

$5,000 Event 

3 Port Albert Progress 
Association 

Let's Celebrate Australia! 
 

A free family fun event celebrating the Australian 
heritage, culture and history. 

$5,000 Event 

4 Sale Baptist Church FREE Community Fun Day A free family fun day with activities, rides and 
refreshments.  

$5,000 Event 

5 City of Sale Eisteddfod 
Society 

City of Sale Eisteddfod 
72nd year 

The Eisteddfod provides the opportunity for 
performers of all ages to perform on stage to 
showcase their talents in the arts. 

$5,000 Event 

6 Sale Polocrosse Club Sale Polocrosse Carnival 
2019 

Annual Polocrosse tournament attracting many 
participants from all over Victoria and interstate to 
compete.  

$5,000 Event 

7 Yarram Agricultural Society 
Inc 

Yarram Agricultural Show A local and iconic community event that 
showcases local talent.  2018 show theme “Youth 
in Agriculture”. 

$5,000 Event 

8 Woodside & District 
Football Netball Club 

Woodside & District 
Football Netball Club 
Annual Family Fun Day & 
Show’n’Shine Car Show 

Annual Family Fun Day & Show’n Shine Car 
Show, with activities on the day including zorb 
balls, mechanical bull, kids art and craft, Football 
and Netball practice matches will be held on the 
day. 

$3,500 Event 

9 Tarra Festival Committee 
Inc 

2019 Tarra Festival 47th year of Yarram’s iconic Easter Festival.  $5,000 Event 

10 Golden Beach Golf Club Inc Golden Beach Golf Club 
New Year's Eve Fireworks 
Display 

A community fireworks display on New Year’s 
Eve commencing at 5pm with the fireworks at 
9pm providing an early night for attendees. 

$5,000 Event 

11 Maffra Neighbourhood 
House  

Christmas Movie in the 
Park 

A family evening of free entertainment at Victoria 
Park, Maffra featuring a sausage sizzle, 
fundraising and community information stalls 
followed by a movie in the park at dusk. 

$4,000 Event 
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 Organisation  Title Project Description Amount  Category 
12 Wines of East Gippsland Tinamba Food and Wine 

Festival 
An established favourite on the region's event 
calendar, Tinamba Food and Wine Festival offers 
the best local wines, cuisine, produce and 
musicians. 

$5,000 Event 

13 Coongulla Reserves COM 
Inc 

Community NYE in the 
Park 

Community NYE in the park is a family friendly 
community event to celebrate the end of the year 
with family, friends and the wider community. 

$2,500 Event 

14 Sale Swimming Club Gippsland Swimming 
Championships 2019 

The championships will bring all swimming clubs 
from Gippsland and beyond for three days of 
competition. Over 150 events will be held for 
under 9’s to over 35’s and including a 
classification events for swimmers with a 
disability. 

$5,000 Event 

15 Sale Lions Club Inc Kids Day2019 A community family fun day to raise money for 
the Good Friday Appeal 

$4,921.10 Event 

16 Stratford on Avon 
Shakespeare Association 

Shakespeare on the River 
Festival 2019 

An annual celebration of all things Shakespeare, 
encompassing theatre, arts and community. 

$5,000 Event 

17 Sale & District Touch 
Association 
 

20th year Anniversary Sale 
Touch Knock-out  
 

A two-day event of touch football with over 50 
teams competing. Participants and referees 
travelling from all over Victoria, Sydney and 
Tasmania. 

$5,000 Event 

18 Golden Paradise Beach 
Residents & Ratepayers 
Association 
 

End of Summer Surf 
Festival 2019 
 

3 days of family fun during the Easter weekend. 
Activities include fishing competition, art 
exhibition, community garage sales and cent 
night. 

$4,800 Event 

19 Sale Music Festival 
Committee 

The Sale Music Festival: 
Picnic on the Green 2019 

Free family community event in the picturesque 
Sale Botanic Gardens featuring local music and 
musical activities for children. 

$5,000 Event 

20 Sale Amateur Basketball 
Association 

Sale Amateur Basketball 
Association Tournament 
2019  

An annual junior and senior basketball 
tournament for representative teams. 

$5,000 Event 

21 Hockey Victoria 
 

Gippsland Bulls Regional 
Development Program - 
Sale 
 

A development Program aiming to develop 
hockey skills of local children, coaches and 
umpires, under the guidance of Hockey Victoria 
High Performance team. 

$5,000 Project 
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 Organisation  Title Project Description Amount  Category 
22 Woodside Playgroup 

 
Playgroup outdoor play 
space revamp 
 

To improve the current space with new 
equipment, storage, seating and mulch to make 
the space more functional, user friendly and safe 
for children. 

$3,500 Project 

23 Maffra Cricket Club 
 

Scoring Hut-Sun Smart 
Project 
 

Carport style sheds for shading purpose at 
Cameron Sporting Complex no. 2 & 3 sporting 
ovals to aid sun smart shading during game days. 

$5,000 Project 

24 Upper Maffra Mechanics 
Institute 
 

Improving security and 
protecting our community 
asset 
 

Recent upgrades to our community hall prompted 
a safety review and this project will further 
support improved asset protection. 

$2,979 Project 

25 Briagolong Community 
House 
 

Film, another piece of the 
thriving art community that 
is Briagolong 
 

To produce one or more very good short movies 
to be shown at the Briagolong Film Festival 2019 
and to make good film making equipment 
available to the wider Briagolong community. 

$4,100 Project 

26 Port Albert Maritime 
Museum 
 

Port Albert Maritime 
Museum information for all! 
 

To have 10 key information sheets re-designed 
and professionally printed. 

$5,000  Project 

27 Chrisy Inc 
 

Chrisy Inc Community 
Consultation/town meetings 
 

To create an ongoing community dialogue on 
health and medical issues in the area, the needs, 
how well existing facilities are meeting those 
needs and pathways forward. 

$5,000 Project 

28 The Big Picture Space Inc 
 

Creating Disruptive Leaders 
 

Creating Disruptive Leaders peer lead pilot aims 
to strengthen and amplify Wellington Youth's 
voice for change through design-thinking and 
visual facilitation. 

$5,000 Project 

29 Veronica Maybury Memorial 
Rec Reserve Inc 
 

Upgrade of power, solar, air 
conditioning 
 

To assist in the installation of three phase power 
to the reserve, 6kw solar panels and two reverse 
cycle air conditioners. 

$5,000 Facility 

30 East Gippsland Dog 
Obedience Club 
 

Shed/club room extension 
 

The club have outgrown their current facilities.  
The proposed extension will allow the club to 
better serve East Gippsland Dog Obedience Club 
members and the dog community. 

$5,000 Facility 

31 Woodside & District 
Football Netball Club 
 

Netball and Tennis Club 
Room roof repairs and 
restoration 

To seal and plaster the main roof of the meeting 
space in the current shared netball and tennis 
club rooms which currently is exposed.  

$5,000 Facility 
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 Organisation  Title Project Description Amount  Category 
 

32 Kath Foley Children's 
Centre & Kindergarten 
 

Outdoor space 
improvement 
 

Upgrade the outdoor play space, includes and 
shade sail & new cubby house. 

$5,000 Facility 

33 Gormandale Football 
Netball Club 
 

Improvement of club 
facilities - painting of 
clubrooms, change rooms 
and upstairs areas 
 

Repainting all internal areas in the facility 
including change rooms, social rooms, upstairs 
viewing areas and offices. 

$5,000 Facility 

34 Rosedale Mens Shed 
 

Rosedale Men's Shed 
storage container 
 

A container for much needed storage space; 
which would create more facilities for more 
programs in the Men's Shed. 

$4,465  Facility 

35 Sale Fire Brigade 
 

Peter Glover Training 
Complex upgrade 
 

Repairs to the asphalt track. The repairs will allow 
the Sale Fire Brigade to train for firefighting, run 
the junior program and host regional competition. 

$5,000 Facility 

36 CWA Sale Branch 
 

Make it tidier, make it safer, 
make it easier 
 

Install custom made, lockable cupboards to store 
equipment for craft making and games for fun 
days with easy, safe access for our members. 

$3,815  Facility 

37 Bundalaguah Myrtlebank 
Hall Committee 
 

Bundalaguah Hall Storage 
Room 
 

The project will address the lack of storage at the 
Bundy Hall.  The supper room is currently used 
for storage of tables and chairs rendering it 
unavailable for hire.  More space is needed to 
host large music events & to supply secure 
storage for valuable music/audio equipment. 

$5,000 Facility 

38 Maffra Tennis Club 
 

Asbestos removal from 
MTLC's old swimming hall 
 

To remove asbestos from the old swimming hall 
at Maffra Lawn Tennis Club which will allow for a 
much larger renovation to take place. 

$4,333 Facility 

39 Port Albert Mechanics 
Institute CoM Inc 
 

Port Albert Hall facility 
refurbishment and upgrade 
works. 

Upgrading to modernize the building, to invite 
greater usability, addressing OHS issues and 
ensuring it remains firmly in the future landscape. 

$5,000 Facility 

TOTAL OF APPLICATIONS RECEIVED $182,913.10  
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ITEM C5.3 BRIAGOLONG RECREATION RESERVE COMMITTEE OF 
MANAGEMENT MINUTES 

DIVISION: COMMUNITY AND CULTURE 
ACTION OFFICER: MANAGER COMMUNITY WELLBEING 
DATE: 16 OCTOBER 2018 
 

IMPACTS 
Financial Communication Legislative Council 

Policy 
Council 

Plan 
Resources 

& Staff 
Community Environmental Engagement Risk 

Management 

  ✓ ✓ ✓      
 
 
OBJECTIVE 
 
For Council to receive the minutes from the Briagolong Recreation Reserve Committee of 
Management’s General Meetings held on 13 August 2018 and 10 September 2018. 
 
 
PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS FROM THE GALLERY 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Briagolong Recreation Reserve Committee of Management is a Special Committee of Council 
under Section 86 of the Local Government Act 1989 and operates within the provisions of a 
Council approved Instrument of Delegation.    
 
The objectives of the Special Committee are: 
 

• To manage, operate and maintain the Briagolong Recreation Reserve for the community in 
an efficient, effective and practical manner. 

• To undertake activities designed to protect, promote, utilise and develop the Briagolong 
Recreation Reserve for the use and enjoyment of the local community in line with Council 
policy and relevant Council strategic documents. 

• To keep the Council informed on the operations, improvements and advancements of the 
Briagolong Recreation Reserve by forwarding copies of all minutes of all ordinary and 
extraordinary meetings and the Annual Report. 

• To set, maintain and collect appropriate user charges. 
• To ensure that the Briagolong Recreation Reserve’s capital assets are adequately 

maintained. 
• To provide advice to Council on matters relating to the Briagolong Recreation Reserve. 

 
As provided under the Committee’s Instrument of Delegation the minutes of all meetings are to be 
presented to Council and highlight the day to day activities being undertaken by the Committee. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council receive the minutes from the Briagolong Recreation Reserve Committee of 
Management’s General Meetings held on 13 August 2018 and 10 September 2018. 
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Conflict of Interest:  It was noted that conflicts of interest were called for at the commencement of 
the Ordinary Meetings, with no conflicts being declared.  Meetings held by the Briagolong 
Recreation Reserve Committee of Management are open to the public. 
 
 
OPTIONS 
 
Council has the following options: 
 

1. Receive the minutes from the Briagolong Recreation Reserve Committee of Management’s 
General Meetings held on 13 August 2018 and 10 September 2018; or  

2. Seek further information to be considered at a future Council Meeting. 
 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
That Council receive the minutes from the Briagolong Recreation Reserve Committee of 
Management’s General Meetings held on 13 August 2018 and 10 September 2018. 
 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
No staff and/or contractors involved in the compilation of this report have declared a Conflict of 
Interest. 
 
 
LEGISLATIVE IMPACT 
 
This report is in accordance with Section 91(4) of the Local Government Act 1989. 
 
 
COUNCIL POLICY IMPACT 
 
This report is in accordance with Council Policy 5.3.2 which establishes a framework for the 
guidance of Council in relation to the roles and responsibilities of Committees. 
 
 
COUNCIL PLAN IMPACT 
 
The Council Plan 2017-21 Theme 2 Services and Infrastructure states the following strategic 
objective and related strategy: 
 

Strategic Objective 2.2 
Council assets are responsibly, socially, economically and sustainably managed. 

 
            Strategy 2.2.2 

Ensure that community facilities within the municipality continue to meet the expectations 
and service needs of all current and future residents. 

 
This report supports the above Council Plan strategic objective and strategy. 
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ITEM C5.4 NEWRY RECREATION RESERVE COMMITTEE OF MANAGEMENT 
MINUTES 

DIVISION: COMMUNITY AND CULTURE 
ACTION OFFICER: MANAGER COMMUNITY WELLBEING 
DATE: 16 OCTOBER 2018 
 

IMPACTS 
Financial Communication Legislative Council 

Policy 
Council 

Plan 
Resources 

& Staff 
Community Environmental Engagement Risk 

Management 

  ✓ ✓ ✓      
 
 
OBJECTIVE 
 
For Council to receive the minutes from the Newry Recreation Reserve Committee of 
Management’s General Meeting held on 27 August 2018. 
 
 
PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS FROM THE GALLERY 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Newry Recreation Reserve Committee of Management is a Special Committee of Council 
under Section 86 of the Local Government Act 1989 and operates within the provisions of a 
Council approved Instrument of Delegation.    
 
The objectives of the Special Committee are: 
 

• To manage, operate and maintain the Newry Recreation Reserve for the community in an 
efficient, effective and practical manner. 

• To undertake activities designed to protect, promote, utilise and develop the Newry 
Recreation Reserve for the use and enjoyment of the local community in line with Council 
policy and relevant Council strategic documents. 

• To keep the Council informed on the operations, improvements and advancements of the 
Newry Recreation Reserve by forwarding copies of all minutes of all ordinary and 
extraordinary meetings and the Annual Report. 

• To set, maintain and collect appropriate user charges. 
• To ensure that the Newry Recreation Reserve’s capital assets are adequately maintained. 
• To provide advice to Council on matters relating to the Newry Recreation Reserve. 

 
As provided under the Committee’s Instrument of Delegation the minutes of all meetings are to be 
presented to Council and highlight the day to day activities being undertaken by the Committee. 
 
Meetings held by the Newry Recreation Reserve Committee of Management are open to the 
public. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council receive the minutes from the Newry Recreation Reserve Committee of 
Management’s General Meeting held on 27 August 2018. 
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OPTIONS 
 
Council has the following options: 
 
1. Receive the minutes from the Newry Recreation Reserve Committee of Management’s General 

Meeting held on 27 August 2018; or  
2. Seek further information to be considered at a future Council Meeting. 

 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
That Council receive the minutes from the Newry Recreation Reserve Committee of Management’s 
General Meeting held on 27 August 2018. 
 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
No staff and/or contractors involved in the compilation of this report have declared a Conflict of 
Interest. 
 
 
LEGISLATIVE IMPACT 
 
This report is in accordance with Section 91(4) of the Local Government Act 1989. 
 
 
COUNCIL POLICY IMPACT 
 
This report is in accordance with Council Policy 5.3.2 which establishes a framework for the 
guidance of Council in relation to the roles and responsibilities of Committees. 
 
 
COUNCIL PLAN IMPACT 
 
The Council Plan 2017-21 Theme 2 Services and Infrastructure states the following strategic 
objective and related strategy: 
 

Strategic Objective 2.2 
Council assets are responsibly, socially, economically and sustainably managed. 

 
            Strategy 2.2.2 

Ensure that community facilities within the municipality continue to meet the expectations 
and service needs of all current and future residents. 

 
This report supports the above Council Plan strategic objective and strategy. 
 
 
  

Agenda - Ordinary Meeting 16 October 2018 318



NEWRY RECREATION RESERVE 

General Meeting Minutes – meeting opened at 7.12pm. 

27/08/2018 

Present: G Smith, C Shingles, B Shingles,  M Cox, M Berryman, K Miriams. 

Apologies:    K Whitehurst, M Hole. 

Moved  M Cox, 2nd C Shingles that apologies be accepted. 

 

 

1. Minutes of Previous Meeting. 

The minutes were presented to be a true and correct record. Moved G Smith, 2nd C Shingles.  

 

2. Treasurers Report. 

Current balance as at 27/08/2018 is $15,269.55. All accounts have been cleared, except Water 

service charges $535.50 and the books have been audited by Phillipson’s accounting at a cost 

of $80.00. Moved that this is a true and correct record, G Smith, 2nd K Miriams. 

 

 

BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE PREVIOUS MINUTES. 

 

Clare to chase up what happened with our fencing quotes and get in touch with Bodye at the 

Shire. 

 

Clare & Michelle to get the Emergency planning done. 

 

Kate reported that the hall should be ready to host the vegetation in our local rivers 

information night by October. More to come on this. 

Moved B Shingles, 2nd C Shingles. 

 

 

General Business. 

 

 

1. Clare & Michelle to get together and check the safety audit folders for the Rec Reserve, 

we now need to contact the shire and organize a date – they don’t contact us anymore. 

Moved C Shingles, 2nd M Cox. 

 

2. Kate gave us an update on the hall – painting has been completed and everything is 

coming along nicely – what a fantastic job the committee has done!! 

 

 

User Group Reports. 

 

Football Club. 

The football club has finished for the year. The ladies netball teams had a very successful 

campaign and the general numbers for netball look good for the future. The under 16’s comp is 

seeing some changes across the league with a lack of numbers bringing the suggestion of 

changing to under 17’s and maybe getting rid of 3rd’s in some of the senior leagues. We’ll have 

to wait and see what this means for little clubs like Nambrok Newry. 

 

 

Motorcycle Club. 

Mark reported a that while there’s not much happening competition wise, the club has applied 

for an LVA grant to upgrade the amenities. The shire has suggested perhaps redefine the 

boundaries with the rec reserve and golf club could be beneficial and maybe a new fence 

installed. The club will be meeting with DWELP and Mark will keep us up to speed with 

developments. The changes to Cameron sporting complex in Maffra will also mean some 

rearranging for their club rooms and maybe even relocation? More to come. 
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Golf Club. 

There has been some talk of new clubrooms – very early days yet and a lot of planning still to 

be done. The club has also sought some funding to repair/improve some of the fairways. 

 

 

Upper Maffra Mechanics Institute. 

Kate reported on the progress of the hall’s works – with $224,744 from the LVA to cover the 

works, which must be completed by 19/05/2019. The acoustics have been installed and the 

difference is apparently amazing. New sound system is in, 2 tanks have been installed and 

fitted with CFA outlets, new heater has been installed in the supper room, new timber work 

installed and painting done in the supper room and everything is moving along well. With 

elections coming up in November Kate would like to have an open day with maybe some stalls 

or representatives from the local clubs to showcase our wonderful little area. Will have another 

meeting beforehand to fine-tune. 

 

 

Fire Brigade. 

No report. 

 

 

COUNCILLOR REPORT. 

No councilor present. 

 

 

NEWRY 8’s. 

No Representative present. 

 

Graeme thanked everyone for their continued support and attendance at our meetings – we 

may be few but we are still going! 

 

 

Meeting Closed: 7.52pm. Next Meeting: To be advised – before elections. 

 

 

 

 
. 
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Meeting declared closed at:     pm 
 
The live streaming of this Council meeting will now come to a close. 
 
 
 

D. URGENT BUSINESS 

E. FURTHER GALLERY AND CHAT ROOM COMMENTS  

Gallery comments are an opportunity for members of the public to raise any particular matter they 
wish. This allows those in the gallery to speak directly to councillors, but is not a forum designed for 
open discussion or debate. We will listen respectfully to what you have to say, and make the 
commitment that the Mayor will respond to you in writing within one week if required, and a copy of 
that response will be circulated to all councillors. 
 
This is not a forum for members of the public to lodge complaints against individuals, including 
councillors and staff, particularly as that individual gets no public right of reply to any matter raised. We 
take complaints seriously, and in line with the guidance from the Victorian Ombudsman and the local 
Government Inspectorate, we request that any specific complaint against an individual be put in 
writing. This way, your concern can be properly dealt with while ensuring fairness to all parties 
concerned. 
 
If you wish to speak, we remind you that this part of the meeting is being recorded and broadcast on 
our website. Council’s official Minutes will record that you have spoken to Council and the subject you 
spoke to Council about, but will not record specific comments. We ask you to state your name in full, 
where you are from, and you have three minutes       
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F. CONFIDENTIAL ATTACHMENT/S 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F. CONFIDENTIAL ATTACHMENT/S 
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G. IN CLOSED SESSION 
 

 
 
COUNCILLOR 
 
That the meeting be closed to the public pursuant to Section 89(2) of the Local Government 
Act 1989 to consider: 
 a) personnel matters 

b) the personal hardship of any resident or ratepayer 
c) industrial matters 
d) contractual matters 

  e) proposed developments 
f) legal advice 

  g) matters affecting the security of Council property 
h)  any other matter which the Council or special committee considers would 

prejudice the Council or any person 
 

IN CLOSED SESSION 
 
COUNCILLOR 
 
 
COUNCILLOR 
That: 
Council move into open session and ratify the decision made in closed session. 
 

G. IN CLOSED SESSION 
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